
 

 

 

Helen Barrington 
Director of Legal and 
Democratic Services 
County Hall 
Matlock 
Derbyshire 
DE4 3AG 
 
Extension 38328 
Direct Dial 01629 538328 
Ask for Ivan Walters 
 

 
PUBLIC 

 
To:  Members of Regulatory - Planning Committee 
 
 
 

Friday, 5 February 2021 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
Please attend a meeting of the Regulatory - Planning Committee to be 
held at 10.00 am on Monday, 15 February 2021  
 
This meeting will be held virtually. As a member of the public you can view 
the virtual meeting via the County Council's website. The website will 
provide details of how to access the meeting, the agenda for which is set 
out below. 
 
Yours faithfully, 

 
Helen Barrington 
Director of Legal and Democratic Services  
 
A G E N D A 
 
PART I - NON-EXEMPT ITEMS  
 
1 (a)   Apologies for Absence  

 
To receive apologies for absence (if any) 
 

1 (b)   Declarations of Interest  
 
To receive declarations of interest (if any) 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
1 (c)   Declarations of Significant Lobbying  

 
To receive declarations of significant lobbying (if any) 
 

1 (d)   Petitions (Pages 1 - 2) 
 
To receive petitions 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 3 - 10) 
 
To confirm the non-exempt minutes of the meeting of the Regulatory – 
Planning Committee held on 11 January 2021 
 

To consider the non-exempt reports of the Director - Economy, Transport and 
Environment on: 
 
3 (a)   Application Under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act for 

Planning Permission for Development at Stanton Recycling Ltd, the Old 
Ironworks, Crompton Road, Ilkeston, Derbyshire, DE7 4BG, without 
Complying with Conditions 7 (Hours of Operation) and 18 (Noise 
Management) to which Planning Permission Number CW8/0819/41 was 
Granted Applicant: Stanton Recycling Ltd  Code No: CW8/0620/23 (Pages 
11 - 42) 
 

3 (b)   Demolition of Ashlea Farm and Related Buildings off Deep Dale Lane and 
the Development of a New All Movement Junction on the A50 and 
Connecting Link Road to Infinity Park Way, with Associated Works 
including: Street Lighting Columns, Footways/Cycleways, Construction of 
Earth Mounds, Flood Compensation Areas, Acoustic Fencing and 
Landscaping at Land between Deep Dale Lane and Infinity Park Way, 
Sinfin, Derby. Applicant: Derbyshire County Council.  Code No: 
CD9/0319/110 (Pages 43 - 114) 
 

3 (c)   Current Enforcement Action (Pages 115 - 118) 
 

3 (d)   Outstanding Application List (Pages 119 - 120) 
 

3 (e)   Current Appeals/Called in Applications (Pages 121 - 122) 
 

3 (f)   Matters Determined by the Executive Director - Economy, Transport and 
Environment under Delegated Powers (Pages 123 - 124) 
 

 



PUBLIC 
Agenda Item No 1 (d) 

 

1 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

15 February 2021 
 

Report of the Director of Legal and Democratic Services 
 

PETITION TO BE RECEIVED 
 
1. Purpose of the Report To receive a petition forwarded to the County 
Council relating to a current planning application. 
 
2. Information and Analysis In compliance with the Council’s Petition 

Scheme the following petition is presented for receipt and investigation by the 
Director for Economy, Transport and Environment as part of the planning 
considerations:-      
                   
                                  
LOCATION/SUBJECT 

 

SIGNATURES LOCAL MEMBERS 

Objections to further planning 
permission being granted to 
extend the operational life of Erin 
Landfill Site (Code no: 
CW2/1020/38. 
 
 

258 Councillor H Elliott 

3. Considerations (to be specified individually where appropriate) In 
preparing this report the relevance of the following factors has been 
considered: financial, legal, prevention of crime and disorder, equality and 
diversity, human resources, environmental, health, property and transport 
considerations. 
 
4. Background Papers Petition held by Democratic Services. 
 
5. OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATIONS (1) that the petition listed above be 
received; and 
 
        (2) that the contents of the petition be considered and referred to by the 
Director – Economy, Transport and Environment when preparing the report for a 
future meeting of this Committee in respect of Application CW2/1020/38. 
 
    

Helen Barrington 
Director of Legal and Democratic Services  

Page 1

Agenda Item 1(d)



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1  

PUBLIC         Agenda Item 2
          

MINUTES of a meeting of the REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE 

via Microsoft Teams on 11 January 2021. 

 
PRESENT 

 

Councillor M Ford (in the Chair) 

 
Councillors J Atkin, D Charles, A Griffiths, L Grooby, R Iliffe, R Mihaly, R A 
Parkinson, P J Smith and B Wright 
  
01/21 MINUTES RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of 
the Committee held on 7 December 2020 be confirmed as a correct record. 
 
02/21  APPLICATION FOR PLANNING PERMISSION TO EXTEND 
THE QUARRY AT DOWLOW QUARRY, BUXTON INTO 10.68 HECTARES 
OF ADJACENT LAND APPLICANT: BREEDON SOUTHERN LTD                                                                               
CODE NO: CM1/1017/5 An application had been received which sought 

permission to extend the winning and working of minerals at Dowlow Quarry 
into a 7.42 hectares field to the south-east of the existing quarry site and to 
create a 2.84 hectares temporary soil storage area to the north of the existing 
site, together with a temporary haul road along the eastern boundary of the 
existing site linking these two extension areas. Following completion of the 
extended mineral extraction, the newly created void would be used to provide 
permanent storage space for a large quantity of unsaleable material currently 
held within the existing quarry site. The application also included new phasing 
and restoration plans for the existing quarry site that accommodated the 
working of the proposed extension. 
 
 The Executive Director had provided a detailed report published with the 
agenda, which included details of the application together with comments 
received from consultees and following publicity, and commentary on planning 
considerations, leading to a recommendation for authorising a grant of 
permission subject to conditions. As detailed in the Directors report:  
 

No objections had been received from consultees. After publicity four 
written submissions had been received from Friends of the Peak District, 
Wheeldon Trees Farm (a holiday cottage complex together with the owners’ 
private residence), Peak and Northern Footpaths Society and S Robinson 
Developments. 

 
  

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



 

2  

 ’Dowlow Quarry produced crushed limestone for use as both aggregates 
and in industrial processes. The Executive Director considered that the 
determination of this application rested on whether the proposed extension 
constituted a strategy that would ensure the ‘best use’ of the mineral reserve 
at Dowlow Quarry.  

 
The operator had stated that it might not be economically viable to 

operate the quarry and extract the remaining permitted reserve if the ‘filter 
cake’ and other legacy quarry waste had to be kept within the quarry void.  It 
had also stated that, if this were to be the outcome, there was a high likelihood 
of the quarry closing prematurely with unworked reserves remaining within the 
void.  As to what extent if at all some other strategy that could be used to deal 
with the problems presented by the filter cake and quarry waste if the extension 
was not permitted, the operator had stated that alternative strategies had been 
considered and that the proposed extension was not in itself a profitable 
exercise, but rather one that would enable the existing reserves to be worked 
profitably.  

 
Having considered the application in detail and having regard to the 

comments of expert consultees, the Director accepted that the proposal as 
presented was the operator’s best option for the long term continuation of 
operations at the quarry. 

 
In the context of Paragraph 203 of the NPPF, he considered it would 

ensure both the best use of and long term viability of a permitted mineral 
reserve. 

 
This conclusion was further supported in relation to the industrial 

minerals in maintaining permitted reserves in order to support investment in 
plant and equipment. It would also meet the policy of Paragraph 205 at part 
(a) in maintaining a landbank outside the PDNP.     

 
The exchange of reserves provision by a Section 106 agreement, that 

would result in no net increase in the mineral reserve at the quarry, as set out 
in the recommendation to the report, had been questioned during the 
consultation process. However, the Executive Director did not consider it an 
unreasonable or unnecessary provision and had no reason to believe that the 
County Council would not be capable of ensuring that the commitment was 
met by the operator.  

 
The other measures proposed for Section 106 Agreement demonstrated 

a willingness by the operator and landowner to enter obligations to enhance 
the local landscape, biodiversity, and public amenity. These measures, subject 
to one reservation, could be considered to offer relevant benefits to the 
community that would provide compensation and mitigation in respect of the 

Page 4



 

3  

impacts the development would generate and accord with DMLP Policy MP2. 
The reservation was that the general funding of community projects, despite 
being a particularly welcome initiative by Breedon to benefit the community in 
general terms, must be disregarded in the determination of the application 
unless it offered any benefit which could be identified as being connected 
sufficiently with the development.  He considered that, in order to comply with 
current legislation and regulations, it would be necessary for the provision to 
be restricted to the close environs of the site such that it would have little 
discernible community benefits and that adequate mitigation is provided by 
other measures set out in the application, recommended conditions, and 
Section 106 agreement. 

 
Breedon had committed to provide a Community and Environment Fund 

for projects in the wider area surrounding the quarry to be administered by an 
independent trust and secured through a Unilateral Undertaking. However, he 
also emphasised that this was not a material consideration in the determination 
of the application.  

 
He  acknowledged that there would be some unavoidable medium term 

impacts on landscape and visual amenity and heritage assets, and also noted 
the concerns in relation to the potential effects of noise, dust and vibration. 
However, he was satisfied that the measures set out in the ES together with 
the requirements of the relevant proposed conditions, would ensure that the 
environmental effects of the development on nearby sensitive receptors would 
not be unacceptable. He was therefore satisfied that the proposed extension 
could be worked in an environmentally acceptable manner, subject to full 
adherence to the requirements detailed in the report.  

 
He was mindful of the great weight that must be afforded to the impacts 

on the setting of heritage and landscape assets, and was also equally mindful 
of the great weight that must be given to the benefits of mineral extraction. In 
balancing these significant policy requirements, he had considered the 
ongoing and proposed further mitigation of the effects of the development, 
including the limited eight year timescale and the complete restoration of the 
extension area. In doing so, he concluded that the adverse effects of the 
development would be acceptable, would comply with the requirements of the 
saved policies of the DDMLP and the HPLP, and therefore that the proposal 
represented a sustainable form of development that would support sustainable 
economic growth in accordance with the requirements of the NPPF. 

 
He did not consider there would be any other material considerations 

that would be likely to outweigh the policy considerations, and it was 
recommended for approval subject to the conditions and Section 106 
obligations set out in the report. 
  

Page 5



 

4  

A Principal Planning Officer, on behalf of the Head of Planning Services, 
presented a series of electronic slide images which included photographic 
views of the site and surrounding area. 
 
 Two written statements of up to 500 words had been duly received; from 
the applicant in support of their application, and the Peak and Northern 
Footpaths Society who had made representations in relation to the application. 
Each of the statements was read out in full by officers.   
 
 Certain points mentioned in the statements were then responded to by 
the Officer. 
 
 Councillor Smith welcomed the openness and transparency in the way 
in which the applicant had dealt with this application and their engagement 
with the local community. He did however raise the question of whether the 
timescale for the completion of the extension, including restoration from 16 to 
8 years was realistic and also issues surrounding the remaining water body 
and what the potential noise levels were  
 
 The Principal Planner confirmed that following dialogue with the 
applicants that they were confident that the timescales would be met and that 
this had been included with the conditions of any agreement. 
 
 The water body related to a permission in the old quarry which had been 
developed as far as it could go and as it had hit the water table it had almost 
come to an end. It was long established and permitted 
 
 The noise levels had been monitored at the existing quarry for many 
years and analysis had now been undertaken on the new proposal and had 
been found to be very low. The conditions of any permission included the 
requirement a noise scheme. 
 
 Councillor Grooby, who was the local member for the area expressed 
her support to the application and commented on the continuing good work the 
applicants carried out within the community    
 
 Councillor Mihaly asked for clarification on the submitted Landscape 
Visual Impact Assessments in relation to the timescale and magnitude of 
impacts.  
 
 The Principal Planner confirmed that in relation to the LVIA’s, the 
authority had had taken the advice of Landscape Architects from both DCC 
and the PDNPA and whist they considered the magnitude of impacts to be 
greater than that assessed by the applicant, the revised timescale led them to 
conclude that the impacts were acceptable. 

Page 6



 

5  

 
 RESOLVED that planning permission be granted subject to:-  
  
 (1) An agreement first being entered into by the appropriate parties under 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure planning 
obligations considered by the Director – Economy, Transport and Environment and 
the Director of Legal Services and Democratic Services, to make satisfactory 
provision for the: 

 

 Part funding and enablement of undergrounding of electricity cables 
in the vicinity of the site. 

 Implementation, in consultation with the Council, of a biodiversity 
and habitat management plan for non-operational land in control of 
the applicant. 

 Implementation, in consultation with the Council, of a further five 
year period of landscape and habitat management following the five 
year aftercare upon completion of the restoration of the quarry. 

 Provision of a permissive cycle track as soon as possible following 
commencement of the development between the High Peak Trail 
and the village of Sterndale Moor, for use by the public until 10 years 
after completion of the restoration of the site. 

 Implementation of a ‘Reserves Exchange’ where a tonnage from the 
existing reserve equivalent to that expected to be won from the 
south eastern extension will not be extracted in order to ensure no 
net increase in reserves at the quarry ; and 

 
 (2) the conditions based on or substantively similar to draft conditions 
listed in the Executive Director’s report.  
 
03/21  ERECTION OF ONE FLUE GAS STACK OF 20 METRES (M) IN 
HEIGHT X 1.76M DIAMETER AND TWO POWDER SILOS OF 17M IN HEIGHT X 
4.2M DIAMETER, CROMPTON ROAD, QUARRY HILL INDUSTRIAL ESTATE, 
ILKESTON APPLICANT: CASTLE WASTE SERVICES LIMITED/CASTLE 

ENVIRONMENTAL LIMITED  CODE NO: CW8/0720/26  An application had been 
received which sought for the erection of structural items of plant at a facility 
for the management of specialist waste which was operated by the applicant, 
Castle Waste Services Limited. The items proposed comprised 1. a flue gas 
stack extending to 20m in height x 1.76m diameter, to enable aqueous 
hazardous waste treatment at the site to include a new process for thermal 
oxidation of up to 30,000 tonnes per year of waste that would be composed of 
a new stream of acidic flammable waste (up to 6,000 tonnes per year only) 
and other types of waste currently capable of being processed by other means 
at the site and two powder storage silos extending to 17m in height x 4.2m 
diameter; proposed in connection with an existing process. 
  
 The Executive Director had provided a detailed report published with the 

Page 7



 

6  

agenda, which included details of the application together with comments 
received from consultees and following publicity, and commentary on planning 
considerations, leading to a recommendation for authorising a grant of 
permission subject to conditions. As detailed in the Directors report: 
 
 Following consultation one objection was received from Trowell Parish 
Council, details of which were given in the report. After publicity one written 
objection had also been received from Councillor Pringle (Broxtowe Borough 
Council) who was the Councillor for Awsworth Cossall and Trowell). The 
concerns raised were the same as those identified by Trowell PC, and detailed 
in the report.  
 

The Executive Director had concluded that the site was not within a 
sensitive locality with regard to landscape, heritage, or ecological 
designations. No objections to the planning application have been received 
from statutory consultees. 

 
Operations at the site were controlled through an Environmental Permit 

and an application for a revised permit, to include the new process and plant 
proposed, was currently with the EA. Whilst the concerns had been expressed 
in respect of the perceived potential for noise dust and odour impacts, 
including noise from traffic, to affect receptors in Trowell, the Director was am 
satisfied that any such  impacts that would occur as a result of the plant 
proposed would be very limited in magnitude and significance. Since the site 
was also subject to effective controls through the environmental permitting 
regime, duplication in such controls through planning conditions or obligations 
is to be avoided and would be contrary to paragraph 183 and paragraphs 55-
56 of the NPPF. 

 
The application was considered to be in accordance with the 

development plan and national planning guidance and was recommended for 
approval subject to the conditions listed in the report. 

 
A Principal Planning Officer, on behalf of the Head of Planning Services, 

presented a series of electronic slide images which included photographic 
views of the site including an aerial view.  
 
 A written statement of up to 500 words had been duly received from the 
applicant in support of the application and was read out in full by officers.   
 
 Certain points mentioned in the statement were then responded to by 
the Officer 
 
 Councillor Smith highlighted the statement from the applicants and their 
continued commitment to work with Trowell Parish Council. He mentioned also 

Page 8



 

7  

that he would have preferred to not to have to consider the planning application 
in advance of the granting of a new environmental permit by the Environment 
Agency.  
 
 The Officer confirmed that the two processes were completely separate 
but that the operator was obliged to obtain the environmental permit and would 
not be able to operate without this approval from the Environment Agency. 
 
 Councillor Mihaly questioned what types of waste were being dealt with 
and how they were transported to the site.  
 
 The Officer commented that there was a mixture of waste that was 
transported in sealed containers, and were the subject of rigorous tests.   
 
 RESOLVED that planning permission be granted subject to the 
conditions based on or substantively similar to draft conditions listed in the 
Executive Director’s report  
 

04/21  CURRENT ENFORCEMENT ACTION RESOLVED (1) to receive 

the report on current enforcement action; and 
 
 (2) that an update report be provided on the current situation at the Lindrick, 
Mansfield Road, Corbriggs (formerly MXG) site. 
 

05/21  OUTSTANDING APPLICATION LIST RESOLVED to receive the 
list on decisions outstanding on 17 December 2020 relating to EIA applications 
outstanding for more than sixteen weeks, major applications outstanding for 
more than thirteen weeks and minor applications outstanding for more than 
eight weeks. 
 

06/21  CURRENT APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 
RESOLVED to note that the following appeal has been lodged with the 
Planning Inspectorate:  
 
Appeal Reference APP/U1050/C/20/3257919  
Land at Lady Lea Road, Horsley, Ilkeston  
Appeal against Enforcement Notice Issues on 16 July 2020  
Appeal Start Date – 8 September 2020 
 
07/21  MATTERS     DETERMINED     BY     THE     EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR   ECONOMY,   TRANSPORT   AND   ENVIRONMENT    UNDER 
DELEGATED POWERS   RESOLVED to note that the following applications 

had been approved by the Executive Director Economy, Transport and 
Environment under delegated powers on: 
 

Page 9



 

8  

Date Reports 

03/12/2020 Applicant: Derbyshire County Council 
Planning Application Code No: CD6/0820/29 

Renew Slate Pitched Roof to Rear of School and Rain Water 
Goods, Reduce Height of Chimney Stack to Rear Elevation at 
Crich C of E Infant School, Bowns Hill, Crich, Matlock DE4 5DG 

03/12/2020 Delegation Decisions on Schemes Required by Planning 
Conditions: 
CW4/0620/21 Corbriggs Industrial Estate: 
SW3498: Site Liaison Committee 
CM5/1119/57 Whitwell Quarry 
SM3494: Updated Site Layout Plans. 
SM3495: Location of Existing Stockpiles. 
SM3496: Traffic Routing Scheme. 

11/12/2020 Applicant: Derbyshire County Council 
Planning Application Code No: CD8/0920/33 

Section 73 Application to Not Comply with Conditions (various) of 
Planning Permission CD8/0719/29 to Amend Wording of 
Relevant Conditions to Enable Delivery of Two Phases at the 
Former Ormiston Academy and Playing Fields, Bennerley 
Avenue, Cotmanhay, Ilkeston 

21/12/2020 Applicant: HW Martin Waste Ltd 
Planning Application Code No: CW5/0820/30 
Single Storey Portal Frame Extension to Existing Framed Waste 
Recycling Hall, HW Martin Recycling Centre, Clover Nook Road, 
Somercotes 

21/12/2020 Applicant: Russell Barker, Red Materials Ltd 
Planning Application Code No: NMA/1220/73 

Proposed Non-Material Amendment to Amend the Location of the 
Site Compound for a Temporary Period During Phased 
Reprofiling and Restoration of Site and to Retain a Vehicle 
Access Point, Former Oxcroft Colliery Tip, Mill Lane, Stanfree 

21/12/2020 Applicant: Longcliffe Quarries Limited 
Submission No: PD17/3/79 

Installation of Four Additional Silos and Extension to the Pyro 
Plant Building at Brassington Moor Quarry, Longcliffe, 
Brassington, Matlock 

21/12/2020 Delegation Decisions on Schemes Required by Planning 
Conditions: 
CD3/1219/65 Highfields School 

SD3489: Tree Protection 
SD3490: Removal and Management of Rhododendron and 
Cotoneaster 
CW9/1028/63 Willshee’s Skip Hire 

SW3269: Flood Plain/Ground Raising Compensation Scheme 

 
 

Page 10



Public 

RP10 2021.docx 1 
15 February 2021 

Agenda Item No. 3.1 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE 

15 February 2021 

Report of the Director – Economy, Transport and Environment 

1 APPLICATION UNDER SECTION 73 OF THE TOWN AND COUNTRY 
PLANNING ACT FOR PLANNING PERMISSION FOR 
DEVELOPMENT AT STANTON RECYCLING LTD, THE OLD 
IRONWORKS,  CROMPTON ROAD, ILKESTON, DERBYSHIRE, DE7 
4BG, WITHOUT  COMPLYING WITH CONDITIONS 7 (HOURS OF 
OPERATION) AND 18 (NOISE MANAGEMENT) SUBJECTTO WHICH 
PLANNING PERMISSION  CW8/0819/41 WAS GRANTED 
APPLICANT: STANTON RECYCLING LTD 
CODE NO: CW8/0620/23 

8.9001.17 

Introductory Summary    The applicant by this application seeks a new 
planning permission to authorise the development comprising the ongoing 
waste use of this site that is currently authorised under a planning permission 
granted in 2017 (code no.CW8/0819/41) but without compliance with two 
conditions to which the 2017 permission is subject. These conditions 
areconditions 7 (hours of operation) and 18 (noise management). The 
applicant also proposes ‘substitute’ conditions to which a grant of such a new 
permission might be subject, in respect of hours and noise, so as allow for the 
acceptance and processing of waste at this waste recycling site (within the 
buildings and outside, in the open yard) between the hours of 0400 hours to 
2300 hours Monday to Friday inclusive and 0400 hours to 1900 hours 
Saturday, Sunday and Bank Holidays.  The proposed substitute for Condition 
7 also lacks the requirement in that current condition to keep the shutter doors 
to the processing building closed during working hours. The application is 
accompanied by a revised version of the noise assessment and noise 
management plan that has been submitted and approved as required by 
Condition 18 to the current, 2017 permission. The proposed substitute for 
Condition 18 takes account the revised version of the noise management plan 
which reflects the relaxation in working hours restrictions being sought by the 
applicant.  

The site is situated in Ilkeston off Crompton Road on the Hallam Fields 
Industrial Estate, which is part of a larger industrial complex that comprises 
Quarry Hill and Hallam Fields industrial estates. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3(a)



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    2 
15 February 2021 

Local residents have raised concerns relating to ongoing disturbance and 
potential additional disturbance that might be associated with the proposed 
extended operating hours. These include the cumulative impacts, from the 
operation of the site itself in combination with the operation of the remainder 
of the active industrial estate sites, in respect of: 

 
• noise from goods vehicles;  
• traffic congestion and its impacts on air quality, health and the condition 

of the highway;  
• vermin and odour impacting on quality of life;  
• pollution from and noise from the biomass boiler;  
• the potential impacts on the viability of the Stanton Regeneration site 

proposals; and  
• the safety and amenity of users of the Nutbrook Trail. 

 
The proposed Condition 7 substitute, to which a new permission granted in 
respect of the application would be subject would allow increased hours 
during which wastes could be received at and removed from the site, while 
also allowing waste processing operations with the shutter doors open.  These 
proposed changes have the potential to introduce additional disturbance, 
particularly during what are considered to be anti-social hours; early in the 
morning and late at night. This is potentially contrary to the National Planning 
Policy for Waste (2014) Section 4, and Policy W10 of the Derby and 
Derbyshire Waste Local Plan (2005) in relation to the cumulative impact of 
these operations with those of other existing and proposed waste disposal 
facilities on the well-being of the local community.  The applicant has stated 
that there is a requirement for up to ten refuse collection vehicles to depart 
from the site during these anti-social hours, between 0400 and 0600 daily to 
enable their collection rounds to commence.  
 
The amended noise management plan identifies the most significant sources 
of noise arising from the operations and sets out how these noise sources will 
be managed to limit their potential impact on nearby receptors.   
 
I am satisfied that, with the recommended planning conditions that would: 
 
• limit vehicle movements during the anti-social hours to only those 

necessary to take place during those hours for the operation of the refuse 
collection service,  

• limit the hours during which the shutter doors can remain open; and  
• control the use of waste shredding equipment,  

 
then local amenity can be maintained at an acceptable level.  
 

Page 12



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    3 
15 February 2021 

Subject to the recommended conditions, I am satisfied that the proposal would 
accord with the development plan and it is therefore recommended for 
approval.  
 
(1) Purpose of Report To enable the Committee to determine the 
application. 
 
(2) Information and Analysis 
 
Site and Surroundings 
The application site is owned and operated by Stanton Recycling Ltd as a 
waste recycling facility, covers approximately 2.05 hectares (ha), and is 
situated at the eastern end of the established Quarry Hill/Hallam Fields 
Industrial Estates which are on the southern outskirts of Ilkeston. The 
Industrial Estates are accessible from the west primarily via the A6096 and 
Sowbrook Lane/Ilkeston Road and from the east via Trowell, the A609 and 
Low’s Lane/Ilkeston Road. Quarry Hill/Hallam Fields Industrial Estates 
includes a number of varied industrial and business uses, among them 
several waste recycling operations. 
 
Immediately north and adjacent to the application site, Donald Ward Recycling 
Ltd operates a waste processing plant. Donald Ward Recycling also operates 
another site on Griffon Road within the industrial Estate. Further neighbouring 
waste operations include Johnsons Aggregates and Recycling, Trust Utilities 
and Castle Environmental. 
 
The area of residential properties nearest to the site is in Trowell, 450 metres 
(m) to the north-east. The next nearest is off Hallam Fields Road, Ilkeston 
approximately 530m to the north-west. A little under 800m away are 
residential properties on Iona Drive in Stapleford and Kingston 
Avenue/Hexham Avenue, Ilkeston.  
 
To the east of the industrial estates and 1.4 kilometres (km) from the site is 
‘Elka’s Rise’, a significant residential development of 348 dwellings currently 
under construction to the west of Quarry Hill Road. This development site is 
opposite the main entrance to Quarry Hill/Hallam Fileds Industrial Estates 
 
The village of Stanton-by-Dale is approximately 2km to the south-west and 
700m to the east, separated by the River Erewash, the Erewash Canal, a 
waste water treatment works and the Nottingham-Loughborough main railway 
line, the settlement of Trowell and beyond that, the M1 Motorway. Within 1km 
to the south-east and beyond the M1 Motorway are the towns of Stapleford 
and Sandiacre. 
 
The site is at its nearest point approximately 160m south of the Grade II listed 
Hallam Fields Bridge and Canal Lock on the Erewash Canal. The tower of St 

Page 13



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    4 
15 February 2021 

Bartholomew’s Church is also Grade II listed and lies 490m to the north-west 
of the site.  
 
Quarry Hill Lagoons wildlife site (ER201) is adjacent to Crompton Road, the 
main access route to and from the site, and is within 300m of the site 
entrance. Quarry Hill Lagoons forms part of a larger complex of wildlife sites 
along the corridor of the Nutbrook Canal, Nutbrook Trail and railway line.  
 
There are no public rights of way within the site, although there are a number 
close by. One public footpath (Ilkeston E6/79/1) is approximately 300m north 
of a site entrance off Crompton Road. This public footpath runs along Hallam 
Fields Road and connects to three others (including the Erewash Canal 
Towpath) which meet immediately to the east of Hallam Fields Bridge 
(Ilkeston E6/78/2, Ilkeston E6/81/6 and Ilkeston E6/81/7). In addition, the 
Nutbrook Trail multi-user route (National Cycle Network Route No. 67) runs 
along the southern boundary adjacent to the site’s existing vehicular access. 
The Nutbrook Trail forms part of the County’s key cycle network.  
The application site is located north of the proposed Stanton Regeneration 
Site which has a long industrial heritage dating back 250 years. The Stanton 
Regeneration Site, which is set out in the Erewash Core Strategy, is proposed 
to form a new sustainable neighbourhood consisting of 2,000 homes, 10ha 
Business Park, general industry, employment land and a 20ha wildlife/ 
recreation corridor.  
 
The applicant company is an established local waste operator which currently 
collects and receives green wastes, kerbside collections and other, inert 
wastes, predominantly from the Erewash area.  The site is not prominent in 
the landscape nor is it overlooked. It has an acceptable vehicular access off 
Crompton Road and is not included within a Neighbourhood Plan Area.  
 
Planning History 
In October 2004, conditional planning permission CW8/0704/70 was granted 
for the use of the site to change from builders merchants/warehousing and 
yard to a waste transfer station. The following permissions have subsequently 
been granted in respect of the site: 
 
• Planning permission CW8/0107/164 (July 2007) for “Proposed 

construction and use of an inert waste material screening and green waste 
composting plant”. 

• Planning permission CW8/0308/259 (May 2008) for “Proposed alteration 
and extension to an existing building housing a waste transfer station”. 

• Planning permission CW8/0813/81 (November 2013) for “Proposed 
construction of an additional building to house a waste recycling facility”. 

• Planning permission CW8/0315/148 and CW8/0315/149 (both July 2015) 
for extensions to the previously approved hours of operation and the 
proposed increase in height of waste stockpiles at the site. 

Page 14



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    5 
15 February 2021 

• Planning permission CW8/0915/90 (February 2016) for “Proposed 
replacement of an existing building to house waste recycling facilities”. 

• Planning permission CW8/0817/38 (16 November 2017) for “Installation of 
an Anaerobic Digester and Associated Plant, buildings and Machinery”. 

• Planning permission CW8/0818/29 (January 2018) “not to comply with 
Condition 18 (hours of operation CW80315/148) to allow extended 
opening hours to facilitate operations beyond a three year restriction”. 

• Planning permission CW8/0819/41 (January 2020) for “the consolidation of 
existing permissions including various incremental changes to 
infrastructure including a canopy and biomass boiler”.  

 
The Proposal 
The applicant proposes by the application that a new planning permission for 
the ongoing waste related use development of the site (as is now authorised 
by the consolidating planning permission CW8/0819/41, of 2017) be granted 
subject to conditions that would allow some relaxations of the restrictions in 
hours of operation that are currently prescribed under Condition 7 to the 
consolidating planning permission CW8/0819/41. This current condition is as 
follows: 
 
“Activities under the operation of this permission shall take place during the 
following periods: 
 
i) Site open for the receipt and removal of wastes during the following 

hours: 
 Monday – Friday 0800 hours – 1800 hours 
 Saturday 0800 hours – 1300 hours 
 Sunday/pubic or Bank Holidays Closed 
 
ii) Working within the waste buildings during the following hours: 
 Monday – Friday 0400 hours – 2300 hours 
 Saturday 0400 hours – 1900 hours 
 Sunday/public or Bank Holiday 0400 hours – 1900 hours 
 
iii) Roller shutter doors to the buildings to remain closed during the hours of: 
 Monday – Friday 0400 hours – 0800 hours and 1900 hours – 2300 hours  
 Saturdays, Sundays and Bank holidays 0400 hours – 0800 hours, except 

in an emergency. 
 
iv) Biomass boiler operating hours: 
 Monday – Friday 0000 hours – 2400 hours 
 Saturday 0000 hours – 2400 hours 
 Sundays/Bank Holidays 0000 hours – 2400 hours 
 
v) During the construction phase of the canopy and extension of the 

boundary wall all earthmoving and engineering work on the development, 

Page 15



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    6 
15 February 2021 

including the movement and installation of plant/machinery, shall be 
carried out between the hours of 0700 hours to 1830 hours Monday to 
Fridays and between 0830 hours to 1300 hours on Saturdays. Work shall 
not be carried out on Sundays and public or Bank Holidays.” 

 
This condition was imposed to minimise the impact of the development on the 
amenity of the area. 
 
The applicant proposes broader allowance for opening and working hours by 
suggesting wording for a condition that would in effect replace Condition 7 
above, to enable working to reflect more accurately the practical needs of the 
applicant’s operations. The wording proposed for such a new condition to 
prescribe broader hours for opening and working is as follows: 
 
“Activities under the operation of this permission shall take place during the 
following periods: 
 
i) Site open for the receipt and removal of wastes, working within the 

external yard and waste buildings within the following hours: 
 Monday – Friday 0400 hours – 2300 hours. 
 Saturday 0400 hours – 1900 hours. 
 Sunday, public or Bank Holidays 0400 hours – 1900 hours. 
 Biomass boiler operating hours: 
 Monday – Friday 0000 hours – 2400 hours. 
 Saturday 0000 hours – 2400 hours. 
 Sundays/Bank Holidays and public holidays 0000 hours – 2400 hours.” 

 
The applicant also proposes that conditions to a new permission would refer 
to a revised version of the noise management plan reference No. 4035-058-
NMP (dated 5 August 2019) that applies to the consolidating permission. The 
revised version is under document, 4035-0580-NMP-V1.5 as updated 17 
November 2020, to reflect the proposed changes to the operating hours. 
 
No additional vehicle movements or increase in the quantities of waste 
accepted are proposed, although vehicle movements would be spread 
throughout the extended working hours. Up to ten Refuse Collection Vehicles 
(RCVs) would be required to leave the site to commence their rounds between 
0400 hours and 0600 hours daily. 
 
Consultations 
 
Local Members 
Councillor Frudd and Councillor Major have been notified of the application. 
 
Erewash Borough Council – Planning 
Have been notified of the application. 

Page 16



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    7 
15 February 2021 

Erewash Borough Council – Environmental Health Officer  
The Environmental Health Officer (EHO) has raised concerns regarding the 
methodology of the noise assessment, particularly the way that background 
noise levels were assessed for sensitive, night-time hours, and the proposal to 
remove elements of the current condition which prohibit operations while the 
doors to the building are open. These concerns regarding the noise 
assessment have now been addressed. 
 
Trowell Parish Council 
Councillor D Pringle, Vice Chair of Trowell Parish Council and Broxtowe 
Borough Councillor for Awsworth, Cossall and Trowell, has raised the 
following concerns and suggestions. 
 
Concerns: 
• Odour arising from the application site. 
• Dust arising from the application site. 
• Lack of enforcement action to control dust and noise nuisance. 
• Extension of working hours will result in increased disturbance to local 

residents including goods vehicle noise at night and early in the mornings 
when people are trying to sleep. 

• Noise, dust and odour claims should not be taken at face value, the 
Planning Authority should commission their own reports. 

• Air pollution from the site and associated vehicle movements. 
• The complaints reporting process states that issues will be reported to 

‘Elmbridge Borough Council’. 
 

Suggestions: 
• All vehicle routing is via Quarry Hill Road. 
• Strict noise controls are required before 0700 hours and after 1900 hours 

on weekdays, weekends and bank holidays. 
• Any complaints received should automatically be shared with Stanton 

Recycling, the Environment Agency, Derbyshire County Council and 
Erewash and Broxtowe Borough Councils. 

• Weighbridge records should be maintained and available for examination 
by Derbyshire County Council. 

• Any issues of odour problems should be resolved before planning consent 
is granted. 

 
Stanton by Dale Parish Council, British Horse Society, Sustrans and the 
Coal Authority 
Have been notified of the application. 
 
Environment Agency, Canals and Rivers Trust and the Highway 
Authority 
No comments. 

Page 17



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    8 
15 February 2021 

Derbyshire Wildlife Trust 
Has advised that there are no ecological issues associated with the proposal. 
 
Publicity 
The application has been advertised by site and press notices (Derbyshire 
Times) with a request for comments by 13 August 2020.  In response to this 
publicity, 12 representations have been received raising objection to the 
proposal on the following grounds: 
 
Objections Summary: 
• There are many out of town locations where this kind of industry should be 

sited. Noise 24 hours per day and 7 days per week should not be 
tolerated.  

• Extended operating hours will cause more disturbance. 
• Noise and vibration from the site and from traffic. 
• Odour from wastes and from the biomass boiler. 
• Traffic congestion, safety and the condition of the highway. 
• Air pollution from the site and from heavy goods vehicle (HGVs) traffic. 
• Vermin, flies and rats in a garden. 
• Detriment to the users of the Nutbrook Trail; conflict between vehicles and 

trail users, particularly at weekends and bank holidays. 
• Potential impact on the viability of the Stanton Regeneration Site 

proposals. 
• Fires and explosions causing damage to buildings. 
• Deposition of dust. 
• Cumulative impacts of all of the above. 

 
Planning Considerations 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
that planning applications are determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless other material considerations indicate otherwise. In respect of this 
application, the relevant development plan policies are contained in the saved 
polices of the adopted Derby and Derbyshire Waste Local Plan (DDWLP) 
(2005) and Adopted Erewash Core Strategy (March 2014) (ECS). The 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (February 2019), the associated 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), the National Planning Policy for Waste 
(NPPW) (October 2014) and Erewash Borough Council’s adopted Stanton 
Regeneration Site - Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2017) are 
material considerations.  
 
In determining this application, another material consideration is that the 
principle of the waste recycling development at this site has been established.  
The planning permissions granted by this Authority (listed above) have been 
implemented.  I do not propose, therefore, to set out the merits of the nature of 

Page 18



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    9 
15 February 2021 

the recycling works against the development plan. For this site, the facility is 
now well established and the existing permissions on this site must be taken 
as material factors in the determination of this Section 73 application. The 
permissions, including the consolidating permission, were granted with 
planning controls to manage the site operations and the development is also 
regulated by an Environmental Permit. The essential question now is whether 
the proposed changes under a  new planning permission to enable the 
development to be carried on without complying with Condition 7 referred to 
above (but subject to alternative conditioning either as proposed by the 
applicant, or otherwise) would be acceptable. 
 
Policy Considerations 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
The NPPF, as amended 2019, includes a requirement to approve 
development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan, or, 
where there are no development plan policies, to approve the development 
unless there is clear reason for refusing the development proposal or where 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a 
whole. In addition, economic, social and environmental objectives are included 
in Chapter 2 (8) of the NPPF. These seek to help build a strong, responsive 
and competitive economy, support strong vibrant and healthy communities 
and to promote the use of natural resources prudently, minimising waste and 
pollution, including moving to a low carbon economy. 
 
Chapter 15 (183) of the NPPF states that:  
 
“the focus of planning policies and decisions should be on whether proposed 
development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of processes 
or emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes). 
Planning decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively.” 
 
The most relevant paragraphs from the NPPF for this proposal are:  
11: The presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
46-48: Decision-making. 
54-55: Planning conditions. 
80,82: Building a strong, competitive economy. 
91c: Promoting healthy and safe communities 
109: Considering development proposals. 
 
National Planning Policy for Waste 
Section 3 of the NPPW (2014) states that local plans should seek to drive 
waste management up the waste hierarchy, recognising the need for a mix of 
types and scales of facility. 
 

Page 19



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    10 
15 February 2021 

Section 4 requires that a broad range of locations for waste facilities should be 
considered, including industrial sites with priority being given to previously 
developed land and sites identified for employment uses, taking account of 
existing and proposed neighbouring uses, the capacity of the existing and 
proposed transport infrastructure and the cumulative impact of existing and 
proposed waste disposal facilities on the well-being of the local community, 
including any significant adverse impacts on environmental quality, social 
cohesion and inclusion or economic potential.  
 
When determining planning applications for waste facilities, the planning 
authority must consider the likely impact on the local environment and on 
amenity, including traffic and access, air emissions including dust, odours, 
litter, noise, light and vibration.  When considering noise, light and vibration, 
the impacts from goods vehicle movements to and from the site should be 
considered. 
 
Waste Management Plan for England January 2021 
The Waste Management Plan for England clearly sets out the Government’s 
intension to secure greater reuse and recycling rates across all waste 
streams, moving waste up the hierarchy.  The plan recognises that to achieve 
the goals of increased reuse and recycling, there will be a need to increase 
the provision of waste recycling facilities, and in particular, those catering for 
the recycling and preparation of domestic waste for reuse and recovery.  
 
Derby and Derbyshire Waste Local Plan 
Regard must be had to the DDWLP, in particular, policies W6: Pollution and 
Related Nuisances and W10: Cumulative Impact. 
 
Policy W6 of the DDWLP (Pollution and Related Nuisances) states that waste 
development: “will be permitted only if the development would not result in 
material harm caused by contamination, pollution or other adverse 
environmental or health effects on people or communities, the site of the 
development, nearby land uses or the wider environment.” 
 
Policy W10 of the DDWLP (Cumulative Impact) states that proposals for 
waste development will be assessed in light of the cumulative impact which 
they and other developments would impose on local communities, 
concurrently or successively.  Waste development will be permitted only if the 
development would not result in significant and detrimental cumulative impact 
on the environment of those communities. 
 
Erewash Core Strategy 2011 – 2028 adopted March 2014 
The most relevant policies to the determination of this planning application 
are: 
A: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development. 
4: Employment Provision and Economic Development. 

Page 20



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    11 
15 February 2021 

11: The Historic Environment. 
3: Culture, Sport and Tourism. 
16: Green Infrastructure, Parks and Open Spaces. 
17: Biodiversity. 
18: Infrastructure.  
 
Stanton Regeneration Site Supplementary Planning Document 
The site is close to the area allocated in the ECS for the Stanton Regeneration 
Project. The bulk of the regeneration proposal is separated from the 
application site by an area of existing industrial uses, and a belt of 
landscaping and wildlife sites crossed by a multi-user trail network. Issues of 
noise from the Hallam Fields area have been identified in the regeneration 
strategy, which points out that the landscaping/wildlife buffer between the 
regeneration site and Hallam Fields is unlikely to be sufficient to reduce the 
noise to an acceptable level.   
 
The regeneration proposal includes a number of highway improvements to 
take account of both existing and anticipated traffic generated by the 
regeneration proposals. These include the re-alignment of the Ilkeston 
Road/Lows Lane/Littlewell Lane junctions to form a new roundabout to the 
east of New Stanton. This highway realignment will alleviate some of the 
traffic impacts arising from goods vehicle movements to and from Quarry 
Hill/Hallam Fields industrial estates and those arising from the regeneration 
scheme.   
 
Since the first local plan inclusion of the regeneration scheme proposal in 
1994, it has progressed very slowly and such infrastructure improvements as 
it may bring should be considered as offering potential, rather than certain, 
future improvements. Similarly, it would be inadvisable to permit 
developments that may compromise the potential for the wider development of 
the regeneration site and the benefits to the locality that it may bring. 
However, it may not be reasonable to impose extra controls to immediately 
restrict existing businesses in order to accommodate future, noise or 
disturbance sensitive potential developments. 
 
Assessment of the Proposal 
The application site receives and processes kerbside collected waste from 
Ilkeston and the wider area. These wastes include green waste and co-
mingled recyclable wastes, the delivery of which currently includes weekends 
and bank holidays. It is stated that amendments to the permitted hours of 
operation are required to adequately manage the wastes produced in the 
area, to enable kerbside waste streams to be processed efficiently and to 
provide flexibility in the event of emergencies, such as breakdowns. It is not 
proposed to increase vehicle movements, but to allow similar deliveries to 
those that are currently accepted at the site to be distributed more evenly, 
throughout an extended working day, with no additional deliveries being 

Page 21



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    12 
15 February 2021 

contemplated. However, the applicant has stated that up to ten RCVs would 
be required to leave the site to commence their rounds between 0400 hours 
and 0600 hours daily. 
 
The applicant has stated that the operation of amended hours as proposed is 
required to maintain the economic viability of the business and ongoing 
commitments to providing both local authorities and commercial businesses 
with a destination for the recycling of waste to suit their ongoing needs, while 
driving waste up the hierarchy and reducing the amount of waste sent to other 
destinations including landfill.   
 
The proposed amendments to the hours of operation would, in my view, result 
in additional impacts, principally a potential increase in noise and HGV 
movements during early morning and late evening. Routes to and from the 
industrial estates are already subject to public concern regarding HGV 
movements at anti-social hours. Further noise impacts would be likely to arise 
from the operation of the site, particularly if the shutter doors were no longer 
required to be shut during working within the building. However, I am satisfied 
that the development, as proposed to be amended, would continue to accord 
with the high level aims of the NPPW and the Government’s waste 
management objectives, to move waste up the hierarchy.   
 
The potential environmental and amenity impacts of this development were 
assessed during the consideration of the previous applications and planning 
conditions were imposed to mitigate potential impacts where identified at that 
time. However, in context of the current development plan and national 
guidance, I have given consideration below as to whether the extension of 
operating times, would be likely to give rise to any significantly different or 
additional impacts to those previously considered. 
 
Noise 
The site lies within a large industrial estate, near to the M1 motorway, main 
line railway and less than 1km north of a number of other industrial and 
distribution uses on the former Stanton Iron Works Site which has been in 
heavy industrial use since the 1780s. Given the location of the application site, 
within this predominantly industrial area, a degree of noise, including traffic 
noise, must be expected. The nearest residential receptor lies approximately 
480m from the site to the north-east and north-west 
 
Previous applications for waste operations in the Quarry Hill and Hallam 
Fields industrial estates have generated public concern relating to noise, from 
operations within the industrial estates and that created by HGV traffic at anti-
social hours, both early in the morning and late at night.  
 
A variation of hours is sought to enable the receipt and unloading of wastes, 
including into the external bays in the eastern part of the site, and within the 

Page 22



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    13 
15 February 2021 

building. There would also be deliveries of waste by HGV and the egress of a 
small number of RCVs (up to ten) during the additional early morning hours 
between 0400 hours and 0600 hours. To mitigate disturbance to local 
residents, access to and from the site would remain via Crompton Road to 
Merlin Way and the B6096 in accordance with an existing, approved, routing 
plan.  
 
The applicant has submitted an Environmental Noise Assessment report and 
a Noise Management Plan with the application. The Waste Planning Authority 
commissioned an independent report to assess the technical veracity of both 
the Environmental Noise Assessment and the Noise Management Plan (NMP) 
submitted with the application. As a result, the applicant has submitted revised 
documents (ref: 058-002-NIA-V1.5 and ref: 4035-058-NMP V1.5) which are 
considered in this report. 
 
The most significant sources of noise associated with the proposal are 
identified in the revised NMP, as the early morning egress of empty waste 
vehicles, loading of HGVs using a grab in the yard to the east of the main 
building, the delivery of waste by articulated lorries and dumper trucks, and 
the pushing up and handling of wastes in bays within the building. A shredder 
is used on site but the applicant proposes that this would only operate during 
the existing operational hours (0800 hours – 1800 hours). The revised NMP 
identified the main sources of noise arising from the operations and sets out 
how these would be reduced and managed through maintenance of plant and 
vehicles, and through the establishment of good practice including the 
minimisation of drop heights when loading or unloading, prohibiting the 
shaking of tipper bodies when unloading, the use of white noise reversing 
alarms and switching off plant and vehicles when not in use. The NMP aims to 
reduce the noise impact of the operation on nearby residential receptors. 
 
Many of the waste processing activities are carried out within the building, 
currently behind closed doors, as required by a Condition 7 of planning 
permission code no.CW8/0819/41, which this application seeks to remove.  
Restrictions on the timing and routing of HGV access to and from the site and 
the requirement for the doors to the building to be kept closed, will have 
played an important part in controlling noise both from on-site operations and 
that associated with HGV traffic. The extension of hours, to allow the egress of 
RCVs, and for the receipt of wastes at the site, along with the proposed 
relaxation of the requirement to keep the shutter doors closed are, in my 
opinion, likely to give rise to increased noise nuisance caused by the receipt, 
deposit, loading and processing of wastes. The concern is that this increase in 
noise, including traffic noise, would have a potentially detrimental impact on 
local amenity. 
 
Noise monitoring has been undertaken by the applicant at the nearest 
residential receptors on Hexham Avenue and Somerleyton Drive in Hallam 

Page 23



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    14 
15 February 2021 

Fields and at St Helen’s Crescent in Trowell. It should be noted that 
monitoring took place during national Coronavirus (COVID-19) restrictions 
when people were asked to stay at home and a number of businesses were 
closed, including the ‘Festival Inn’ off St Helen’s Crescent, Trowell. It is 
therefore reasonable to assume that activity and traffic noise, particularly 
along the M1 motorway, would be somewhat reduced, resulting in lower than 
normal background noise levels. 
 
The main access routes to and from the site pass through the residential 
areas of Ilkeston, Kirk Hallam, Trowell, Stapleford and Sandiacre, whether 
accessing the M1 motorway or other arterial routes to Nottinghamshire or 
Derbyshire and beyond. Although no formal complaints have been received 
regarding early morning or late night vehicle movements from this site 
specifically, the Waste Planning Authority has received general complaints 
regarding machinery noise and noisy HGV movements before 0600 hours and 
after 2200 hours which are most likely to have arisen from the industrial 
estate.  
 
This proposal has the potential to add to this disturbance by extending the 
hours during which wastes can be received at, and removed from the site by 
an average of 10 hours a day, 7 days a week (proposed additional number of 
hours being Monday to Friday, 9 additional hours, Saturday, 10 additional 
hours, Sunday and Bank Holidays, 15 additional hours). Nearly all 
representations received refer to noise generated by the operation of the site, 
but also noise arising from traffic accessing and leaving the site by the local 
road network. While it is accepted that there are goods vehicles using the site, 
not all goods vehicle movements on the local road network can be attributed 
to the applicant’s site. In addition to traffic generated by the Quarry Hill/Hallam 
Fields industrial estates, the locality also includes the West Hallam Storage 
Depot (4.5km) and Lows Lane Industrial Estate with its large logistic 
operations. The applicant does not propose additional vehicle movements to 
and from the site, and the proposal would not therefore contribute to an overall 
increase in traffic noise, although the change in working hours is likely to 
result in a displacement of some of these movements and the resultant noise, 
to the more disturbing hours, before 0600 hours and after 1900 hours. It is the 
applicant’s stated intension to distribute vehicle movements throughout the 
day and to avoid peak traffic times. 
 
In response to consultation, Erewash Borough Council’s EHO has not 
reported any noise complaints being received about the site. The EHO has, 
however, raised concerns regarding the ‘average background noise levels’ 
between 0400 hours and 0800 hours and 1600 hours and 2300 hours used in 
the original assessment. Partly as a result of these concerns and those of an 
independent noise consultant appointed by this Authority, the applicant has 
submitted a revised Noise Impact Assessment and NMP. The Environment 
Agency has made no comment on the topic of noise. Controls on noise from 

Page 24



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    15 
15 February 2021 

the site form part of the Environmental Permit issued and regulated by the 
Environment Agency. Paragraph 183 of the NPPF states that planning 
decisions should assume that this [Environmental Permitting] regime will 
operate effectively. This does not mean that the planning system should not 
consider the impacts of noise on local amenity, in this case, increases in traffic 
noise at anti-social hours and the potential for increased noise levels arising 
from operations while the shutter doors are open, form an important 
component of the cumulative impacts of the proposal. 
  
The NMP states that noise from site traffic would have a low probability of 
generating disturbance. Control measures would include adopting good site 
practice, ensuring that all plant and vehicles are operated in accordance with 
manufacturers’ guidelines and are well maintained. Drivers would be required 
to turn off engines when vehicles are not in use, adhere to on-site speed limits 
and only low tone or ambient/white noise reversing alarms would be 
permitted. Plant and equipment would be switched off when not in use and 
located to ensure that noise, at the nearest receptor, is kept to a minimum.  
Noise from loading and unloading would be managed by reducing drop 
heights and the prohibition of shaking vehicle tipper bodies while raised. The 
NMP states that, as a variation of Condition 7, “site management will 
endeavour to ensure roller shutters remain closed where possible.” To 
introduce a degree of certainty, the issue of the shutter doors must be 
controlled by a suitably worded planning condition requiring the shutter doors 
to remain closed when not in use during specific working hours, during which 
disturbance is likely to be greatest. 
 
It is proposed that deliveries would be evenly spread throughout the working 
day, which may actually add to disturbance by introducing vehicle movements, 
loading and unloading during the anti-social hours before 0600 hours and after 
1900 hours. No additional vehicle movements are proposed above the current 
70 vehicle movements per day (35 in and 35 out consisting of RCVs, roll on-
offs and articulated bulk loaders for the importation and removal of waste). 
However, there is a stated requirement for up to ten outbound RVCs to leave 
the site each day between 0400 hours and 0600 hours. Other vehicle 
movements would include the arrival and departure of staff in private cars and 
light vehicles, approximately 12 each way per day. 
 
Representations have made reference to additional noise concerns relating to 
the biomass boiler and the impact it is likely to have. I consider these 
concerns to be unfounded as the boiler has been in operation for over a year 
(permitted by application code no.CW8/0819/41) and, during this time, there 
have been no complaints about noise or odour from the boiler, and no 
changes to the operation of the boiler are proposed. A number of respondents 
were unaware that the boiler had been commissioned and in operation for 
nearly 12 months. During a general site visit to the industrial estate by officers, 
noise from the biomass boiler had not been identified as an issue.  

Page 25



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    16 
15 February 2021 

The Nutbrook Trail passes to the south of Quarry Hill and Hallam Fields 
industrial estates through the site of the former Stanton Iron Works. From its 
start at the former colliery, now Shipley Country Park, to the Erewash Canal 
adjacent to the application site, the Trail passes through a former or current 
industrial and edge of urban landscape. Given this setting, the user is unlikely 
to anticipate the type of quiet experience that may be expected in a more rural 
area. The extended operating periods, particularly at weekends and on bank 
holidays, may have an impact on recreational and commuter users of the Trail 
which is likely to be at its busiest during these periods. Although there would 
be some additional noise experienced by Trail users during these periods, I 
consider that the most significant impact would be due to potential conflict 
between trail users and traffic on the short section (64m) of Crompton Road 
shared by Trail users and vehicles accessing the site (to be considered 
below).  I do not consider that the impact of additional noise would be 
significant for the users of the Nutbrook Trail as this should be anticipated 
when passing through an industrial estate. 
 
The Environmental Noise Assessment submitted by the applicant concludes 
that noise associated with the development, as proposed to be amended, 
would not have a significant impact on the surrounding area, and the existing 
noise character of the area would be unlikely to alter, even in the worst case 
scenario where the shutter doors remain open. However, I consider this to be 
an important consideration of cumulative impact, where taking the activities in 
the locality as a whole, small incremental increases can contribute to a 
reduction in local amenity. The Waste Planning Authority has sought an 
independent opinion on the Environmental Noise Assessment and NMP 
submitted by the applicant, this concludes that, with the shutter doors closed 
during waste processing, the noise impact of activities within the building 
would not generate an adverse noise impact over the proposed additional 
activity periods. 
 
As stated above, concerns have been raised regarding fires and explosions 
on site. However, there are no records of either relating to this site, although 
elsewhere on the industrial estate the mechanical shredding of gas bottles has 
resulted in ‘explosion like’ events. The process causing this is not associated 
with the applicant or application site, is monitored by the Environment Agency, 
and has now been effectively ended. As a result, I do not consider that 
concerns regarding noise or other nuisance from explosions is relevant to this 
application. 
 
Therefore, I consider that the proposed new hours of operation would have 
the potential to generate a cumulative noise impact contrary to policies W6 
and W10 of the DDWLP, and that controls on the generation of noise are 
required to reduce the impacts of the site, and of HGV movements during the 
additional anti-social hours, at weekends and on bank holidays, times when 
the public may reasonably anticipate some respite from the disturbance.  

Page 26



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    17 
15 February 2021 

However, I consider that the proposal can be made acceptable through any 
new permission to be granted under this application being granted, subject to 
conditions including suitably worded planning conditions regarding vehicle 
routing, restricting early morning vehicle movements, the operating hours of 
the shredder, and stipulating the hours of working when the shutter doors 
must be closed except for access and egress. I am therefore satisfied that, 
subject to the recommended conditions, the proposal would accord with 
policies W6 and W10 of the DDWLP. 
 
Odour 
Representations received state that odours from the site have forced local 
residents to keep their windows closed and have, on occasion, discourage 
them from using their gardens. The EHO has made no comment specifically 
regarding odour, other than to state that ‘nuisance’ type complaints should be 
dealt with by the Environment Agency as part of the environmental permitting 
regime. The Environment Agency has responded to consultation and has 
made no adverse comments regarding odour from this site. Neither the EHO 
nor the Environment Agency have reported odour related complaints.  
 
Three representations have been received relating to odour from the site, two 
of these from the Trowell area, approximately 500m to the east of the site.  
Whilst it is accepted that the wastes received and processes carried out have 
the potential to generate odours, it should be noted that a large sewage 
treatment works is also located between the application site and the village of 
Trowell and that this, along with other activities at Quarry Hill/Hallam Fields 
industrial estates, may also contribute to odour. The Environmental Permitting 
regime regulated by the Environment Agency has not identified odour as a 
regulatory issue.  During a number of visits to the industrial estates by officers 
over the past 18 months, some announced and others unannounced odour 
from this site has not been identified as an issue. Measures are in place, 
through the operator’s Odour Management Plan and in compliance with the 
Environmental Permitting regime, to control odour emissions from the site.  
 
An Odour Management Plan (ref: 4035-058-OMP) has been submitted as part 
of the application in which measures for the monitoring and control of odours 
have been identified, including procedures for the investigation of complaints, 
odorous waste quarantining and removal, and the maintenance of an ‘odour 
diary’ recording complaints and the results of odour monitoring. The Odour 
Management Plan also identifies the location of residential and non-residential 
odour sensitive receptors in the area. The proposed changes to working hours 
would not contribute to an increase in odour from the site as the quantity and 
nature of the wastes received would remain unaltered. I therefore consider 
that odour can be adequately controlled through the Environmental Permitting 
regime and by the inclusion of suitably worded planning conditions. In respect 
of odour, I am satisfied that the proposal accords with policies of the DDWLP, 
ECS and the NPPF.  

Page 27



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    18 
15 February 2021 

Dust 
Representations have stated that dust, arising from Hallam Fields Industrial 
Estate, is a problem for local residents. While the Stanton Recycling Site has 
not been identified as the sole source of dust, the cumulative impact of dust 
from both Quarry Hill and Hallam Fields industrial estates contributes to poor 
local air quality and nuisance. As with odour, the creation and suppression of 
dust is regulated by the Environmental Permitting regime monitored by the 
Environment Agency. Visits to the industrial estates and to the site have not 
identified dust from this site to be a significant issue and it is controlled 
through conditions of both the existing planning consent and the 
Environmental Permit regulated by the Environment Agency. The existing 
Dust Management Plan has been updated (ref: 4035-058-DMP V1.2) and 
forms part of the submitted application. This plan identifies the location of 
sensitive residential and commercial receptors, and the methods by which 
dust will be controlled. These include a requirement to have vehicles 
accessing or leaving the site either sheeted or otherwise contained, the 
wetting down of dusty loads before unloading, and the reduction of drop 
heights whilst unloading. In addition, surfaces and haul routes are swept and 
damped down, and reduced on-site speed limits of 5mph enforced to prevent 
the creation of dust. Stockpiles are pre-wetted before loading during dry or 
windy weather. I consider that the proposed amendment to the hours of 
operation would not result in an increase in dust associated with the site and 
therefore the proposal does not conflict with Policy W6 of the DDWLP.   
 
Traffic, Highway Safety and Public Rights of Way 
The applicant does not propose to increase traffic movements to and from the 
site, nor are there proposals to increase the annual through-put of waste. The 
main concerns raised regarding traffic relate to the extension of operating 
hours, potentially allowing HGV movements early in the morning and later at 
night. Such movements between 0400 hours and 0600 hours in the morning 
and between 1900 hours and 2300 hours in the evening are considered to be 
during anti-social hours and complaints about such movements are primarily 
based on the associated noise which has been considered above.   
 
The main traffic concern raised by the proposal is the departure of RCVs 
between 0400 hours and 0600 hours and the resulting potential for additional 
disturbance to residents along the routing, particularly through Trowell.  
Representations have been received which state that HGV and RCV 
movements are particularly disturbing early in the mornings and late at night, 
with reports of movements starting before 0500 hours, continuing until 2300 
hours and disturbing sleep. During these early morning and late night hours, 
the passage of empty RCVs, but particularly skip lorries, can create disturbing 
noise. The continuation of, or increase in, such disturbance and it’s extension 
to seven days a week could have a considerable impact on the quality of life 
for residents along the various haulage routes. Recent monitoring of vehicle 
movements to and from the industrial estate between 0400 hours and 0600 

Page 28



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    19 
15 February 2021 

hours indicate that such movements are a feature of some other businesses 
operating at Quarry Hill and Hallam Fields industrial estates, but comprise 
only a small proportion of the traffic on the local roads during these hours. 
However, it is also understood that RCVs leaving the site in the early morning 
conduct refuse collections in the Erewash area. In addition to the proposed 
ten RCV movements out of the site, there would also be approximately 12 
cars and light vans as staff arrive for work. These light vehicles have not been 
reported as creating the noise issue associated with the banging and rattling 
of empty skip vehicles.  Consultation with the Highway Authority has raised no 
concerns relating to highway network capacity or condition. 
 
I consider that conflict between users of the Nutbrook Trail and HGVs 
accessing the site via Crompton Road are unlikely to be significant. Although 
Trail users are required to cross the access to one other industrial site 
(Johnson Recycling), the route of the Trail does not cross the flow of traffic. At 
this point, although there is no pavement or marked cycle route, the 
carriageway is wide enough for HGVs to pass one another with ease and 
sightlines are good. This section of Crompton Road is a dead end, giving 
access to four recycling sites, Stanton Recycling amongst them. Vehicle 
speeds are therefore likely to be low, with HGVs either entering or leaving the 
site whilst using the 64m section of the road shared with the Trail users. 
Barriers and signage are in place at the access points of the Trail to ensure 
that users, particularly cyclists, reduce speed or dismount prior to entering 
Crompton Road. 
 
As the proposal does not seek to add to traffic numbers, it is not anticipated 
that there would be any adverse impact on the capacity of the highway 
network, or conflict with the existing rights of way in the locality. User groups, 
including Sustrans and the British Horse Society, have been consulted and 
neither have made any adverse comment.   
 
Potential traffic impacts may be reduced through the control of routing to and 
from the site. Whilst it is accepted that there are no additional movements 
proposed, the timing of traffic would be distributed over a greater number of 
hours, impacting on the early morning and potentially later into the night. I 
therefore consider that a suitably worded planning condition should be 
included in any new permission to require the submission of a routing plan 
and details of how it will be communicated to drivers, employed by Stanton 
Recycling, their customers and contractors, to be submitted for approval by 
the Waste Planning Authority within two months of the date of that approval. 
Subject to such a condition, I am satisfied that the proposal would accord with 
Policy W10 of the DDWLP. 
 
Ecology, Conservation and Heritage 
The site lies adjacent to the Erewash Canal (ER215) and beyond that, the 
West Hallam Towpath Scrub (ER055), both of which are local wildlife sites. 

Page 29



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    20 
15 February 2021 

The site itself contains no features of ecological interest, having been formerly 
part of a larger industrial complex and in its present use for many years; this is 
confirmed by the responses of Derbyshire Wildlife Trust. The only vegetation 
on the site is a narrow belt of planting along the eastern boundary and 
adjacent to the Erewash Canal; this would remain. 
 
The nearest listed buildings are Hallam Fields Bridge (Grade II) and Hallam 
Fields Lock (Grade II), both some 150m to the north. The tower of St 
Bartholomews Church (Grade II) is located at the junction of Crompton Road 
and Hallam Fields Road, over 500m from the site entrance. The current 
approved routing plan requires that HGV traffic, accessing or leaving the site, 
does so via Merlin Way and Quarry Hill Road. This routing avoids passing the 
tower of St Bartholomews Church. Hallam Fields Bridge and Hallam Lock are 
at the end of Hallam Fields Road and cannot be accessed via vehicle. I 
propose that a similar routing plan should be conditioned. I am therefore 
satisfied that the proposal would not adversely affect any listed buildings, or 
local wildlife sites. 
 
Cumulative Impacts 
The key issues to consider here are the extent to which the operation of 
extended working hours could have adverse environmental or health effects 
on people, communities, nearby land uses or the wider environment as set out 
in Policy W10 of the DDWLP. There are a cluster of waste facilities in this area 
and the cumulative impact of these developments in combination is a factor to 
be taken into consideration. 
 
The application site is located within a large industrial estate to the south of 
Ilkeston and that estate undoubtedly generates HGV traffic on the local road 
network. It is the level and nature of goods vehicle movement on the local 
road network and its associated pollution, dust, noise and vibration, which 
have generated the bulk of objections to this application. However, not all of 
the vehicle movements can be attributed to the operation of Stanton 
Recycling, nor indeed to the Quarry Hill and Hallam Fields industrial estates, 
although it is reasonable to assume that a substantial proportion of the vehicle 
movements are related to the industrial estates, as well as logistics companies 
located at Lowes Lane and at the West Hallam Storage Depot. The 
application does not seek to increase the total number of vehicle movements, 
but would, if approved, extend the time period during which the site would 
accept and process waste. The vehicle movements would therefore be 
dispersed throughout the working hours, potentially avoiding peak traffic 
periods. This is the stated intension of the applicant. There are several waste 
businesses on the industrial estates. Should these all operate the receipt and 
removal of materials at such hours, the cumulative impacts may be significant 
and reduce the quality of life for those living near to the site and particularly 
along the haul routes. 
 

Page 30



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    21 
15 February 2021 

I therefore consider that the proposal can only be made acceptable in relation 
to Policy W10 of the DDWLP and NPPF by the imposition of suitably worded 
planning conditions limiting site access and egress by commercial vehicles 
during the anti-social hours, requiring compliance with, and communication of 
an approved vehicle routing plan, limiting the operating hours of the shredder, 
and to reduce noise, controlling the hours during which the shutter doors may 
remain open. 
 
Conclusion 
The applicant company is seeking approval for a significant extension of the 
operating hours of the site and to enable operations with the shutter doors 
open during the extended hours from 0400 hours until 2300 hours Monday to 
Friday and 0400 hours until 1900 hours on Saturdays, Sundays and Bank. 
Given that the site is set within an industrial environment, a degree of noise is 
to be expected. However, the unfettered cumulative impacts of this site and of 
those other operations on the industrial estates and environs, is likely to be 
detrimental to the amenity of local residents and those living in the nearby 
settlements of Ilkeston, Stapleford, Sandiacre and particularly, Trowell. 
However, this consideration must be set against the contribution of the 
development to the management of wastes and the role it plays in moving 
waste materials up the waste hierarchy in support of national recycling targets, 
the Waste Management Plan for England, and the potential to reduce the 
impacts of the development through the use of planning conditions. 
 
I therefore consider that granting a new permission to allow for extended 
opening and working hours as proposed, would be acceptable, subject to 
suitably worded planning conditions to which the new permission would be 
subject, including conditions to continue to limit site access and egress by 
commercial vehicles during anti-social hours, and require compliance with, 
and the communication of, an approved vehicle routing plan, and limiting the 
operating hours of the shredder, and controlling the hours during which the 
shutter doors may remain open. The recommendation below is made 
accordingly. 
 
(3) Financial Considerations The correct fee of £234 has been 
received. 
 
(4) Legal Considerations I do not consider that there would be any 
disproportionate impacts on anyone's human rights under the European 
Convention on Human Rights as a result of this permission being granted 
subject to the conditions referred to in the Officer Recommendation. 
 
(5) Environmental and Health Considerations The activities 
proposed would contribute to the movement of materials up through the waste 
hierarchy and improve recycling through efficiency gains for the operator. Any 
net change to emissions contributing to climate change will be negligible as no 

Page 31



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    22 
15 February 2021 

increases in throughput or total vehicle movements are proposed. The use of 
the existing biomass boiler is likely to result in a saving of greenhouse gas 
emissions but no data has been provided to support this assumption. Other 
environmental and health issues are as indicated in the report. 
 
(6) Other Considerations  
 
In preparing this report the relevance of the following factors has been 
considered: prevention of crime and disorder, equality and diversity, human 
resources, property, social value and transport considerations. 
 
(7) Background Papers File No. 8.9001.17 
Application documents: 
Application form dated 9 June 2020. 
Planning Statement 001-058-A V1.4 dated 22 June 2020. 
Environmental Noise Assessment 002-058-C V1.4 dated 22 June 2020. 
Noise Management Plan 4035-058-NMP V1.4 dated 22 June 2020. 
Additional Traffic data, dated 30 September 2020. 
Revised Noise Impact Assessment, 002-058-C V1.5 dated 17 November 
2020. 
Revised Noise Management Plan, 4035-058-NMP V1.5 dated 17 November 
2020. 
Dust Management Plan 4035-058-DMP V1.2 dated 5 August 2010. 
Odour Management Plan 4035/058-OMP V1.2 dated 5 August 2019. 
Noise assessment, Spire Environmental dated 22 August 2018. 
Planning permission CW8/0818/29 dated 7 January 2019. 
Planning permission CW8/0819/41 dated 8 January 2020. 
 
Additional documents: 
Response to Sharps Acoustics report 058-003 Noise Response, Oaktree 
Environmental Ltd dated 4 December 2020. 
Noise Review, Sharps Acoustics dated 7 October 2020. 
Consideration of Comments, Sharps Acoustics dated 4 January 2021. 

 
Consultation responses from: 
Environment Agency dated 7 August 2020. 
Canals and Rivers Trust dated 14 August 2020. 
Erewash Borough Council Environmental Health Officer dated 28 August 
2020. 
Trowell Parish Council dated 17 August 2020. 
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust dated 23 September 2020. 
12 Letters of representation – various dates. 
 
(7) OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION That the Committee resolves that 
planning permission be granted subject to the conditions substantially in 
accordance with the following draft conditions: 

Page 32



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    23 
15 February 2021 

Form of Development 
1) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details 

submitted under application code no. CW8/0819/41 dated 5 August 
2019, as approved by the Waste Planning Authority on 8 January 2020, 
as amended by application code no.CW8/0620/23 dated 9 June 2020, 
except as may be modified or amended by other conditions attached to 
this planning permission. The approved plans and documents are: 
 

 In respect of Application CW8/0620/23: 
• Application form dated 9 June 2020 
• Planning Statement 001-058-A V1.4 dated 22 June 2020 
• Revised Noise Management Plan, 4035-058-NMP V1.5 dated 17 

November 2020 
• Dust Management Plan 4035-058-DMP V1.2 dated 5 August 2010 
• Odour Management Plan 4035/058-OMP V1.2 dated 5 August 2019 
 
In respect of Application CW8/0819/41: 
• Site Layout Plan, drawing No. 4035/058/01 dated 23 May 2019 
• Site Layout Plan, Revision C, drawing No. 4035/058/03, dated 21 

October 2019 
• Proposed Canopy Elevations, Revision B, Drawing No. 4035/058/05, 

dated 9 July 2019 
• Weighbridge Office Elevations, Unrevised, drawing no. 4035/058/08, 

dated 20 June 2019 
• Proposed Canopy Building Construction details, drawing no. 1119-2 

dated 6 February 2019 
• E-mail from Oaktree Environmental Ltd confirming the external colour 

finish to the existing concrete wall east of the proposed canopy 
building, dated 4 November 2019 

• E-mail from Oaktree Environmental Ltd specifying maximum annual 
throughput figures, dated 11 November 2019 

 
In respect of Application CW8/0818/39: 
Application form dated 15 August 2018 
Supporting statement dated 23 August 2018 
 
Reason: To enable the Waste Planning Authority to monitor the 
development in the interests of the amenity of the area. 
 

2) A copy of these conditions, including all documents referred to in them, 
shall be available for inspection during working hours, and the terms 
and conditions of the permission shall be made known to any person(s) 
given responsibly for the management and control of operations. 

 

Page 33



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    24 
15 February 2021 

Reason: To ensure that the site operators are fully aware of the 
requirements of these conditions throughout the period of the 
development.  

 
3) The site shall not be available to the general public. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development does not have an adverse effect on 
neighbouring amenity. 

 
Types of   Waste and Annual Throughput 
4) The types of waste received and processed at the site shall be limited to 

those listed in the planning application details, set out in Condition 1, 
only. The site operator shall keep accurate records of the total amount of 
wastes arriving at the site and these records shall be made available for 
inspection by the Waste Planning Authority upon request. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of users of nearby land and to 
ensure that continuation of the waste management facility does not give 
rise to unacceptable environmental impact. 
 

5) The amounts in weight of waste imported to the site annually (1 January    
to 31 December each year), shall not exceed 95,000 tonnes in total nor 
exceed: 

 
• 60,000 tonnes of municipal waste (non-hazardous household) of 

which no more than 15,000 tonnes may comprise of green waste; and 
• 35,000 tonnes of commercial and industrial waste and construction, 

demolition and excavation waste (non-hazardous), of which no more 
than 2,000 tonnes may comprise clean waste wood fuel in respect of 
the biomass boiler.  

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of local amenity.   

 
Environmental Protection 
6) Except for the tipping of waste materials for composting, as approved by 

separate permission(s), there shall be no tipping, sorting or processing 
of waste materials outside the buildings. 
 
Reason: To clarify the details approved and to ensure the development 
does not have an adverse effect on neighbouring commercial interests 
and local amenity. 
 

7) There shall be no open fires or burning of wood or other materials on the 
site other than the operation of the biomass boiler.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the protection of local amenity.  

Page 34



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    25 
15 February 2021 

8) Any wind-blown wastes or litter arising from the operations on the site 
shall be collected immediately and removed from the site.  

 
Reason: In the interests of local amenity and the environment.    

 
Waste Stockpiles  
9) All external stockpiles of recycled materials and windrows, shall not be 

constructed to a height greater than 5m when measured from ground level 
at the side of each stockpile.  

 
 Reason: In the interests of the protection of visual amenity.    
 
Hours of Operation 
10) Activities under the operation of this permission shall only take place 

during the following periods (other than in the event of emergency 
whereupon the Waste Planning Authority will be notified in writing within 
seven days): 
 
i) Working within the external yard and waste buildings within the 

following hours: 
Monday - Friday 0400 hours - 2300 hours  
Saturdays 0400 hours – 1900 hours  
Sundays, public and bank holidays 0400 hours - 1900 hours  

 
ii) Biomass boiler operating hours: 

Monday – Friday 0000 hours -2400 hours 
Saturday 0000 hours – 2400 hours 
Sunday, public or Bank Holidays 0000 hours – 2400 hours 

 
iii) The site shall be open for the receipt and removal of wastes during 

the following hours: 
Monday – Friday 0600 hours – 2000 hours 
Saturday 0600 hours – 1900 hours 
Sunday, public or Bank Holidays 0600 hours – 1900 hours 

 
iv) A maximum of ten vehicles involved in kerbside and trade waste 

refuse collection shall be permitted to leave the site to commence 
collection rounds from 0400 hours and 0600 hours. 

 
v) The shutter doors to the buildings are to remain closed during the 

hours of: 
Monday – Friday 0400 hours – 0600 hours and 2000 hours – 2300 
hours 
Saturday, Sunday, Public or Bank Holidays 0400 hours – 0600 hours 
 

Page 35



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    26 
15 February 2021 

Reason: To minimise noise disturbance, in the interests of protection of 
local amenity. 

 
Dust 
11) Dust management at the site shall be undertaken in accordance with the 

measures set out in the Dust Management Plan prepared by Oaktree 
Environmental Ltd, document reference no. 4035-058-DMP V1.2, dated 5 
August 2010.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the protection of local amenity.  

 
12) Any wind-blown wastes or litter arising from the operations on the site 

shall be collected immediately and removed from the site. 
 

Reason: In the interest of protection of local amenity. 
 
13) Any skips or containers which receive waste materials and which may 

give rise to dust and cause nuisance or environmental degradation, 
must be lidded, netted or otherwise covered at all times other when the 
waste materials are being added or removed. 

 
Reason: To prevent dust arisings and in the interest of protection of local 
amenity. 

 
14) At all times, all operations hereby approved at this site shall be carried 

out in a manner to minimise the generation of dust. At such times as any 
operation gives rise to unacceptable levels of dust leaving the site, that 
operation shall be temporarily suspended until weather and site 
conditions improve and the operations can be resumed without causing 
nuisance. 
 
Reason: To prevent dust arisings and in the interest of protection of local 
amenity. 

 
15) During dry and/or windy weather, dust suppression methods, such as 

water bowsers and hosepipes, shall be used to prevent dust being 
blown off the site. At such times as the prevention of dust nuisance by 
the above conditions is not possible, the movement of any dusty 
materials shall temporarily cease until such times that the weather 
conditions improve. 

 
Reason: To prevent dust arisings and in the interest of protection of local 
amenity. 

 
16) Areas on the application site where vehicular activity takes place must 

be hard-surfaced and well-maintained, and appropriate dust suppression 
methods, such as the use of water bowsers and/or hosepipes, applied. 

Page 36



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    27 
15 February 2021 

Reason: To prevent dust arisings and in the interest of protection of local 
amenity. 

 
Noise 
17) All noise management at the site shall be undertaken in accordance 

with the measures set out in the Noise Management Plan, prepared by 
Oaktree Environmental Ltd, document reference no. 4035-058-NMP 
V1.5 dated 17 November 2020. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the protection of local amenity. 

 
18) Efficient silencers shall be fitted to, used, and maintained in accordance 

with the manufacturers’ instructions on all vehicles, plant and machinery 
used on the site. Save for the purpose of maintenance, none of the 
above shall operate with the covers removed. 

 
Reason: In the interest of protection of local amenity. 

 
19) The use of powered tools, including pneumatic hammers to break up or 

reduce the size of any material, is prohibited until such times that a 
satisfactory noise management scheme, which makes an assessment of 
this equipment, has been submitted to and approved by the Waste 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall then be implemented as approved.  
 
Reason: In the interest of protection of local amenity. 

 
20) At all times, all vehicles, plant and machinery employed on the site shall 

operate only during permitted hours except in an emergency. 
 

Reason: In the interest of protection of local amenity. 
 
21) Waste shredding and screening equipment shall not be operated except 

during the following hours: 
 
Monday - Friday 0800 hours - 1800 hours  
Saturdays 0800 hours – 1300 hours  
Sundays, public and bank holidays: no shredding or screening of waste  
 
Reason: In the interests of protection of local amenity. 

 
22) Reversing alarms used on plant and vehicles on the site shall either be 

non-audible, ambient related or low tone devices. 
 

Reason: In the interest of protection of local amenity. 
 
 

Page 37



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    28 
15 February 2021 

Odour 
23) Odour management at the site shall be undertaken in accordance with 

the measures set out in the Odour Management Plan prepared by 
Oaktree Environmental Ltd, document reference no. 4035-058-OMP 
V1.2, dated 5 August 2019. 
 
Reason: To ensure that any odour emissions from the development 
does not have an adverse effect on neighbouring amenity.  
 

24) Each working day, the surrounds of the site shall be monitored for any 
odours arising from the development. If any materials result in 
noticeable odours they shall be contained, or removed from the site as 
soon as practicable. 

 
Reason: In the interest of protection of local amenity.  

 
Lighting 
25) No external lighting shall be installed unless details have been submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. 
 

Reason: In the interest of protection of local amenity. 
 
Drainage and Pollution Control 
26) Any oil, fuel, lubricant and other potential pollutants shall be handled on 

the site in such a manner as to prevent pollution of any watercourse or 
aquifer. For any liquid other than water, this shall include storage in 
suitable tanks. All facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall 
be sited on impervious bases and surrounded by impervious bund walls. 
The volume of each bunded compound shall be at least equivalent to 
the capacity of the tank and associated pipework plus 10%. If there is 
multiple tankage within a bund, the compound shall be at least 
equivalent to the capacity of the largest tank, vessel or the combined 
capacity of interconnected tanks or vessels and associated pipework 
plus 10%. All filling and emptying points, associated valves, vents, tank 
overflow outlets, pipework, gauges and sight glasses shall be located 
within the bund or have separate secondary containment. Associated 
pipework shall be located above ground and protected from accidental 
damage. All filling points and tank/vessels overflow pipe. Outlets shall be 
detailed to discharge downwards into the bund. There shall be no drain 
through any bund floor or walls. The drainage system of each bund shall 
be sealed with no discharge to any watercourse, land or underground 
strata. 

 
Reason: To prevent contamination of underground water. 
 

Page 38



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    29 
15 February 2021 

27)  All bunds surrounding tanks containing liquid will be constructed to a 
minimum height of 45.5m Above Ordnance Datum (AOD).  
 
Reason: To minimise the impact of flooding and to facilitate a quicker 
recovery in the event of a flood. 
 

28) Any electrical equipment or cable to be installed shall be no lower than 
45.5m AOD.  

 
Reason: To minimise the impact of flooding and to facilitate a quicker 
recovery in the event of flooding.  
 

29) The site operators will ensure that all surface water drainage continues 
to operate in an efficient manner. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the site drains efficiently. 

 
30) No foul or contaminated surface water or trade effluent shall be 

discharged from the site into either ground water or surface water 
drainage systems. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the site drains efficiently. 

 
Highway Safety 
31)  No mud, debris or other dirt shall be carried out from the site on to the 

public highway.  
 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety.  
32) There shall be no discharge of surface water from the site onto the 

public highway.  
 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
33) All loaded vehicles entering or leaving the site shall be sheeted.  
 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
HGV Movements 
34) The total number of HGV movements associated with the operation of 

the site hereby permitted shall not exceed the following limits: 
 

• 70 HGV movements (35 in: 35 out) per day.  
• No HGV movements shall take place outside the hours of operation 

authorised in Condition 10 of the planning permission.  
 
Reason: In the interests of local amenity and highway safety. 

Page 39



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    30 
15 February 2021 

HGV Routing 
35) The site operator shall provide and maintain signage at the weighbridge 

and at the site exit to inform drivers egressing the site of the route to be 
used by HGVs, in accordance with the HGV routing plan approved 
under Condition 36 for the duration of the development. A copy of the 
routing plan shall also be issued to all drivers.  

 
Reason: In the interests of local amenity and highway safety. 

 
36) All journeys by HGVs or other vehicles for transporting materials to and 

from the site shall be undertaken via the route specified in accordance 
with the HGV routing plan prepared by Oaktree Environmental Ltd, 
document reference no. 4035-058-09, dated 25 June 2019 and 
approved by planning consent Code no.CW8/0819/41 dated 8 January 
2020, except for any such journeys which cannot practicably be 
undertaken via this route. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not have an 
adverse impact on neighbouring amenity and adjoining land uses. 

 
Landscaping 
37) Trees planted in accordance with the details shown on drawing no. 

4035/058/03 Revision C entitled site layout plan, dated 21 October 
2019, shall be maintained for a period of five years from the date of 
planting. If, within the five year period any tree or shrub, or any tree or 
shrub planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted, destroyed or 
dies (or becomes, in the opinion of the Waste Planning Authority, 
seriously damaged or defective), another tree or shrub of the same 
species and size, as that originally planted, shall be planted at the same 
place during the next planting season, unless the Waste Planning 
Authority gives its written approval to any variation.     

 
 Reason: In the interest of visual amenity. 
 
Statement of Compliance with Article 35 of the Town and Country 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015. 
The Authority worked with the applicant in a positive and pro-active manner 
based on seeking solutions to problems arising in the processing of planning 
applications in full accordance with this Article. The Authority has requested 
clarification on the application where required, which the applicant has 
provided. The Authority has provided the applicant with details of consultation 
comments and representations received and kept the applicant informed of 
progress with the application.   
 
 
 

Page 40



Public 

RP10 2021.docx    31 
15 February 2021 

The Coal Authority: Development Low Risk Area - Standing Advice 
The proposed development lies within a coal mining area which may contain 
unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If any coal mining feature is 
encountered during development, this should be reported immediately to the 
Coal Authority on 0345 762 6848. 
 
Further information is also available on the Coal Authority website at: 
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority  
 
Standing Advice valid from 1st January 2021 until 31st December 2022 
 
 
 
 
 

Tim Gregory 
Director – Economy, Transport and Environment 

Page 41

http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority


P
age 42



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    1 
11 January 2021 

Agenda Item No. 3.2 
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

15 February 2021 
 

Report of the Director - Economy, Transport and Environment 
 
 
2 DEMOLITION OF ASHLEA FARM AND RELATED BUILDINGS OFF 

DEEP DALE LANE AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW ALL 
MOVEMENT JUNCTION ON THE A50 AND CONNECTING LINK 
ROAD TO INFINITY PARK WAY, WITH ASSOCIATED WORKS 
INCLUDING: STREET LIGHTING COLUMNS, FOOTWAYS/ 
CYCLEWAYS, CONSTRUCTION OF EARTH MOUNDS, FLOOD 
COMPENSATION AREAS, ACOUSTIC FENCING AND 
LANDSCAPING AT LAND BETWEEN DEEP DALE LANE AND 
INFINITY PARK WAY, SINFIN, DERBY  

 APPLICANT: DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 CODE NUMBE R: CD9/0319/110 

9.1600.3 
 
Introductory Summary    This report relates to a proposal by the County 
Council for the construction of a new junction (Junction 3A) on the A50 trunk 
road and a new connecting link road between the new junction and Infinity 
Park Way in Derby. The proposal also involves ancillary works including the 
creation of two flood storage areas, the diversion of watercourses, safety 
improvements to Deep Dale Lane, and the demolition of buildings at Ashlea 
Farm.  
 
It concerns development partly in Derbyshire which the County Council 
intends to carry out, therefore the application for permission that is assigned 
code number CD9/0319/110 has been made to this authority. Because the 
proposed development would occupy a site straddling the respective 
administrative areas of (1) Derby City and (2) South Derbyshire and 
Derbyshire County Council, a ‘twin’ application for permission has been made 
to Derby City Council. That application is due to be before the City Council’s 
committee for regulatory planning matters on 11 February. Both applications 
have been accompanied by an Environmental Statement for the development. 
 
The site is not located in a sensitive landscape area and there are no statutory 
nature conservation or cultural heritage designations within it. The site is close 
to, or within a number of Local Wildlife Sites and the Sinfin Moor Park Local 
Nature Reserve, and is also washed over by the Sinfin Moor Regionally 

Page 43

Agenda Item 3(b)



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    2 
11 January 2021 

Important Geological Site. The site crosses a number of flood zones including 
flood zones 2, 3a and 3b, the latter representing the fluvial floodplain.  
 
The Government places considerable weight on the need to support economic 
growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs and 
wider opportunities for development. It is considered that the current proposal 
would bring significant economic and social benefit through the delivery of the 
highway infrastructure required to support the proposed Infinity Garden 
Village/South Derby Growth Zone initiatives and would assist in bringing 
forward the delivery of 2,300 new homes, 117 hectares employment land, new 
primary and secondary schools and green and blue infrastructure, as set out 
in the Derby City Local Plan and South Derbyshire Local Plan respectively.  
 
The proposal would result in some landscape and visual impacts, as well as 
the loss of an agricultural unit, veteran trees and other vegetation, and a 
section of the Sinfin Moor Regionally Important Geological Site; it is 
considered that there would be conflict with some policies of the South 
Derbyshire Local Plan in this respect. The proposal would also result in the 
loss of floodplain, as well as interrupt existing flood flows and conveyance 
routes in conflict with the NPPF and the development plan. However, the need 
for   the proposed development including its location in the flood plain is 
dictated by the allocation in the relevant local plans of a large (mainly 
agricultural) area of undeveloped land between the A50 and the current 
southerly-facing urban outskirts of the city of Derby, which includes the 
footprint of the proposal, for substantial development. The proposal represents 
highways infrastructure that would be essential for serving new developments 
that may be expected to occur in accordance to this substantial allocation 
(which are now perceived as generating a ‘garden village’ on the area, 
referred to as Infinity Garden Village). The location has been subject to the 
appropriate strategic flood risk assessments and sequential tests during the 
plan preparation and examination. It is not considered that the proposal would 
result in adverse impacts on highway safety or on the operation of either the 
strategic or local highway networks.  
 
Mitigation measures are proposed including the formation of two flood storage 
areas and amendments to culverts and other watercourses which would allow 
for flood risk to be managed strategically. The measures have also been 
designed to mitigate flood risk associated with another development 
associated with Infinity Garden Village. A Green Infrastructure Strategy is also 
proposed, which would provide compensatory planting for trees/hedgerow/ 
habitat lost, as well as creating stronger ties with the adjacent Sinfin Moor 
Park through the creation of significant new habitats, open green space and 
recreational links. It is considered that this would result in substantial 
biodiversity net gain.  
 

Page 44



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    3 
11 January 2021 

Overall, the significant socio-economic benefits of the proposal, when set 
against the scale of environmental harm (which is not considered so 
significant as to warrant refusal of the development on those grounds), would 
outweigh those impacts to justify the grant of planning permission.  
 
All proposals for new junctions on the strategic road network need approval by 
the Department for Transport. Its approval of this proposal has been 
confirmed recently, but it is conditional on some requirements being imposed 
by planning conditions.  
 
The recommendation is therefore or authorisation for a permission to be 
granted in accordance with the application, subject to conditions provided that 
Derby City Council is also authorised to grant a planning permission in respect 
of the corresponding application it has received regarding the development. 
 
(1) Purpose of Report To enable the Committee to authorise the 

determination of an application for planning permission. 
 
(2) Information and Analysis The application for determination relates 
to a proposal for the development of a new junction (Junction 3A) on the A50 
trunk road and a new connecting link road between the new junction and 
Infinity Park Way in Derby. The proposal straddles the administrative area of 
both Derby City and South Derbyshire/Derbyshire County Council.  The 
proposal is therefore covered by two similar applications for planning 
permission. One, the application coming before this committee, is required for 
the development in Derbyshire (assigned code number CD9/0319/110). This 
application is for the County Council to determine because it is an application 
by the Council and the Council intends to carry out the development. The 
other is the corresponding, application that has been submitted to Derby City 
Council (assigned code no: 19/00417/FUL), which is expected to be before its 
committee for regulatory planning matters on 11 February.  
 
The Site and Surroundings 
The site for the proposal is generally to the south of the current urban expanse 
of Derby, approximately 1.01 kilometres (km) north of the village of Barrow 
upon Trent and 2.14km north-west of the village of Swarkestone. The overall 
site covers an area of 69.3 hectares (ha) with the greater portion being in 
Derby City.  
 
The site stretches for approximately 2.1km between a small watercourse 
(Cuttle Brook) in the north to Deep Dale Lane in the south. With the exception 
of the A50 where the new junction is proposed, the majority of the site is 
agricultural land. Three watercourses, Main Drain, Cuttle Brook and Barrow 
Drain run through the site. Sinfin Moor Lane, which runs parallel to Main 
Drain, is the main means of access to Lea Farm. It is also a Regional Route 
66 of the National Cycle Network (managed by Sustrans) and a public right of 

Page 45



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    4 
11 January 2021 

way. The site is bounded by agricultural land to the south and east and by the 
residential areas of Sinfin and Stenson Fields to the north and west. The 
residential area of Chellaston is c. 1.6km to the east, and a number of 
dispersed farmsteads are close to the site:  Lea Farm 230m to the east, 
Lowes Farm 1.1km to the east and Merry Bower Farm 1.2km to the south-
west. The development at Arleston Farm is 1km to the west. Ashlea Farm is a 
farmstead situated close to the A50 and within the Derbyshire application site. 
The topography of the proposal site is relatively flat, lying between 38.8 
metres (m) Above Ordnance Datum (mAOD) in the south and 38.7mAOD in 
the north. Within the wider landscape, the landform rises to the east at 
Chellaston Hill (78mAOD) and to the north-west at Sunny Hill, Derby 
(67mAOD). To the south of the A50, the land rises to form a ridge of higher 
land (55-60mAOD), including a local rise at Barrow Hill (62mAOD).  
 
A number of designated and non-designated heritage assets are close to 
the site, although none are within it. Of these, a grade II* registered historic 
park and garden associated with Swarkestone Old Hall  (2.65km to the 
south-east of the site boundary) and Swarkestone Lows Round Barrow 
Cemetery (scheduled monument 1.8km to the east) are the most 
significant. Other listed buildings and structures include the grade II listed 
Trent and Mersey Canal Deep Dale Bridge Number 17 at SK3485 2923, 
272m to the south and the grade II listed Arleston House farmhouse, 1km 
to the west. Beyond that, there is a small grouping of listed structures 
associated with the Trent and Mersey Canal (1.6km to the south-east), and 
the grade II Lowes Farmhouse and attached buildings, (1.1km to the east). 
Further groupings of listed buildings are found in the nearby villages of 
Barrow upon Trent, Twyford and Swarkestone. The nearest conservation 
areas are the Trent and Mersey Canal conservation area (295m to the 
south), Twyford (2.05km to the south-west), Barrow upon Trent (1.01km to 
the south) and Swarkestone (2.01km to the south-east).  
 
Boulton Moor Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), a geological SSSI 
of interest for its unusual underlying glacial and fluvial sequence, is c. 
2.1km to the east. No other internationally or nationally designated nature 
conservation sites are within 2.5km of the application site. There are some 
Local Wildlife Sites (LWSs) located in the proposal site and others are 
close to the proposal site. Sinfin Moor Lane Stream LWS (water 
vole/flowing water rivers streams) and Cuttle Brook LWS (water 
vole/flowing water rivers streams) are in the site. Arleston Canal and Pond 
LWS (habitat mosaic) is c. 250m to the south-west. Sinfin Moor Lane 
Meadows (habitat mosaic) is c. 235m to the north and north-west, Sinfin 
Moor Lane Park LWS (habitat mosaic) is immediately to the north and 
west, and Moor Plantation LWS (secondary, broad leaved woodland) is 
475m to the east. Immediately to the west of the northern site boundary is 
Sinfin Moor Park Local Nature Reserve (SMPLNR) which is, in part, in the 
wider Sinfin Moor Lane Park LWS and the Sinfin Moor Lane Meadows 

Page 46



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    5 
11 January 2021 

LWS. The site is also part of the Sinfin Moor Regionally Important 
Geological Site (RIGS), a large area that has been identified as a glacial lake 
and which is underlain by gleyed, calcareous blue-grey lacustrine clays 
containing remnants of a molluscan fauna. 
 
Much of the site is in Flood Zone 3, with the land immediately to the south of 
the city administrative boundary being in Flood Zone 2. The southernmost 
section of the site, a broad swathe of land stretching 200m south and 450m 
north of the A50, is not in any flood zone.  
 
There are a number of public rights of way (PROW) to the south, forming a 
dense network of paths connecting to the Trent and Mersey Canal.  Barrow 
upon Trent Bridleway number 10 is 0.7km to the east. Barrow upon Trent 
Footpath (FP) number 9 runs along the towpath of the Trent and Mersey 
Canal and is 0.22km south of the application site. Two further public footpaths, 
Barrow upon Trent FP number 4 and Barrow upon Trent FP number 5, meet 
the Canal along its southern boundary and, at their closest point, would be 
within 0.3km and 0.5km of the application site respectively. Swarkestone FP 
number 9, which is 1.8km to the east, runs on a south-north alignment 
between the Trent and Mersey Canal and the southern extent of the Derby to 
Melbourne stretch of National Cycleway Network route 6. 
 
Planning Background 

The proposed junction and link road are a key element of Infinity Garden 
Village (IGV). IGV is being planned as one of 14 new ‘garden villages’ that it is 
proposed will be delivered across England, support for which was announced 
by the Government in January 2017. The IGV concept emerged from various 
components of proposed major growth on the southern edge of Derby 
(previously referred to as the South Derby Growth Zone (SDGZ)), as 
proposed in the following Local Plans:  the Adopted Derby City Local Plan 
Part 1 (DCLP:P1), Adopted South Derbyshire Local Plan Part 1 (SDLP:P1) 
and Adopted South Derbyshire Local Plan Part 2 (SDLP:P2). It is envisaged 
that the IGV would deliver the following:  
 

 around 2,130 new homes on land at Wragley Way, Sinfin supported by a 
primary school, local centre and extensive network of “green and blue 
infrastructure”; 

 around 117ha of new employment space as an extension to Infinity Park 
Derby; 

 a new secondary school; and 

 the delivery of new transport infrastructure including the Southern Derby 
Integrated Transport Link (SDITL) and a new junction on the A50 i.e. 
infrastructure corresponding to the current proposal. 

 

Some outline and some full/detailed planning permissions have been granted 
for developments that are on local plan allocations associated with the IGV. 

Page 47



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    6 
11 January 2021 

Some of the fully consented developments are currently under construction 
and some nearing completion. Within Derby, these include the east-west 
section of the link road (permission code: 11/15/01379), and 50 dwellings on 
land east of Deep Dale Lane (permission code DER/02/15/00211), which are 
already consented under planning permission reference 11/15/01379. 
Applications have also recently been submitted to both Derby City Council 
(code no: 19/00877/OUT) and South Derbyshire District Council (SDDC) 
(application code no: DMPA/2019/1097), for a total of 1,850 dwellings to the 
south of Wragley Way. A further application, for the residential development 
of up to 100 dwellings including infrastructure and associated works 
(application code 9/2017/0922), has been submitted to SDDC, also 
currently undetermined.  
 
The Proposal 
The development is proposed for the construction of a new junction (Junction 
3A) on the A50 Derby Southern Bypass and a link road running between this 
new junction and Infinity Park Way to the north-east. It would also result in the 
loss of agricultural land and mature trees. The proposal also involves ancillary 
works, including the creation of two flood storage areas, the diversion of 
watercourses, safety improvements to Deep Dale Lane, and the demolition of 
buildings at Ashlea Farm (to accommodate the new junction).  
 
The proposed grade separated junction, which would be located at the 
existing Deep Dale Lane A50 overbridge, would comprise a new dumbbell 
roundabout arrangement with four new slip roads leading onto/off the A50 
providing an all-movement direct access.  
 
The proposed link road would run northwards from the junction on an 
approximate south-west/north-east alignment. The southernmost 300m of the 
link road, as it leaves the new junction, would be dual carriageway, beyond 
which it would be single carriageway. The link road would also be lit. Two 
roundabouts would be provided along the proposed road to serve as means of 
access to and from future developments. Shared footway/cycleway provision 
would also be provided. A new traffic signal-controlled Pegasus crossing 
would be created at Sinfin Moor Lane in order to facilitate the safe crossing of 
the link road by existing pedestrian, cycle and equestrian users of this lane. 
Gated vehicle access would be provided along the length of the link road for 
maintenance purposes. 
 
The road corridor would be constructed on a low earth mound (of varying 
heights between 0.5m to 2.0m above existing ground levels). The overall road 
corridor would be 28.6m wide on the dual carriageway section before 
narrowing to 16.3m wide for the single carriageway sections. To allow for 
minor variations, the application also includes a plan (the parameter plan) 
which identifies the maximum extent of any possible deviation (+/- 2m either 

Page 48



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    7 
11 January 2021 

side). The alignment of the road within this parameter plan has been 
accounted for within the Environmental Statement (ES).  
 
Flood alleviation measures are proposed including two flood compensation 
areas west of the link road. The proposed development would also need to 
cross the water courses identified above, including Barrow Drain, and would 
require the partial diversion of these, as well as some minor ditch 
improvement works in the vicinity of the proposed junction. Provision for 
surface water drainage would be made in the form of kerbs and gullies, 
combined kerb drainage, etc. Wherever possible, above ground sustainable 
drainage systems, such as swales, ponds, and ditches, would be utilised. 
Balancing ponds would be provided with flows into watercourses restricted to 
the greenfield run-off rates. The application indicates that some regrading of 
outfall ditches and watercourses would also be required.  
 
Ancillary works would include the provision of street lighting to roundabouts 
and link road; post and rail fencing to demarcate the highway boundary; safety 
fencing (mainly within the A50 Junction works); signposts and other street 
signage. A 2.5m high acoustic fence (wholly within the Derby City area) would 
be erected as noise mitigation for the users of the SMPLNR. Temporary 
construction compound/soil storage areas would be located in the Derby City 
area, close to the iHUB innovation centre. 
  
The development would also require the permanent removal of three parking 
lay-bys and one emergency lay-by on the A50. Deep Dale Lane, where it lies 
north of the A50, would also need to be realigned to tie in with the proposed 
junction and widened to 5.5m width to allow for increased traffic 
movements/traffic management measures.  
 
The application includes a green infrastructure strategy (GIS) which sets out 
the vision for the proposed development’s green infrastructure. The GIS 
proposes the protection of existing landscape features and makes provision 
for measures to mitigate impacts on the SMPLNR including the creation of 
new landscape habitats around it and compensatory planting to mitigate for 
the loss of hedgerows and trees, and enhance biodiversity and landscape 
character. It also seeks to deliver green infrastructure habitats that would be 
managed for biodiversity and recreational benefits; and accessible green 
space with recreational routes.  
 
For the purposes of clarity, those sections of the overall development which 
are within Derbyshire/South Derbyshire are the proposed new A50 junction 
and its associated slip roads, the southernmost (approximately 0.8km) stretch 
of the proposed link road (dual and single carriageway sections and the 
southernmost roundabout) and the southern section (approximately one third) 
of the western flood storage area. The northernmost section of the proposed 
link road (approximately 0.81km), one roundabout, the northernmost flood 

Page 49



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    8 
11 January 2021 

storage area and the upper two thirds of the western flood storage area are all 
in Derby.  
 
Post-Submission Revisions 
Following two rounds of consultation, the applicant has revised the scheme in 
the following areas: 
 

 the addition of approximately 2.2km street lighting on the A50 through 
Junction 3A and associated slip roads;  

 the conversion of 2 emergency lay-bys on the A50 to parking lay-bys to 
provide additional car parking capacity;  

 the addition of 2 lay-bys on the link road to provide additional parking 
capacity;  

 the provision of four areas of maintenance hardstanding on the A50 (two 
on the new junction and one each on the eastbound and west bound 
carriageways);  

 the amendment of the southern roundabout at the proposed A50 Junction 
3A to a ‘tear drop’ shape to ensure that it has sufficient capacity if IGV 
comes forward in totality;  

 the addition of a second exit lane from the northern dumbbell roundabout;  

 the addition of mitigation works at Infinity Park Way/Wilmore Road and 
Merrill Way/Boulton Lane (within Derby City);  

 the addition of traffic calming measures at Deep Dale Lane (within Derby 
City);  

 the revision to the size of the materials and stockpile areas to be able to 
contain approximately 18,000 metres cubed (m3) of topsoil and 24,000m3 
of subsoil respectively thereby reducing volume of materials and stockpile 
area by 22,064m2;  

 the revised position of drainage swales and footpath/cycleway; and  

 the amendment of the design of the flood storage areas (to satisfy the 
needs of the current proposal and balance the needs of the IGV/Project 
Box development) and proposed culverts (to ensure sufficient freeboard 
from design flood level).  

 
Environmental Statement  

The application is accompanied by an ES which includes a description of the 
site and its surroundings, details of the proposed development and 
alternatives, and baseline information and technical reports prepared by 
specialist consultants relating to socio-economics; landscape and visual 
impacts; biodiversity; cultural heritage; transport and access; air quality; noise 
and vibration; drainage and flood risk; ground conditions and contamination; 
and cumulative and in combination effects. 
 
The Company has also submitted supplementary environmental information 
(SEI) to the ES in response to comments made by consultees including 
information under a July 2020 addendum to the ES. The further information 

Page 50



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    9 
11 January 2021 

relates to air quality, noise, hydrology and flood risk, transport, archaeology 
and a reservoir breach analysis in respect of the two flood storage areas. The 
applicant has confirmed that an addendum of July 2019 has been superseded 
by the 2020 addendum. 
 
The contents of these submissions and the planning issues raised are 
addressed in the ‘Planning Considerations Section’ below. 
 
Consultations  

The application has been subject to several rounds of consultation. 
 
Local Member 
Councillor Neil Atkin (Repton) has been notified. He has indicated that he has 
registered his interest as an owner of land that would be affected by the 
proposed development, and will not be commenting on the application.  
 
Adjacent Councillor Martyn Ford (Etwall and Repton) has also been notified.  
 
Derby City Council 
Appropriate liaison has taken place between the County Council’s planning 
service and the City Council, as well as with specialist teams in the County 
Council including the Lead Local Flood team, and officers representing the 
County Council as applicant. This has guided both Councils, in preparing to 
report on the applications for their respective areas as planning authorities, 
towards taking similar and consistent approaches to identifying potential 
measures for controlling and monitoring the proposed development. The 
informal consultation through this liaison has assisted in the production of the 
proposed draft outline of requirements for conditions contained in my 
recommendation below.  
 

With regard to specific environmental issues associated with the proposal, the 
Derby City Environmental Protection team raised no objections in respect of 
noise subject to the imposition of conditions requiring a construction 
environmental management plan (CEMP) and further noise mitigation 
measures for dwellings in the City. Following the submission of further 
information, the Team also had no objections to the proposals in respect of air 
quality, noting that given the potential benefits (resulting from the redistribution 
of traffic from existing congested routes), it strongly supported the application 
on air quality grounds, considering it an essential part of ensuring the impacts 
associated with IGV are mitigated as far as possible. 
 
The City Council considered the impacts of the development on flood risk and 
the potential adverse impacts of the proposed flood storage areas (which 
constitute reservoirs under the Reservoirs Act 1975) on local communities. 
Whilst no objection were raised, conditions were requested including a 

Page 51



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    10 
11 January 2021 

Handover Management Plan (HEMP) which would make provision for the 
ongoing management and maintenance of the flood storage areas.  
 
At the time of writing, no final comments had been received in respect of 
highway safety. Any comments received will be reported on orally at 
Committee. 
 
South Derbyshire District Council - Planning  
SDDC raises no objection to the proposals and states its support, noting that 
the delivery of the road is of paramount importance in unlocking the SDGZ 
area for development thereby enabling the delivery of the identified housing 
and employment needs of both SDDC and Derby City. 
 

With regard to likely environmental impacts, SDDC raises specific comments 
in respect of transport and access, biodiversity, drainage/flood risk as detailed 
below. 
 
Transport and Access  
SDDC raised concerns regarding the potential for the link road to act as a 
barrier to the east/west movement of pedestrians and cyclists, as well as the 
potential impacts of the proposals on the local road network. SDDC also 
commented that, if the sustainable live/work objectives set out in the 
Development Framework Document (DFD) are to be met, IGV should be 
‘permeable’ for sustainable modes of transport, noting that a single ‘Pegasus’ 
crossing’, as initially proposed, would be not be adequate to ensure safe and 
suitable means of access.  
 
With regard to potential impacts on the existing local road network, SDDC 
highlights the potential for congestion on north/south routes through Sinfin 
and/or Stenson Fields, resulting from the increased connectivity brought by 
the proposals and requested further consideration on this issue. Further 
modelling was also requested in respect of the impacts to Deep Dale Lane 
south of the proposed A50 junction, as well as the junction of the A5132 and 
A514 in Swarkestone. 
 
Biodiversity  

SDDC noted the loss of trees/hedgerows but did not believe that such losses 
would be significant if compensatory habitat were provided. Whilst noting the 
more significant losses, e.g. a line of Poplar trees which form a visual barrier 
through the IGV, as well as cover either side of Sinfin Lane, SDDC 
acknowledged that the proposed road alignment would result in the least 
possible effect on this vegetation. With this in mind, SDDC did not consider 
statutory protection of these trees would be warranted or reasonable, given 
the wider need and benefits of the scheme, subject to appropriate conditions 
being applied to ensure protection of vegetation to be retained. SDDC also 
noted that a few veteran trees were identified which are afforded protection by 

Page 52



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    11 
11 January 2021 

polices BNE3 and BNE7 of the SDLP:P1, as well as being classified 
‘irreplaceable habitat’ in the NPPF. SDDC considers that appropriate 
protection buffers would be achievable for those located in South Derbyshire 
but highlights three veteran trees in Derby City which would be adversely 
affect by the proposals.  
 
Drainage 
SDDC commented that the design of the drainage should recognise the 
concept of integrated ‘green’ and ‘blue’ infrastructure as envisaged by the 
DFD, with water bodies designed to serve multiple purposes, as well as linking 
with the LNR to which they would relate.  
 
Design 

The proposed narrow width (1.5m) of the highway verges would compromise 
the ability to provide adequate tree planting which, given the nature of the 
route and its intended purpose, is particularly important. SDDC recommended 
that the verges be widened to 2.5m-3m and be continued around the 
proposed roundabouts. The SDDC first response also noted the lack of 
provision for pedestrian and cycle movements south through the underpass 
and continuing down Deep Dale Lane and requested that the scheme be 
amended to include this.  
 
No comments were received following the second round of consultation, 
however, following the third round of consultation, SDDC reiterated that it had 
no objections to the scheme subject to its previous comments being taken into 
account. SDDC also commented that it accepted that the reasons for the 
scheme not incorporating some of its aspirations were due to the physical 
constraints of the site and the proposal.  
 
Environmental Health Officer  

The Environmental Health Officer (EHO) raises no objections to the proposals 
subject to conditions relating to a CEMP, a scheme of noise mitigation and 
potential ground contamination. 
 
Barrow upon Trent Parish Council 
Raise no objections to the proposals. 
 
Stenson Fields Parish Council  
Stenson Fields Parish Council (SFPC) objects to the proposals on the ground 
that the Transport Assessment (TA) does not consider the volume of traffic on 
the surrounding roads (including Stenson Road) during construction, and 
requests that a review of traffic flows during this period be undertaken, taking 
into account cumulative impacts associated with construction related delays 
on the A52 and the closure of the slip roads into Pride Park.   
 

Page 53



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    12 
11 January 2021 

Comments were also received in respect of the closure of Arleston Lane and 
provision of a footbridge on Stenson Road and pedestrian lights were also 
received but are not relevant to the consideration of this application.   
 
Department for Transport 
The Department for Transport (DfT) was consulted by Highways England as 
part of the consultation process because that national agency organisation, 
unlike its predecessor, lacks authority to agree to new junctions on the 
strategic road network. The DfT provided the following response:  
 
“The Secretary of State has seen the proposal for a grade-separated junction 
on the strategic road network (between junctions 3 and 4 on the A50 Derby 
Southern Bypass section) and connecting link roads.  
 
He has considered whether there is a case for a Departure given the proposal 
is for a new connection to the strategic road network which was not previously 
identified. Where the strategic growth test cannot be met, the Circular does 
not allow additional junctions with, or direct means of access to, motorways 
and other routes of near motorway standard.  
 
As part of his consideration the Secretary of State has:   
 

 Determined that as the junction does not fall within the exemptions made 
in the Circular at paragraph 40, the case for a Departure must be made.  

 Looked at the intention of the policy and the need to maintain the safe and 
efficient running of the SRN.  

 Considered the impacts and benefits the exit would have on the operation 
of the A50 and the impacts on the local road network if the current 
permitted access is used.  

 Taken into account the wider impacts, including the housing and economic 
growth opportunities the new junction will unlock.  

 Taken into consideration that Highways England have assessed a road 
safety audit setting out the type and level of improvements the applicant is 
prepared to make to ensure the safety of SRN users.  

 
On balance the Secretary of State considers that a Departure from Circular 
02/13 allowing the junction would not impact negatively on the users of the 
SRN. He also considers that the boundary related matters should be 
addressed through the conditions put forward by Highways England in 
ANNEX A of this letter”. 

 
Highways England 
Highways England (HiEn) has provided three responses in respect of the 
proposals. In its first response, HiEn made a holding objection pending the 
submission of further information relating to traffic modelling and the proposed 

Page 54



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    13 
11 January 2021 

permanent closure of four existing lay-bys on the A50. In respect of traffic 
modelling, the response states: 
 
‘We note that the JUNCTIONS 9 traffic modelling tool has been adopted to 
carry out the capacity assessment of the junction.  
 
From review of the JUNCTIONS 9 results presented in the Transport 
Assessment, in the 2030 scenario with all allocated elements of the South 
Derby Growth Zone (SDGZ) in place, the A50 eastern off-slip (to the southern 
roundabout) is shown to operate with an RFC of 0.89. In the 2030 scenario 
with the full SDGZ in place, performance of this approach is shown to worsen 
with an RFC of 1.02.  
 
As DMRB guidance (TA 23/81) identifies an RFC of 0.85 as being the limit of 
capacity for priority-controlled roundabouts, the JUNCTIONS 9 results show 
the junction to operate over capacity, significantly so in the full SDGZ 
scenario.  
 
The purpose of the proposed scheme is to accommodate significant growth 
plans in the area, namely the SDGZ, and as such consideration should be 
given to the scheme’s ability to accommodate the forecast traffic demands 
from this growth region.  
 
For a grade separated junction, VISSIM modelling work is considered more 
appropriate for representing likely network performance and we acknowledge 
that this has been used to assess the proposed scheme in addition to the 
JUNCTIONS 9 work.  
 
We note from the Transport Assessment that static assignment of traffic has 
been adopted within the VISIM model. Although there is no option for 
alternative route choices within the modelled network, Highways England’s 
preference is usually that traffic be dynamically assigned where possible, 
however, static assignment is often appropriate dependent on model 
parameters. Once the capacity concerns raised above have been addressed, 
the VISSIM models should be provided for review’. 
 
HiEn also requested further information, including a review of lay-by provision 
in the A50 corridor in this location, regarding the proposed closure of the four 
lay-bys to enable it to assess the implications of such a closure.  
 
The response also provides information about the formal procedure for the 
DfT to approve proposed new junctions on the strategic road network, as 
mentioned above.  
 

In its second response, HiEn made a further holding objection pending the 
submission of further information to address continued concerns regarding the 

Page 55



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    14 
11 January 2021 

applicant’s traffic modelling and proposed lay-by provision. With regard to 
traffic modelling, HiEn acknowledged that the traffic model adopted in the ES 
addendum was acceptable but raised concerns regarding the methodology 
used to calculate traffic flows around the junction. With regard to the lay-bys, 
HiEn noted that whilst the addendum concluded that the proposed removal of 
the lay-bys would not result in negative impact on safety or spacing, it also 
required that additional capacity be provided. 
 
Following the submission of the second addendum to the ES, HiEn has 
confirmed that it no longer has any comments to make in respect of the TA 
and recommended a number of conditions relating to drainage, geotechnics, 
proposed tree plant and street lighting.  
 

Following the recent approval response from the DfT for the creation of the 
new junction as referred to above, HiEn has, subject to certain conditions, 
indicated a withdrawal of its holding objection. 
 
Highway Authority  
Derbyshire County Council, in its role as highway authority consultee (HA), 
has provided three responses.  
 
In its initial response, the HA mentioned that the application is an 
infrastructure only proposal which, in itself, would not address the effects of all 
traffic generated by IGV and that additional infrastructure would be needed to 
deliver and mitigate the effects of this. On this basis, in principle, the HA 
raised no objections to the proposal.  However, whilst (with the exception of 
construction traffic) the effects of the application proposals would be relatively 
limited in respect of Derbyshire County Council’s highway network, the HA 
raised concerns regarding such works being introduced in isolation without 
further consideration of the diversionary effects of traffic movement on the 
highway network (in particular Deep Dale Lane, Sinfin Lane, Wragley Way 
and Stenson Road). The HA also mentioned that the phasing of the 
works/construction activity would also influence any traffic impact and 
requested further information. The HA also stated that a further consequence 
of the approach taken in the TA would be to limit mitigation for the anticipated 
diversionary trips in the vicinity of the new junction to widening Deep Dale 
Lane to 5.5m, as well as a number of traffic calming measures within the city 
boundary. As such, the HA considered that there was insufficient evidence to 
conclude that proposed works in isolation would be sufficient to mitigate the 
diversionary and attractant impact of the new junction on the existing network. 
 

Following the second consultation exercise, the HA reiterated a view that the 
proposed road and junction might be insufficient to accommodate the overall 
traffic generated by IGV and that its acceptability was based on a premise that 
alternative routes would also be available to mitigate the impacts of that 
development. Further clarification was requested in respect of: the connection/ 

Page 56



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    15 
11 January 2021 

phasing of the proposed link road with the existing highway network to the 
north; the extent of land to be put forward for adoption; construction phasing; 
any mitigation measures to reduce impacts to the Stenson Road/Wragley Way 
and the A514/Barrow Lane (A5132) junctions; monitoring for the Barrow 
Lane/A514 junction; and a Stage 1 Safety Audit. The HA also noted that legal 
agreements between the three highway authorities (the County Council, Derby 
City Council and Highways England) would need to be in place prior to the 
commencement of construction works, as well as the weight limit on Deep 
Dale Lane being relocated to exclude the proposed roundabouts.  
 
In its final response, the HA raised no objections on the basis that the 
proposed development would be ‘commensurate to the quantum of 
development that it is expected to serve and is satisfied that the modelling is 
adequate to demonstrate that the capacity of the junction and new road can 
accommodate that anticipated development’. However, it further stated that 
this view was predicated upon the later delivery of an east-west link 
(considered essential for the overall function of the proposed future 
development), between Infinity Park and the primarily residential development 
south of Wragley Way. The HA also signalled that the proposed dumbbell 
junction arrangement does not have sufficient capacity to accommodate all 
development traffic associated with IGV. 
 
Historic England  

Historic England (HE) raises no objections to the proposals and recommends 
that this Authority seek the views of its own specialist conservation and 
archaeological advisers. 
 
Natural England 
Based on the information submitted, Natural England (NE) raised no 
objections to the proposals in respect of potential impacts to the Boulton Moor 
SSSI.  
 
With regard to soils and best and most versatile (BMV) agricultural land, NE 
noted that the proposals would not lead to the loss of more than 20ha of BMV 
land and, as a consequence, did not make detailed comments in this respect 
but recommended that the general guidance set out in the Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) Construction Code of Practice 
for the Sustainable Use of Soils on Construction Sites be followed during the 
construction phase of the development.  
 
NE welcomes the green infrastructure element of the proposals and 
recommends the imposition of a condition in order to secure a scheme of 
green infrastructure creation.  
 
 
 

Page 57



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    16 
11 January 2021 

Derbyshire Wildlife Trust 
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust (DWT) raises no objections to the proposal, noting 
that the site is dominated by intensively managed arable land with a network 
of native hedgerows that would meet the definition of Habitat of Principal 
Importance and that the proposals would result in the loss of at least 1,455m 
of native hedgerow priority habitat. Whilst the Sinfin Moor LWS crosses the 
site, DWT considers that the loss of a small section of bankside, due to 
culverting, would be of only minor significance to the LWS. 
 
DWT accepts the conclusions with regard to bats and great crested newts 
(GCNs) and support the recommendations set out in Section 5.12 of the bat 
survey with regard to lighting, advising that a condition be imposed in this 
respect. DWT also confirms that sufficient information has been provided to 
enable the authority to discharge its duty in respect of The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 
 

With regard to badger, DWT supports the recommendation for further, pre-
commencement survey work to be undertaken, which it considered should be 
secured by condition and concur that reptiles, water vole and otter are unlikely 
to be present at the site but requested the imposition of a condition requiring a 
pre-commencement survey for water vole, as per the recommendations set 
out in the ES. DWT also requests a condition preventing ground or vegetation 
clearance works during the bird nesting season without survey work being 
undertaken beforehand. 
 
DWT is generally supportive of the GI Masterplan, commenting that it 
expected it to include the replanting of sufficient species rich native 
hedgerows to compensate for those lost within the application site, and 
requesting that conditions requiring the submission of a CEMP and a 
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) be imposed.  
 
In its second response, DWT made no further comments in respect of the 
proposal but asked that a revised condition in respect of badger be imposed 
on any permission.  
 
Following the third consultation exercise, DWT notes that appropriate 
consideration has been given to potential ecological impacts associated with 
additional lighting and the creation of lay-bys on the A50 and concurs that the 
lighting would not result in unacceptable impact to bats and that the 
construction of the lay-bys would not result in loss of habitats of nature 
conservation value. . In general, DWT considers that the proposed tree and 
hedge planting should compensate for vegetation removed and that the 
proposed GIS of the overall scheme should deliver significant net gain for 
biodiversity.  
 
 

Page 58



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    17 
11 January 2021 

Environment Agency 
The Environment Agency (EA) has made four responses in respect of the 
proposal. In its initial response, the EA objected on the basis that the hydraulic 
model on which the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) is based was not fit for 
purpose because no information/survey work was provided to enable relevant 
checks to be carried out and because the modelling undertaken used 
inappropriate software.  
 
In addition to flood risk, the EA also provided comments in respect of 
groundwater/contaminated land, stating that it was satisfied with the 
assessment of risk to controlled water receptors and requested the imposition 
of a condition relating to the remediation of previously unidentified ground 
contamination. 
 
With regard to the ecology of the Sinfin Moor LWS and Barrow Drain, the EA 
stated that the development would only be acceptable if a landscape 
management scheme is secured via condition in accordance with paragraphs 
170 and 175 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The EA 
indicated that in the event that no such condition was imposed, it would object 
to the proposal because it cannot be guaranteed that the development will not 
result in significant harm to Sinfin Moor Lane Stream LWS and Barrow Drain. 
A condition relating to water quality in the Cuttle Brook and its tributaries was 
also requested.  
 
Following the submission of the first addendum to the ES, the EA continued to 
object on the basis that the hydraulic model was not considered fit for 
purpose. Issues identified with the submitted model related to major issues 
with hydrology and hydraulics. With regard to hydrology, the EA requested 
that current best industry practice be followed so that sewer influence is 
accounted for. An audit trail in line with EA guidelines was also recommended. 
Whilst the further information was noted to address the hydraulic issues raised 
in its initial response, the EA considered that further clarification was required.  
 
In its final response, the EA removed its objection, subject to the imposition of 
conditions relating to flood risk; ground contamination; the requirement for a 
landscape and ecological management plan and water quality. The response 
also mentioned that the two proposed flood storage areas were considered to 
be reservoirs for the purposes of the Reservoirs Act 1975 and provided advice 
in this respect. It was also recommended that this Authority consult the 
Council’s Emergency Planning team.   
 
Derbyshire County Council Emergency Planning 
Emergency Planning (EP) raised no objections to the proposal but noted that 
the two flood storage areas would meet the criteria for large raised reservoirs 
under The Reservoirs Act 1975 because they would have the potential to 
store more than 25,000 cubic metres (m3) of water above ground level. EP 

Page 59



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    18 
11 January 2021 

also provided advisory notes for the Council as applicant which are set out at 
the end of the report.  
 
EP commented that consideration of ongoing maintenance and liabilities 
(maintenance costs; incident costs; onsite reservoir flood plans etc.) should be 
recognised and that the risk of major reservoir dam failure/collapse is currently 
identified and classified as “High” on the Community Risk Registers for both 
Derbyshire County and Derby City areas.  On review of the application, EP 
noted that the reservoirs may require off site plans to be created due to their 
capacity.  These would be multi-agency plans including partner agencies and 
members of the Local Resilience Forum (LRF). 
 
Finally, whilst neither of the breach analyses of the flood storage areas appear 
to impact on any existing developments in themselves, EP requested that any 
future developments planned for this area should give consideration as to how 
these can be made safe from a potential breach. Future developments may 
also increase the risk profile of the reservoir and thus the emergency planning 
work associated with it. 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority  

Derbyshire County Council in its role as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), 
has provided two responses. In its initial response, the LLFA requested further 
information/clarification in respect of proposed greenfield/brownfield rates of 
run-off for different sections of the proposals and the justification for this 
approach; the localised impacts on groundwater levels resulting from the 
dewatering of historic mines; and details of the additional treatment stages 
proposed for existing highway drainage. 
 
Further information was also requested in respect of the FRA, with regard to 
pluvial run-off risk from land outside the application site as this, combined with 
the localised ditch network and shallow groundwater levels, indicates that the 
combined risk would be greater than predicted. Further information was also 
requested in respect of existing field drains; the future management, 
maintenance and means of access to the flood storage areas; positive flood 
plain compensation; maintenance/access to nearby electricity infrastructure; 
impacts on surrounding water table levels as a result of the proposed lowering 
of ground levels; confirmation that the low flow channel would be capable of 
accommodating all flows that are proposed to be discharged into it; 
confirmation that flood mitigation measures would not result in a negative 
impact on the surrounding area; accurate locations of each of the culverts that 
have been modelled; and information regarding the exact climate change 
scenario to be used.  
 
Following the submission of the addendum to the ES, the LLFA confirmed that 
the proposed surface water discharge rates (greenfield rates of 4.4l/s/ha for 
the sections of highway on greenfield land and the remaining existing highway 

Page 60



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    19 
11 January 2021 

network as 623l/s) would be sufficient to prevent an increase in run-off 
entering the existing catchment. The LLFA noted that the required flood 
attenuation areas for the greenfield area (3697m3) and existing infrastructure 
area (3879m3) would be provided by a mixture of conveyance swales and 
attenuation basins adjacent to the highway prior to discharge to nearby 
watercourses. The LLFA draws attention to the importance of future 
maintenance (including the necessary funding) of the northern and western 
flood attenuation areas, which it considered significant flood risk management 
assets, and stated that a robust maintenance plan and funding for the lifetime 
of the asset should be in place. The LLFA also recommends the imposition of 
conditions relating to surface water drainage, as well as a number of advisory 
notes for the applicant.  
 
East Midlands Airport  
East Midlands Airport (EMA) raised no safeguarding objections to the 
proposals 
 
In response to the second round of consultation, EMA requested that, 
wherever possible, the water attenuation basins are planted with willow and 
alder to create wet woodland/carr rather than open ponds. This would offer 
valuable habitat for flora and fauna while minimising the site’s attraction to 
large waterfowl. 
 

Derby Airport 

Raised no objections to the proposals 
 
Cadent Gas Limited 

Initially objected on the basis that there were two high pressure gas mains that 
would be affected by the proposals. Following direct discussions with the 
applicant, Cadent Gas withdrew its objection subject to the addition of an 
informative note for the applicant indicating that further direct liaison must take 
place prior to the commencement of the development. 
 
Health and Safety Executive  

Health and Safety Executive (HSE) initially responded to say that it advises 
against the development taking place because the risk of harm to people at 
the proposed development site, resulting from damage to the high pressure 
pipelines, would be such that there are sufficient reasons on safety grounds 
for the permission to be refused.  
 
Following the provision of the Cadent Gas responses, HSE commented that it 
does not advise against the granting of planning permission subject to Cadent 
Gas being satisfied that the appropriate standards are maintained where the 
pipelines cross/encroach upon the proposed traffic route as required by the 
Institution of Gas Engineers and Managers (IGEM) (Sections 6.10.2 - 6.10.4 
of IGEM TD/ TD1 - 'Steel pipelines and associated installations for high 

Page 61



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    20 
11 January 2021 

pressure gas transmission'), or any detailed internal standards used by 
Cadent Gas.  
 
Public Health England  
Public Health England (PHE) states that its main concerns are air pollution 
emissions of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter during the 
construction, operation and future operation phases of the development. PHE 
identifies the primary air pollution sources as construction machinery, 
construction dust and road traffic emissions. PHE notes that the air quality 
chapter in the ES takes into account Derby’s nitrogen dioxide clean air zone to 
improve air quality and recommends that the developer work closely with 
Derby City Council’s Clean Air Zone team to enable the impact from the 
proposed development to be considered in any Clean Air Zone planning and 
future work improving air pollution emissions in the future. 
 
PHE welcomes the NO2 and particulate matter modelling undertaken for the 
different phases of development and acknowledges that this indicates that the 
proposal would have negligible impacts and that annual mean air quality 
objectives at receptor locations would continue to be achieved. However, as 
emissions are likely to remain the same rather than reducing over time, PHE 
requests that the following be given consideration in the design of the 
application:  
 

 ‘Air pollution is considered to be the largest environmental hazard to public 
health.  

 Reducing public exposures to non-threshold pollutants (such as particulate 
matter and nitrogen dioxide) further below air quality standards has 
potential public health benefits...  

 Defra’s Clean Air Strategy 2019 has an aim to reduce particulate matter 
emissions nationally by 30% by 2020, and by 46% by 2030.  

 The World Health Organization (WHO) has recommended an annual 
mean guideline limit of 10 μg/m3 for PM2.5 to reduce people’s exposure. 
Defra have committed to support this in the Clean Air Strategy 2019. The 
application air quality modelling shows that none of the do something or 
do-nothing scenarios modelled of the new development would meet this 
guideline standard’.  

 
Friends of Sinfin Moor Park Local Nature Reserve  

Friends of Sinfin Moor Park Local Nature Reserve (FSMP) raised a large 
number of queries specific to the proposed A50 junction and link road, as well 
as issues more general to IGV. The issues raised that are specific to this 
proposal include, in summary, the following points: 
 

 clarity should be provided regarding the role and extent of responsibility of 
the proposed management company in the context of IGV;  

Page 62



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    21 
11 January 2021 

 the proposed level of consultation with stakeholders and the local 
community that the management company would be required to 
undertake, and how it would be funded; 

 flood mitigation areas should be accessible to the public with paths and 
seating areas provided; 

 all existing and proposed open green space should be seen as 
interdependent rather than separate entities; 

 more design detail should be provided in terms of the proposed flood 
mitigation and screening areas with FSMP being consulted on these. The 
design of these areas should also be reviewed after three years; 

 a circular cycle/disabled route should be provided through the green 
infrastructure areas to join up with Sinfin Moor Park; 

 the proposed cycle route should commence at the A50 junction and run 
through the new parkland up to Rolls Royce in the north; 

 planting should be provided along diverted watercourses;  

 detailed information about surface water run-off should be provided; and  

 various points of concern regarding aspects of the proposal specific to the 
Derby City area. 

 
In its second response, the FSMP raises several additional concerns 
including, in summary, the following points: 
 

 the proposed traffic calming measures on Deep Dale Lane would be 
inadequate; 

 cumulative effects on the western and southern flood alleviation areas 
associated with housing development have not been fully considered. The 
climate change 1 in 100 +50% is therefore inadequate; 

 no provision made for volunteer archaeological input;  

 no overall map of cycle routes linking Deep Dale Lane with the new 
developments and the plans are biased in favour of vehicular traffic; and  

 some further points regarding aspects of the proposal specific to the Derby 
City area. 

 
Note: The proposal is an essential infrastructure requirement of IGV and 
therefore is not a form of development that should be required to provide 
mitigation in the form of further developer contributions. 
 
Derbyshire Constabulary 
Raise no objections to the proposals. 
 
Western Power 
Raised no objections to the proposals, but notes the presence of high voltage 
overhead lines and underground cables that would need to be diverted before 
works commence, requesting that an informative note be added to any 

Page 63



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    22 
11 January 2021 

planning permission on what the developer should do about this prior to the 
commencement of development.  
 
National Planning Casework Unit 
Has no comments to make. 
 
Severn Trent Water and DEFRA  
Were consulted with a request for comments by 28 May 2019. No responses 
had been received at the time of writing. 
 
Publicity 
The application has been publicised four times by press notice (Derby 
Evening Telegraph), by site notice and by neighbour notification with a request 
for any comments by 26 May, 19 August 2019, 29 August 2020 and 3 
February 2021 respectively. Three representations, two objecting and one 
providing positive comments, have been received as a result of the publicity. 
The main issues can be summarised as: 
 

 no new roads should be built when our existing ones are in such poor 
condition and are in need of improvement; 

 public transport services should be improved, with good connections to 
Derby and the surrounding villages, rather than building new roads; 

 the development would result in the loss of natural resources which are 
finite; 

 there is no footway on the section of Deep Dale Lane between the Ragley 
Boat Stop and Sinfin; 

 encouraging to see cycling infrastructure considered. If well designed, the 
link road would provide an opportunity to improve cycling access to 
employers from nearby residential areas.   

 
One representation received provided more general comments regarding the 
wider IGV development, proposing that areas of central Derby should be 
considered as potential mixed residential/commercial areas rather than the 
development of more greenfield land. The representation also suggested that 
all houses should be constructed to use sustainable construction/energy/water 
resources.  
 
Note: This application is a standalone application for the provision of highway 
infrastructure associated with IGV and, as such, any comments regarding 
sustainable building techniques for dwellings, etc, are not material to its 
consideration. Sustainable drainage systems are considered in the planning 
consideration section of this report. 
 
Canal and River Trust  
The Trust submitted a representation as an affected landowner raising 
concerns about the impacts of the proposal on Barrow Bridge, which is the 

Page 64



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    23 
11 January 2021 

structure that Deep Dale Lane uses to cross the Canal. The Trust is 
concerned that the TA does not consider the potential for increased risk of the 
bridge being damaged through being hit by a vehicle (‘bridge strike’) due to 
increased vehicle movements on Deep Dale Lane, and  requests further 
consideration be given to the likely effect of the proposed new junction on 
traffic flows on Deep Dale Lane with specific consideration of the greater risk 
of frequency of bridge strikes at Barrow Bridge and the potential impacts on 
other road users associated with the subsequent repair works, e.g. road 
closures. The Trust also suggests potential mitigation measures to reduce the 
risk of damage to the bridge including CCTV or works to improve the splay on 
the north-west parapet to provide more space for vehicles which may have the 
potential to offset increased risks associated with increased vehicle 
movements. 
 
Pre-application Engagement Statement 
The applicant has also submitted a pre-application engagement statement 
(PES) providing details of the community engagement undertaken prior to the 
submission of the application. This included the creation of a dedicated 
webpage, an online consultation exercise that ran between 15 February 2019 
and 10 March 2019, two public exhibitions that took place in Sinfin on 28 
February 2019 and Barrow upon Trent on 4 March 2019, as well as a leaflet 
that was delivered to 1,714 households. Display boards were also placed at a 
number of public locations in the area, including a nearby supermarket, and 
two articles were published in Derbyshire Live on 18 and 28 February 2019. 
Direct engagement was also sought from FSMP and another local group, the 
Infinity Garden Village Liaison Group, the main purpose of which is to ensure 
that relevant local stakeholders are kept informed about all aspects of the 
wider IGV project, including the proposed junction and link road that are the 
subject of this application. The PES indicates that a combined total of 118 
responses were received as a result of these engagement exercises.  Of 
these, 71 (61%) responses offered positive or neutral comments, with the 
remaining 47 (39%) responses objecting to the proposals.  Issues raised 
include: increased pressures on existing strategic and, potentially unsuitable, 
local highway network (including through Barrow upon Trent, as well as other 
nearby villages south of the River Trent to avoid queuing traffic on the A50), 
and the lack of reference to sustainable travel in the proposal. Concerns were 
also raised regarding potential impacts to the SMPLNR, future maintenance of 
the new road/junction, highway safety and impacts to air quality. Positive 
comments were also received including the development providing a quicker, 
more reliable transport link and being necessary to support the level of 
proposed development in the area. 
 

In response to the comments, suggestions and questions received through the 
pre-application engagement process, the PES indicates that the applicant 
made the following pre-application changes to the proposal: 
 

Page 65



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    24 
11 January 2021 

 re-positioning of the proposed infrastructure from within the SMPLNR and 
away from the Sinfin residential area; 

 introduction of weight restriction at Deep Dale Lane; 

 traffic calming measures at the northern section of Deep Dale Lane, in 
close proximity to the school and existing residential properties; 

 installation of acoustic fencing near to the LNR; and 

 consideration to the future management of areas of open space. 
 
Planning Considerations 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
planning applications to be determined in accordance with the provisions of 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In 
relation to this application, the relevant policies of the development plan are 
contained in the policies of the SDLP:P1 (2016) and SDLP:P2 (2017) and the 
DCLP:P1 (2017). Other material considerations include national policy, as set 
out in the NPPF 2019 and associated Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). 
 
The Development Plan 

The application site falls within the administrative boundaries of two planning 
authorities, each with separate development plans. For clarity, the relevant 
development plan policies from both plan areas have been listed, although it is 
expected that a full assessment of the proposals, for that part of the proposed 
development within Derby City, against the policies of the DCLP will be 
undertaken by that Authority.  
 
South Derbyshire Local Plan (Part 1 and Part 2)  
This made up of two parts. Part 1 identifies strategic allocations and key 
policies. Part 2 is concerned with non-strategic allocations and more detailed 
Development Management policies. The policies of the SDLP that are most 
relevant to the development are: 
 
SDLP: Part 1 Policies 

S1: Sustainable Growth Strategy 
S2: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
S4: Housing Strategy  
S5: Employment Land Need  
S6: Sustainable Access  
H1: Settlement Hierarchy 
H15: Wragley Way, South of Derby  
E4: Strategic Location for Sinfin Moor Employment Site Extension  
SD1: Amenity and Environmental Quality  
SD2: Flood Risk  
SD3: Sustainable Water Supply, Drainage and Sewerage Infrastructure  
SD4: Contaminated Land and Mining Legacy Issues  
BNE1: Design Excellence  

Page 66



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    25 
11 January 2021 

BNE2: Heritage Assets  
BNE3: Biodiversity  
BNE4: Landscape Character and Local Distinctiveness  
INF2: Sustainable Transport  
INF4: Transport Infrastructure Improvement Scheme 
INF7: Green Infrastructure 
 
SDLP: Part 2 Policies 
BNE5: Development in Rural Areas  
BNE7: Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows  
BNE10: Heritage  
INF13: Infinity Garden Village  
 
Derby City Local Plan 
The relevant policies of the DCLP are:  
 
DCLP: Part 1 Policies 
CP1(a): Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
CP1(b): Placemaking Principles for Cross Boundary growth  
CP3: Placemaking Principles  
CP4: Character and Context  
CP16: Green Infrastructure  
CP18: Green Wedges  
CP19: Biodiversity  
CP20: Historic Environment  
CP23: Delivering a Sustainable Transport Network  
CP24: Transport Infrastructure  
AC15: Land South of Wilmore Road, Sinfin (Infinity Park Derby)  
AC18: Wragley Way  
 
Neighbourhood Plan 
There are no neighbourhood plans in or close to the application site. 
 
Infinity Garden Village Development Framework Document   

SDDC, Derby City Council and Derbyshire County Council have worked 
together to produce a DFD that pulls together all the relevant policies (from 
both the SDLP:P1 and SDLP:P2 and the DCLP:P1) for the IGV area and is a 
material consideration as a guide the delivery of development in support of the 
IGV.  
 
South Derbyshire Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 
(November 2017) 
This SPD, which aims to improve the design quality of development in South 
Derbyshire, is also a material consideration.  
 
 

Page 67



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    26 
11 January 2021 

National Planning Policy Framework  
The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how 
these should be applied. It states that the purpose of the planning system is to 
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and the framework 
as a whole contains a presumption in favour of sustainable development. The 
NPPF goes on to say that achieving sustainable development means that the 
framework has three overarching objectives - economic, social and 
environmental - which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains 
across each of the different objectives).  
 
The economic and social objectives of sustainable development, as described 
in the NPPF, aim variously to build a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy and support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, in the latter 
instance, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be 
provided to meet the needs of present and future generations. To this end, 
Paragraph 72 of the framework states that ‘the supply of large numbers of 
new homes can often be best achieved through planning for larger scale 
development, such as new settlements …provided that they are supported by 
the necessary infrastructure and facilities’. Paragraph 80 states that planning 
‘decisions should help create the conditions in which businesses can invest, 
expand and adapt’. Planning authorities are expected to place significant 
weight on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into 
account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development. 
 
Those sections of the NPPF that are particularly relevant to this proposal are: 
 
Section 2: Achieving sustainable development. 
Section 6: Building a strong, competitive economy. 
Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport. 
Section 12: Achieving well designed spaces. 
Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change 
Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  
 
The Principle of and Need for the Proposal 
The application is for an infrastructure only proposal relating to the 
construction of a new junction on the A50 and a link road leading from this 
junction to Infinity Park Way in the north. It seeks to provide a key element of 
IGV in the form of essential highway infrastructure that would unlock currently 
inaccessible land allocated for employment and housing purposes in both the 
DCLP and SDLP. As a major urban extension to Derby, IGV forms part of the 
strategic vison for growth in the district of South Derbyshire over the current 
plan period (2011-2028), the growth potential of which the SDLP states ‘… will 
have been unlocked through transport and other infrastructure 
improvements…’.  

Page 68



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    27 
11 January 2021 

Both parts of the SDLP contain policies that either give direct support for, or 
make reference to, the need for the provision of additional highway 
infrastructure in the area south of Derby. Most relevant are SDLP: P1 Policy 
H15: Wragley Way (South of Derby) which relates to a sustainable urban 
extension to Derby through the provision of up to 1,950 dwellings in nearby 
South Derbyshire. In accordance with other policies within the SDLP, the 
policy states that it will require a number of site specifics, including the 
provision of and/or contributions to new highway infrastructure, to mitigate the 
impact of new housing development around Wragley Way on both the local 
and strategic road networks of the whole site. The policy makes specific 
reference to both the construction of the SDITL; and a potential junction 
connecting the site to the A50. 
 
SDLP:P1 Policy INF4: Transport Infrastructure Improvement Schemes seeks 
delivery of a number of transport schemes in south Derbyshire including the 
SDITL phases 1 and 2. It states that, in determining the detailed alignments 
and designs of these transport schemes, regard shall be had to minimising the 
impact on the environment, heritage assets and natural features; taking full 
account of recreational routes along, or affected by, the schemes; providing 
for the needs of cyclists, pedestrians and people with impaired mobility, etc, 
and mitigating any potential flood risk. 
 
SDLP:P1 Policy E4: Strategic Location for Sinfin Moor Employment Site 
Extension identifies land for development for employment uses as an 
extension to planned new employment development at Sinfin Moor. The policy 
acknowledges that the site has the potential to deliver a part of the SDITL and 
states that SDDC envisages its delivery once a satisfactory scheme has been 
identified and demonstrated to be deliverable.  
 
SDLP:P2 Policy INF13: Southern Derby Area and Infinity Garden Village 
supports development proposals and cross boundary collaboration in the 
Southern Derby Area for a mix of uses as part of the IGV development. The 
policy seeks to guide the delivery of a range of development in support of the 
IGV proposal, including the SDITL. The IGV DFD referred to above is 
intended to guide the delivery of development within the IGV area. The policy 
states that until the DFD is approved, any necessary infrastructure required to 
deliver the comprehensive approach will be supported.   
 
The DCLP:P1 also contains policies that are directly relevant to the proposal.  
Whilst it is expected that a full assessment of the proposal against the policies 
of the DCLP:P1 will be undertaken by Derby City, these policies are also a 
material consideration here. Of particular relevance to this proposal are Policy 
AC15, which relates to the development of new employment space and at (j) 
supports proposals for the delivery of the SDITL, subject to the requirements 
of Policy CP24.  
 

Page 69



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    28 
11 January 2021 

Policy CP24: Transport Infrastructure relates to the delivery of the Council’s 
long term transport strategy, and supports the implementation of strategic 
proposals that help create an economically and environmentally sustainable 
transport network. Sub paragraph (b) relates to SDITL phases 1 and 2.  
 
DCLP:P1 Policy AC18: Wragley Way, states at (a) that the City Council will 
work with South Derbyshire to ‘…ensure that new highway infrastructure is 
provided to help mitigate the impact of the development on the local and 
strategic road networks. This will include the development of, or contributions 
towards, the construction of the South Derby Integrated Transport Link. The 
potential for a new junction onto the A50 to be delivered in the future should 
not be prejudiced’.  
 
In principle, therefore, I consider that the proposed development has the 
potential to deliver key infrastructure that would assist in achieving the spatial 
vision for both the district of South Derbyshire and Derby City as set out in the 
development plan policies identified above through the provision of essential 
transport infrastructure as well as meeting the higher level aims of paragraphs 
72 and 80 of the NPPF.  
 
Location of Development 
The proposal would be on land predominantly allocated for housing and 
employment uses, the relevant policies for which acknowledge the need for 
the construction of the SDITL and a new junction on the A50. The exception to 
this is a small strip which sits between the H15 and E4 policy areas which, 
technically, in application of the SDLP is to be considered a rural area, the 
relevant policy for which is BNE5. The policy states that planning permission 
for development outside settlement boundaries will only be granted where the 
development is, inter alia, ‘unavoidable outside settlement boundaries’, and it 
would not unduly impact on landscape, biodiversity, soils and heritage assets. 
I am satisfied that this section of the proposed development could not, 
realistically, be located in any location that would enable it to either fall within 
an allocation or within a settlement boundary. This is further illustrated by the 
SDLP policy map for the Aston area which clearly assumes that the SDITL 
would need to cross from the H15 policy area to meet the T12 link in the north. 
I therefore find no conflict with SDLP:P1 Policy BNE5 on this issue. The policy 
also requires that, in order to be acceptable, development should not result in 
adverse environment impacts. A full assessment of the environmental impacts 
of the proposal is set out below. 
 
General Considerations 

Notwithstanding the above, the proposal also needs to be assessed against 
the more general environmental policies of the development plan. The 
planning application is accompanied by an ES and the following assessment 
addresses individual topics in the order they are reported in the ES.  
 

Page 70



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    29 
11 January 2021 

Alternatives 
The ES describes those alternatives considered by the applicant. The main 
alternatives include ‘do-nothing’; the Phase 1 SDITL without a new junction on 
the A50; and alternative alignments to the proposed link road. 
 
With regard to the ‘do-nothing’ alternative, whilst this would avoid the loss of 
greenfield land, the ES considers it to represent a lost opportunity in terms of: 
delivering new highways infrastructure for IGV; increasing accessibility/ 
connectivity to the strategic highway network and local communities living in 
or around the IGV area; and reducing highway congestion in the local area. 
The ES concludes that the socio-economic benefits of the proposed 
development would be so significant so as to outweigh the limited benefits of 
the ‘do-nothing’ alternative. 
 
The ES notes that both the SDLP and DCLP rely on Phase 1 of the SDITL to 
mitigate the transport impacts of the housing planned for Wragley Way. 
However, the ES indicates that, in isolation, the SDITL would have insufficient 
capacity to accommodate all the committed developments within IGV to the 
same extent as the whole current proposal (including as it does the proposed 
new A50 junction). In particular, the ES predicts that the proposal would 
reduce congestion by over 70% whereas SDITL would only deliver a predicted 
23% reduction in congestion. It is therefore concluded that the SDITL 
alternative would not deliver appropriate mitigation for the allocated housing 
and employment developments associated with IGV. 
 
The scope for alternative locations for the junction is also considered in the 
ES. It states that the junction could not be located elsewhere on this stretch of 
the A50 or be of materially different design as it utilises the existing under 
bridge. The ES notes, however, that the proposed alignment of the link road 
has changed significantly since the request for a Scoping Opinion was made 
in July 2018 and is now on its third iteration, being further to the east than 
initially proposed. Changes to the alignment have largely resulted from 
concerns about impacts on the SMPLNR and from the loss of Green Wedge, 
and are considered by the applicant to be the least harmful in that context.  
 
The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017 (EIA) regulations, which affect the determination of this 
application, require that any reasonable alternatives to a proposed project 
which are studied by the developer are outlined and addressed in the ES. In 
general, I am satisfied that the range of alternatives considered is appropriate 
and proportionate in the context of the proposed development. There is a 
clear strategic expectation from the policies in the SDLP and the DCLP that 
developments which contribute to the envisioned IGV (including the 
associated transport infrastructure such as proposed under this application) 
should go ahead. The IGV is anticipated to provide a much-needed 
sustainable urban extension to Derby. Under these circumstances, I concur 

Page 71



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    30 
11 January 2021 

with the ES that the ‘do-nothing’ alternative is unrealistic. Likewise, whilst both 
local plans refer to the SDITL, they also indicate that a new junction on the 
A50 may be required. I do not consider it unreasonable for the two 
infrastructure elements be combined to form a single proposal, particularly at 
this early stage. With regard to alternative alignments, I note that the applicant 
has significantly amended the alignment of the proposed link road such that it 
does not now encroach on SMPLNR or significantly impact on the function of 
the Green Wedge. This approach is welcomed and I am of the view that the 
alignment, as currently proposed, is the most appropriate of those considered, 
whilst ensuring that sufficient land remains to deliver the anticipated 
employment and housing needs of the area. 
 
Socio-economics 

The ES assesses baseline socio-economic conditions and the likely effects of 
the proposed development (both direct and indirect) on the human population 
in the vicinity of the site. The ES notes that South Derbyshire has a higher rate 
of economic activity than regional/national averages, but that Derby has a 
lower economic rate in comparison as evidenced by the Lower Layer Super 
Output Area (LSOA) in and around the application. 
 
Likely significant effects of the proposed development were assessed at both 
the construction and operational phases of the development. The ES 
estimates the creation of up to 371 temporary jobs during the 18 month 
construction phase with an estimated £31.6 million of gross value added 
(GVA) over the same time frame which would represent a short term 
significant beneficial effect. Once operational, the development would unlock 
the development potential of the area, including the creation of 5,000 jobs on 
site and an annual GVA contribution of £53.6 million. The ES considers that 
these impacts would have a significant beneficial effect in the long term. Due 
to the significant beneficial effects, the ES does not consider mitigation or 
enhancement measures. 
 
In general, I am satisfied that the ES provides an accurate picture of the 
economy of South Derbyshire and Derby City and have no reasons to doubt 
its conclusions in respect of the significant socio-economic benefits the 
proposals would bring to the area. I do have some concerns that the economic 
impacts associated with the partial loss of the farm unit at Ashlea Farm have 
not been fully accounted for. The ES does allude to this loss, commenting that 
the GIS would provide additional multifunctional greenspace providing for long 
term environment enhancement, but I consider that such a response 
highlights potential socio-environmental enhancements rather than any real 
economic impact, adverse or otherwise. Whilst Ashlea Farm does not appear 
to have been in active use for some time, no consideration appears to have 
been given as to whether there are any viable agricultural regimes for it that 
could be of benefit to the local area and, in this respect, I consider the ES to 
be lacking. Notwithstanding this, however, I acknowledge that any benefits 

Page 72



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    31 
11 January 2021 

arising from Ashlea Farm would be minor in the context of the substantial 
socio-economic benefits that the proposed link road and junction under 
consideration here, and the wider IGV, would bring.  
 
Landscape and Visual 
Good design principles are required by Policy BNE1 of the SDLP:P1, and at a 
national level in Section 12 of the NPPF: “Achieving Well Designed Spaces.” 
Policy BNE4 of the SDLP:P1 requires, inter-alia, that ‘The character, local 
distinctiveness, and quality of South Derbyshire’s landscape and soilscape will 
be protected and enhanced through the careful design and sensitive 
implementation of new development’ and states ‘Development that will have 
an unacceptable impact on landscape character (including historic character), 
visual amenity and sensitivity and cannot be satisfactorily mitigated will not be 
permitted’. 
 
The ES includes a landscape and visual impact assessment (LVIA), 
describing the baseline conditions of the application site and its surroundings 
and the consequential effects (significance) of the development on landscape 
character and visual amenity. The application site is described as flat with 
regularly shaped agricultural fields defined by hedgerows containing mature 
trees, and dry and wet ditches, with the surrounding landscape being 
punctuated by high voltage pylons and overhead electricity lines. Due to the 
proximity of the site to Derby, urbanising influences including the A50, the built 
edges of Stenson Fields and Sinfin (including the Wragley Way development 
currently under construction in Derby City) are identified with the pylons and 
overhead lines being considered a particularly detracting element.  
 
The ES notes that neither the site, nor the surrounding area, are subject to 
any landscape designations. The landscape fabric is considered to be 
relatively intact and in reasonable to fair condition, but unremarkable. With 
regard to landscape character, the ES places the site and its surrounding area 
in the Trent Valley Washlands National Character Area (NCA) at the national 
level, and in the Floodplain Valley Landscape and Village Farmlands 
Landscape Character area (LCA) at the regional level. At a local level, the site 
is variously in the Wet Pasture Meadows (link road) and Lowland Village 
Farmlands (A50 junction) landscape character types (LCT), the main 
characteristics of which can be described as ‘A flat, low-lying mixed farming 
landscape, with regular and geometric field patterns…Largely uninhabited with 
very occasional, large, red brick farmsteads’ and ‘…large scale, open, gently 
rolling lowland landscape …a mixed farming landscape defined my medium to 
large regular fields with thorn hedges, punctuated by villages’ respectively. 

The ES considers that the landscape of the application site is broadly 
representative of the landscape characterisations at national, regional and 
local levels. 
 

Page 73



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    32 
11 January 2021 

Overall, the landscape in and around the application site was assessed to 
have medium susceptibility to change, able to absorb the proposed 
development. With the GIS in place, the ES considers that longer term effects 
would not result in unacceptable harm to landscape character, with overall 
levels of impact being limited. Due to the considerable scale of the Trent 
Valley Washlands NCA/LCA, the magnitude of impact at the national and 
regional level was assessed as inconsequential and negligible. At the local 
level, magnitude of change is assessed as low-negligible due to the localised 
nature of the impact, with impacts to the application site being assessed as 
high-medium. The assessment concludes that landscape effects at the site 
level during construction/demolition would be major-moderate adverse which 
is considered significant, but that such impacts would be very localised, short 
term and temporary.  Once operational, with the planned GIS in place, the 
LVIA concludes that impacts and adverse effects to landscape character 
would not result in significant long term landscape harm.   
 

The LVIA identifies 17 viewpoints broadly representative of residential 
properties/settlements; rights of way/recreational users (including SMPLNR) 
and highway users. The LVIA judged all residential receptors and 
PROW/recreational receptors to be of high sensitivity. Highway receptors 
were variously judged to be of low-medium to low sensitivity. A Visual 
Envelope (VE) is provided which identifies the area in which the proposed 
development would be visible. Due to the screening effects of surrounding 
landform/vegetation, views of the development from outside the VE are 
assessed as limited. During demolition and construction, the assessment 
considers that the most significant visual effects (major-moderate adverse) 
would be experienced by receptors in Sinfin, but these would be short term 
(18 months) and temporary. Once operational, visual impacts to receptors in 
Sinfin are assessed as major-moderate adverse (significant), although the 
LVIA considers that this would lessen to moderate-minor once screen planting 
became established. Visual effects to other receptors are assessed as varying 
between moderate adverse and negligible. The LVIA concludes that visual 
impacts would continue to reduce over time with impacts being moderate-
minor adverse in the worst instance.  
 
Mitigation measures are proposed as part of the development including the 
implementation of the GIS, the details of which are set out above. The ES 
considers that landscape/visual enhancement would be delivered through the 
retention of existing vegetation and landscape features, the creation of 
accessible greenspace in the fields immediately to the east of Sinfin, as well 
as the provision of biodiversity benefits through habitat creation in the form of 
replacement hedgerows, trees and woodland, new grassland habitats and 
wetland areas. Additional mitigation would be provided through the provision 
of a CEMP which would include measures to minimise effects on the 
environment. The GI would also be subject to ongoing management and 
maintenance to ensure satisfactory establishment of habitats. 

Page 74



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    33 
11 January 2021 

In conclusion, the original ES states that the design and mitigation approaches 
proposed would minimise effects on landscape and visual receptors in the 
longer term to the extent that residual adverse effects would lessen. As a 
result, it is not considered that the proposed development would result in any 
unacceptable long term landscape or visual effects.  
 
Revisions to the scheme (at the request of HiEn) include the proposed 
addition of 2.2km street lighting on the A50 through the proposed junction and 
its slip roads. The addendum to the ES provides further assessment in respect 
of the potential landscape and visual impacts associated with light pollution. It 
states that, whilst the lighting would be a new element in the landscape, given 
that existing stretches of the A50 are lit it would not be uncharacteristic. 
Mitigation measures associated with appropriate lighting design and columns 
are proposed. With such mitigations, the ES considers landscape effects 
would be ‘moderate adverse’, reducing over time (once the GI had become 
established) so that long term residual effects would be ‘moderate-minor-
adverse’. Overall, the ES concludes that the proposed addition of street 
lighting would not result in any unacceptable landscape effects and would be 
minimised through the design and mitigation proposed. With regard to visual 
impacts, the addendum considers that these would be restricted to a localised 
area of landscape. It further notes that neither the application site nor the 
surrounding area are subject to ‘dark sky’ policies and that the urban area of 
Derby impacts a level of sky glow on this landscape at present. It states that 
changes to increase lighting would be localised in their extent and observed in 
the context of settlement/urban edge landscape. As with landscape impacts, 
with the proposed mitigations in place, the addendum suggests that any 
adverse visual effects would lessen over time. Overall, it is not considered that 
the proposed changes would alter the conclusions provided within the original 
ES.  
 

In general, I am satisfied that the LVIA correctly identifies the appropriate 
LCAs and has been undertaken in accordance with appropriate 
methodologies and guidance. I also concur with the consideration of the 
condition and nature of the landscape fabric of the application site and its 
surroundings. I note that the LVIA appears to use the scale of the Trent Valley 
Washlands NCA/LCA as a key justification for assessing impact in respect of 
landscape character. Whilst this may be appropriate at a national/regional 
level, I have some concerns regarding the conclusions drawn in respect of the 
impacts to the Lowland Village Farmlands and Wet Pasture Meadows LCTs. 
In particular, the LVIA suggests that settlement and highway infrastructure are 
a key feature of both LCTs. Whilst I accept that they are components of the 
Lowland Village Farmlands and agree with the conclusions in the LVIA in 
respect of this LCT, such infrastructure is not characteristic of the Wet Pasture 
Meadows. Under those circumstances, I am of the opinion that effects on the 
Wet Pasture Meadows LCT would be somewhat greater than assessed in 
both the short and long term, although such impacts are hard to assess in 

Page 75



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    34 
11 January 2021 

isolation, particularly when the wider development of IGV (parts of which are 
either already consented or are allocated for future development in the SDLP 
and DCLP) would result in almost the entire loss of this LCT in Derbyshire.  
 
Direct impacts to the landscape fabric would relate to the loss of arable 
farmland, hedgerows and occasional trees, not only as a direct result of the 
development, but also as a consequence of the proposed mitigation measures 
which, in some instances, are extensive. Whilst it is always disappointing to 
lose trees, I am satisfied that such losses would not be significant and note 
that the applicant has taken care to minimise those instances where tree 
loss/removal would be necessary. It is not clear whether the assessment gives 
consideration to the more indirect impacts but, given the scale and nature of 
the flood alleviation works and their proximity to Sinfin, I consider that there is 
potential for the introduction of adverse landscape effects closer to those 
receptors located to the west than is indicated. With regard to the proposed 
additional street lighting on the A50, whilst I accept the conclusions in respect 
of landscape/visual impacts for receptors located to the north of the A50, 
where the nightscape would be dominated by the urban influence of Derby, I 
consider that such effects have been underestimated when viewed from the 
south-west. The landscape between Twyford Road in the south and the A50 is 
predominantly rural in feel, and essentially unlit. In considering the 
comparative levels of land to the south and the A50 carriageway, the latter 
sitting at a higher elevation, properties located in the Arleston Farm 
development and the Ragley Boat Stop public house, would potentially have 
direct views of the development with little intervening vegetation to act as a 
screen. Whilst I do not consider that the impacts associated with the additional 
street lighting would be so detrimental as to warrant a refusal, I do consider 
that any detailed lighting scheme needs to give consideration to mitigating 
these impacts. I would therefore recommend the imposition of a condition on 
any planning permission requiring the production of a detailed lighting scheme 
with a mechanism for review. 
 
With regard to potential visual impacts, I agree that the nature of the local 
topography combined with the southern edge of Derby would restrict views to 
those vantage points close to the site as set out in the VE, with most 
significant visual effects limited to residents on the eastern and southern edge 
of Sinfin, as well as the users of Sinfin Moor Lane. I concur with the LVIA that 
such effects would be major/moderate adverse during construction, reducing 
to moderate adverse 15 years post-completion by virtue of the fact that we 
would be left with a modern highway on a raised embankment crossing what 
is a relatively open landscape. As with landscape effects, however, such 
visual effects need to be considered in the round in the full knowledge that 
IGV will introduce more significant visual impacts, so in relative terms the 
proposed junction/link road makes only a modest contribution to the overall 
visual effects of the eventual wider development. 
 

Page 76



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    35 
11 January 2021 

In conclusion, the proposed junction and link road would result in adverse 
landscape and visual impacts which, in some instances in my opinion, would 
be greater than predicted and which would clearly be at odds with the 
established landscape character of the greater part of the site. Such impacts 
would be most evident for receptors in Sinfin where direct and indirect 
landscape effects from the proposed new road and its associated flood works 
would be most visible. Whilst I do not consider that such impacts would be 
significant when viewed in isolation, cumulative impacts associated with the 
development of the wider IGV would clearly be far more substantial, resulting 
in the almost entire loss of the Wet Pasture Meadows LCT. Whilst I note and 
welcome the compensatory landscaping/habitat creation proposed in the GIS, 
which I consider would bring substantial benefit through landscape and 
biodiversity enhancement/gain, I do not consider that this, in itself, would be 
sufficient to outweigh such landscape impacts/loss either in the context of the 
current proposal or the wider IGV. In this respect, there is clearly some conflict 
with SDLP:P1 Policy BNE4.  
 
Biodiversity 
Paragraph 170 of the NPPF requires that planning decisions should contribute 
to and enhance the natural and local environment by ‘minimising impacts on 
and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent 
ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures’. 
Paragraph 175 states that d) development whose primary objective is to 
conserve or enhance biodiversity should be supported; while opportunities to 
incorporate biodiversity improvements in and around developments should be 
encouraged, especially where this can secure measureable net gains for 
biodiversity’. Policy BNE3 of the SDLP:P1 is supportive of development that 

contributes to the protection, enhancement, management of biodiversity and 
geodiversity and delivers net gains for biodiversity.  
 
The ES sets out the baseline ecological conditions of the application site. It 
identifies one statutory nature conservation designation, the Sinfin Moor LNR, 
as being adjacent to the application site and two non-statutory designations, 
the Sinfin Moor Lane Stream LWS and the Cuttle Brook LWS, within it. Field 
surveys identified the presence of a range of typically agricultural habitats 
which were of little ecological interest. Habitats identified as being of local 
interest were species poor native hedgerows; wetland features which, whilst 
heavily affected by agricultural practices, provide benefit in terms of habitat 
biodiversity and continuous biodiversity corridors through the landscape; and 
mature trees which were considered to provide additional structural and 
habitat diversity. Fauna identified in or adjacent to the site include 29 typical 
urban edge/farmland bird species of which 10 are either protected or appear 
in the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) Birds of Conservation 
Concern 4 (BoCC4), some of which were also identified as breeding. Other 
fauna identified include common and widespread bat species, although no 
roosts were identified; otters using some of the ditches for commuting 

Page 77



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    36 
11 January 2021 

purposes; common toad, common frog and smooth newts in the ponds in the 
vicinity of the site. No evidence was found of reptiles, water voles or badgers 
during the site surveys work, although the latter species are known to occur 
within the wider local area. 
 
The ES states that, due to the intensive management of the site for 
agriculture, important ecological receptors are limited and, as a consequence, 
the site is unremarkable for biodiversity at any more than the local level. 
Nevertheless, the ES identifies a number of likely adverse effects. During 
construction, these would include habitat loss resulting from culverting works 
to a small section of the Sinfin Moor Stream LWS/Main Drain (significant 
locally); disturbance to the banks of the Meadow Drain which forms part of the 
wider Cuttle Brook LWS (not significant); the loss of a number of mature crack 
willow and black poplar trees in the shelter belt (significant locally); the loss of 
1.45km of hedgerow (significant locally); the loss of species poor semi-
improved grassland (not significant); the loss of species-poor/arable 
agricultural habitat (not significant); and the culverting of a small section of 
Barrow Drain (significant locally). With regard to habitat disturbance, the ES 
considers that adverse effects would include the potential pollution to 
watercourses - Main, Barrow and Meadow Drains, as well as watercourses 
downstream such as the Sinfin Moor Lane Stream LWS and Cuttle Brook 
LWS (significant locally); and inadvertent damage to retained habitat through 
construction operations (significant locally). Adverse effects on faunal species 
during construction were considered to include the potential loss of bat roosts 
during demolition and tree felling works (significant locally); fragmentation of 
bat dispersal corridors through habitat loss and use of flood lighting 
(potentially significant a local scale); and disturbance to breeding birds leading 
to nest abandonment/harm (significant locally). 
 
Once operational, likely significant effects associated with the proposed 
development were identified as potential disturbance to the fauna within the 
SMPLNR and LWS (significant at a County level) and, without appropriate 
management, hydrological changes to local watercourses including the Sinfin 
Moor Lane LWS could lead to a decline in these aquatic habitats (significant 
locally). With regard to fauna, likely effects were identified as lighting and 
noise from the proposed junction/link road leading to a reduction of use in 
adjacent habitats by bats and birds (significant locally); and the severance of 
badger dispersal corridors of movement leading to badger mortality 
(significant to individuals). 
 
Mitigation and enhancement measures are proposed, including the 
implementation of the GIS, which is seen as an integral part of the 
development and a primary mitigation measure. Avoidance measures, 
including route realignment (to avoid impacts to the SMPLNR) and the 
retention of shelterbelt woodland, hedgerows and mature trees are proposed 
wherever possible. The ES considers that these measures would not only 

Page 78



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    37 
11 January 2021 

ensure that any likely impacts were minimised, but would also result in 
biodiversity enhancement. A LEMP is proposed for all habitats 
created/maintained for nature conservation purposes generally. The ES 
considers that the LEMP would be beneficial to the wetland habitats created 
as part of the flood compensation areas, as these would have the potential to 
complement those habitats present within the SMPLNR. It is also considered 
that the erection of the 2.5m high acoustic fence would provide mitigation for 
the SMPLNR, reducing the disturbance effects of the road. It is proposed that 
a CEMP would ensure that best working practices would be adopted during 
the construction phase, including the requirement for pre-commencement 
surveys where necessary. Effects on bats would be reduced through the 
sensitive design of landscape features adjacent to the road including the use 
of appropriately designed street-lighting. Road crossings over the Main and 
Barrow Drains would also be designed to allow the passage of wildlife. The 
ES concludes that, with the mitigation/enhancement measures in place, the 
proposed development would result in significant net gain to biodiversity. 
 
The ES addendum includes a lighting assessment that gives consideration to 
the potential impacts on bats as a result of the additional street lighting 
proposed on the A50. It states that no potential roosts have been identified in 
the area affected by the lighting and, subject to lux levels being restricted to 
3.6LUX, no foraging/commuting activity would be significantly affected. Based 
on the above, the addendum concludes that the proposed amendments would 
not alter the conclusions of the main ES in respect of biodiversity.  
 
I note the conclusions in the ES and am satisfied that an appropriate suite of 
ecological assessments have been undertaken, following recognised 
methodologies and to satisfactory standards. Whilst I note that these surveys 
were undertaken over an extended period of time, they are, for the most part, 
sufficiently recent to be considered acceptable, particularly in light of the 
update surveys undertaken during 2018. I concur with the applicant’s 
conclusions regarding the ecological value of the site and, subject to the 
imposition of appropriate conditions as set out in the ES, am satisfied that the 
proposed development would not result in adverse impacts to either 
designated sites/landscapes or European Protected Species. NE has also 
confirmed that it considers this to be the case in respect of designated sites. 
DWT raised no objections in respect of protected species, noting that it 
considered that sufficient information has been provided to allow this Authority 
to discharge its requirements of The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017.  
 
Whilst the application site is of limited value ecologically, it does provide value 
locally, particularly through the provision of a network of wildlife corridors, 
roosting and foraging habitat. In this respect, the proposed loss of 1.45km 
hedgerow, as well as some mature trees, is regrettable. I note the content of 
the GIS which, if satisfactorily managed and maintained, would result in 

Page 79



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    38 
11 January 2021 

significant biodiversity mitigation and enhancement. I am also mindful that the 
alignment of the proposed link road has changed significantly and that it is 
now sufficiently to the east to avoid direct impacts to the SMPLNR. On 
balance, therefore, I am of the view that any such losses would be 
satisfactorily mitigated for through compensatory planting and management. 
 
In conclusion, I do not consider that the proposed development would result in 
significant adverse effects on the ecology of the site or European Protected 
Species. As indicated above, conditions should be required to ensure the 
protection of badger, bats, water vole, breeding birds and to require the 
inclusion of mammal underpasses, as well as the implementation of the GIS, 
and replacement hedgerow planting from where it is removed. With such 
conditions in place, I am satisfied that the proposal would accord with 
paragraphs 170 and 175 of the NPPF and Policy BNE3 of the SDLP:P1 
through the delivery of significant biodiversity net gain.  
 
Cultural Heritage 
The heritage assets in the vicinity of the site are set out above. Paragraph 190 
of the NPPF requires that Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) ‘…should identify 
and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be 
affected by the proposal (including development affecting the setting of a 
heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and any necessary 
expertise’. Paragraph 199 of the NPPF requires LPAs to ‘…require developers 
to record and advance understanding of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly 
or in part) in a manner proportionate to their importance and their impact and 
to make this evidence (and any archive generated material) publicly 
accessible’. SDLP:P1 Policy BNE8 states that development that affects South 

Derbyshire’s heritage assets will be expected to protect, conserve and 
enhance the assets and their settings in accordance with national guidance.  
 
The ES includes an assessment of the likely significant effects of the 
development on built heritage and archaeology. The assessment is supported 
by an archaeological desk-based assessment; a geo-archaeological 
assessment, geophysical survey and a built heritage statement. Based on 
local topography, the study area covered a 1km area from the site boundary. 
The assessment adopted a three-stage approach which considered the 
importance/sensitivity of the heritage asset; the proposed effects on that asset 
and the overall effect on that asset and its significance.  
 
No designated archaeological or built heritage assets were identified within 
the application site or the 1km search area, with the nearest scheduled 
monument, Swarkestone Lows, being 1.1km to the east. Topography, 
combined with the relative distance between the identified heritage assets and 
the site, has led the applicant to conclude that the majority of designated and 
non-designated heritage assets identified in the study area would not be 
affected by the proposal. Much of the site sits on deposits associated with a 

Page 80



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    39 
11 January 2021 

former shallow post-glacial lake and the likelihood of located Palaeolithic 
archaeology was therefore considered to be low. Historic geotechnical 
information suggests that whilst organic material is preserved within the 
former lake basin, its condition was variable and dependent on local 
conditions. Whilst there is negligible potential for evidence of past settlement 
of all dates, there remains a small possibility that archaeology may be buried 
beneath later alluvial deposits. The ES indicates that the southern part of the 
application site has some “theoretical potential” for Prehistoric to Roman 
remains, although none were identified by the geophysical survey. Only two 
heritage assets, the Grade II listed building, Trent and Mersey Canal Deep 
Dale Bridge, and the Trent and Mersey Canal Conservation Area were 
considered potentially affected. The assessment therefore concentrates on 
the likely effects to the setting of these.   
 
Likely significant effects to heritage assets during the construction and 
operational phases were assessed. The primary effect during construction 
was considered likely to be associated with groundworks, particularly within 
the flood compensation areas, where these would result in the substantial or 
total loss/removal of any archaeological remains within these areas. Whilst the 
proposed use of a low mound on which to construct the link road would 
ensure the partial preservation of buried archaeology within the road corridor, 
overall effects were assessed as significant. Once operational, the applicant 
considered that the proposed development would result in changes to the 
wider settings of both the Trent and Mersey Canal Conservation Area and 
Deep Dale Bridge. Such changes would not result in harm to the significance 
of either of these heritage assets, however, because the predicted changes 
would be in keeping with existing visible and audible qualities of the A50 which 
are already experienced in their respective settings. The impact of the 
development of Deep Dale Bridge and the Trent and Mersey Canal 
Conservation Area are therefore assessed as neutral/not significant.  
 
Measures designed to mitigate the likely significant effects of the development 
on archaeology include a geo-archaeological trial programme to further 
investigate the potential of the deposits in the application site. Depending on 
the results of this trial work, the ES notes that further fieldwork could be 
necessary. With such measures in place, the ES concludes that any effects to 
archaeology would not be significant. No mitigation measures are proposed in 
respect of the Conservation Area or Deep Dale Bridge. 
 

I am generally satisfied that the work undertaken which has led to the 
conclusions on heritage and archaeology in the ES has been done in 
accordance with the relevant guidance and that it fulfils the requirements of 
the NPPF. Whilst I initially had some concerns about potential impacts to the 
wider setting of the Conservation Area and the listed building, having visited 
the site and noted the intervening topography, as well as the nature of the 

Page 81



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    40 
11 January 2021 

existing environment, I do not consider that the development would result in 
harm to the significance of these assets.  
 
With regard to archaeology, whilst I note the suggestion that the potential for 
conventional below ground archaeology to be low, I also consider that the site 
may contain some deposits of archaeological or paleo-environmental 
importance which might enable the sequential development and chronology of 
the lake to be better understood or even identify late Palaeolithic activity 
associated with exploitation of lake margins. Following the submission of a 
more detailed information in respect of the timing and method of 
archaeological/geo-archaeological investigation, I am satisfied that the 
archaeological interest is capable of being accommodated through a post-
consent scheme of work, which should be secured by condition, in line with 
that envisaged in Paragraph 199 of the NPPF. 
 
In conclusion, subject to the recommended conditions as set out below, I do 
not consider it likely that the proposal would result in significant impact on any 
heritage asset or buried archaeology. I am therefore satisfied that the proposal 
would accord with the requirements of the NPPF and Policy BNE8 of the 
SDLP:P1. 
 
Transport and Access  
SDLP:P1 Policy S6: Sustainable Access seeks to minimise the need to travel, 
make efficient use of transport infrastructure, encourage a modal shift away 
from private car use towards more sustainable forms of transport and support 
transport measures that address accessibility, safety, health, socio-economic 
and environmental needs.  
 
SDLP:P1 Policy INF2: Sustainable Transport permits development where 
travel generated by development, including heavy goods vehicles (HGVs), 
would not result in detrimental impacts to highway safety, local amenity, the 
environment or the efficiency of transport infrastructure; appropriate provision 
is made for safe and convenient access for pedestrians, cyclists, public 
transport and private car users; and car travel generated by the proposal is 
minimised.  
 
SDLP: P1 Policy INF4: Transport Infrastructure Improvement Schemes 
supports the delivery of a number of transport infrastructure schemes 
including the SDITL (phases 1 and 2). The policy requires that, when 
determining applications, regard shall be had to i) minimising the impact on 
the environment, heritage assets and natural features; ii) taking full account of 
recreational routes along, or affected by, the schemes; iii) providing for the 
needs of pedestrians, cyclists and people with impaired mobility; and iv) 
mitigating any potential flood risk impact. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states 
that ‘development should only be prevented or refused on highway grounds if 

Page 82



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    41 
11 January 2021 

there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe’. 

 
The applicant has provided a TA, which assesses the likely significant effects 
of traffic flows and highway safety associated with the development. Baseline 
data about the nearby local and strategic highway network is provided, as are 
details of traffic count surveys undertaken. Traffic modelling was undertaken 
to predict traffic flows for 2020, when it is proposed the new junction and road 
would come into use, and 2030, the latter taking into account all committed 
and allocated development and infrastructure improvements associated with 
IGV. Personal injury accident data was also assessed for a five-year period 
between 2013 and 2018 with the majority (83%) of accidents classified as 
slight, 16% serious and 1% being recorded as fatal. 
 
Likely significant effects during the construction period were identified as the 
daily generation of 83 HGVs, 17 light goods vehicles (LGVs), 83 cars, 83 
vans, which equates to a total of 266 vehicles per day. Construction access to 
the site would be from Infinity Park Way at the iHUB roundabout and the TA 
assumes traffic routing from either side of this roundabout. Percentage 
increase in traffic flows, as a result of construction traffic, was assessed as 
1.4% on Infinity Park way (south of Wilmore Road) and 2.5% on the stretch 
south of iHUB, which was considered minimal. The effects of construction 
traffic such as noise, dust, vibration, etc, is given consideration in the other 
sections of the ES. However, based on Transport and Road Research 
Laboratory guidance, as well as the relative distance of the nearest residential 
properties to the site, disruption caused by construction traffic was considered 
to be limited. Overall, traffic impacts during the construction phase were 
assessed as negligible, short term and temporary. Once operational, the TA 
demonstrates that increase in traffic flows for all links beyond the proposed 
development would be less than 30% in both 2020 and 2030, with 
concentrations predicted for Infinity Park Way north of the iHUB roundabout 
(28.3%), Wilmore Road (28.5%) and Merill Way (25.3%). Some links would 
experience a reduction in traffic flow, which was considered a direct result of 
the redistribution of traffic from existing network to the proposed link road and 
junction.  
 
Operational effects also considered in the TA include severance; driver delay; 
pedestrian delay/amenity; fear and intimidation and accidents. With regard to 
severance, the ES concludes that a major severance impact would occur at 
Sinfin Moor Lane, where the proposed link road crosses the existing 
pedestrian/cycle route. Mitigation is proposed in the form of a formal crossing 
facility at this point. All other links in the TA assessment area were assessed 
as either minor or minimal change and no mitigation is therefore proposed. 
Driver delay is assessed as neutral for the proposed development with delay 
elsewhere being minor. Major pedestrian delay and amenity impacts would be 
experienced at Sinfin Moor Lane where the proposed link road crosses it. As 

Page 83



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    42 
11 January 2021 

set out above, a crossing point is proposed as mitigation. Elsewhere, 
pedestrian delay and amenity impacts are predicted to be minor. Major 
pedestrian fear and intimidation impacts are predicted at Sinfin Moor Lane 
with neutral impacts predicted elsewhere. Accident analysis undertaken 
identified no existing safety concerns on the local highway network and, given 
that the proposed junction/link road would not generate additional traffic, no 
safety concerns have been identified.  
 
Mitigation measures are proposed to minimise impacts to traffic flow and 
highway safety. During the construction period, these would include the 
adoption of a Construction Management Plan (CMP) to control hours of 
operation/ensure that appropriate vehicle cleaning measures are in place for 
HGVs leaving site; and that appropriate temporary works and diversions are 
put in place. Once the road is taken into use, because the development is an 
infrastructure only scheme, no mitigation measures are proposed. The 
exception to this is the provision of a signal-controlled crossing where the 
proposed link road crosses the line of existing pedestrian/cycle route at Sinfin 
Moor Lane.  
 
At the request of consultees, further traffic modelling has been undertaken in 
respect of impacts to junctions on both the strategic and local highway 
networks; lighting on the A50; impact of the proposals on lay-by provision on 
the A50 and the provision for pedestrians and cyclists including crossings of 
the link road. This work has required some consequential changes to the 
design of the scheme (which are described above). The ES addendum states 
that additional modelling of the impact of re-distributed traffic on existing 
junctions in the locality was undertaken. Whilst the Merrill Way/Boulton Lane 
junction operates within full capacity, the proposal was found to impact on 
evening peak hour traffic. Mitigation measures are now proposed that would 
enable the junction within 100% of the capacity. The assessment of Infinity 
Park Way/Wilmore Road concluded that it was operating over the 90% 
threshold during the morning peak hour period, but operating satisfactorily 
during evening peak hour. The proposed mitigations would ensure that the 
junction would operate within capacity at both peak times. Based on the 
additional information provided and the scheme changes, the addendum 
considers that there would be no changes to the previous conclusions of the 
ES.    
 
The development proposed is for highway infrastructure   which is intended to 
reduce pressure on existing major junctions in the surrounding area, as well 
as providing direct access/connectivity with the land that will become IGV. It is 
not intended to provide sufficient highway infrastructure to support IGV in its 
entirety, and it is anticipated that current and forthcoming development 
proposals, within the IGV area, would include sufficient highway infrastructure 
and mitigations to support those particular developments. It is therefore 
understood that whilst the development would result in direct impacts 

Page 84



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    43 
11 January 2021 

associated with construction traffic and road closures, etc, during the 
construction phase, once operational the proposed junction and link road 
would not be traffic generating in themselves with initial impacts likely to be 
limited to a redistribution of existing traffic flows in the surrounding area. I 
have therefore assessed the application on those terms.  
 
I note the conclusions of the TA in terms of highway safety during the 
construction and operational phases and am satisfied that the revised 
development would not result in adverse impacts in this respect. I am also 
satisfied that the proposed mitigation measures would be capable of being 
secured via condition. I further note that, following the submission of revised 
modelling work and revisions to the design, both the HA and HiEn have 
confirmed they have no objections to the scheme in respect of highway safety, 
subject to the imposition of conditions, which are set out in my 
recommendation below. In consideration of the comments of the Canals and 
Rivers Trust in respect of potential damage to Barrow Bridge, I have made 
provision for a period of monitoring to be undertaken, with subsequent review 
and mitigations, if required.    
 
Concerns regarding the lack of pedestrian/cycle routes are noted. However, 
provision is made for safe north/south cycle access and the scheme also 
allows for the potential for further east/west links. The revised location of the 
cycleways/footpath away from the carriageway would also improve the safety 
of users as set out above. The inclusion within the GI of proposed recreational 
routes, linking with the surrounding area, is also noted and welcomed. Whilst I 
concur with SDDC that the continuation of the cycle way south of the 
proposed junction would be beneficial, I also accept that this would not be 
possible due to the restricted size of the Deep Dale Lane underbridge.  
 
Subject to conditions based on those suggested within the response from the 
Council, as Highway Authority, as well as HiEn, the application is considered 
to be in general accordance with the provisions of national and local planning 
policy identified with regard to highway considerations, as set out above. 
 
Air Quality  
The NPPF, at Paragraph 170, advises that planning decisions should enhance 
the natural and local environment by, amongst other things, preventing new 
and existing development from contributing to unacceptable levels of air 
pollution. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local 
environmental conditions, such as air quality. Paragraph 180 of the NPPF 
requires that planning decisions should ensure that new development is 
appropriate for its location, taking into account the likely effects (including 
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural 
environmental, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area 
to impacts that could arise from the development. Paragraph 181 requires 
LPAs to sustain and contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values 

Page 85



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    44 
11 January 2021 

or national objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Clean 
Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas. 
Opportunities to improve air quality or mitigate impacts should be identified, 
such as through traffic and travel management, and green infrastructure 
provision and enhancement. Planning decisions should ensure that any new 
development in Clean Air Zones is consistent with the local air quality action 
plan.  
 
‘The UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations’ (DEFRA) 

(2017) identifies zones which are in exceedance (non-compliance) of EU limit 
values for annual average Nitrogen dioxides (NO²). Derby has been identified 
as a location of NO² non-compliance within the East Midlands zone and is 
required to implement a Clean Air Zone to improve air quality in the shortest 
possible time.  
 
The applicant has undertaken an air quality assessment which is included in 
the ES. Baseline air quality conditions indicate that concentrations of NO2 at 
the application site and its surrounding area are all currently below the annual 
mean air quality objectives of 40ug.m3. Modelled background levels of NO2 
and PM10 and PM2.5 are not predicted to exceed the relevant annual mean 
air quality objectives for 2020 and 2030. The assessment considers 
construction phase dust emissions, as well as operational phase road traffic 
emissions. Principal air pollution sources are identified as road traffic, 
including the A50.  
 
Likely impacts associated with the construction phase dust emissions were 
undertaken in accordance with Institute of Air Quality Management ‘Guidance 
on the Assessment of Dust from Demolition and Construction version 1.1’ 
(2014). The assessment of operational road traffic emissions was undertaken 
in accordance with DEFRA Local Air Quality Management Technical 
Guidance (LAQM.TG16). Construction phase activities likely to result in 
impacts to air quality, including dust, were excavation, earthworks and 
trackout activities, as well as exhaust pollutant emissions from construction 
traffic and on-site plant and machinery. Dust arisings from demolition works at 
Ashlea Farm were considered minimal in the context of the overall 
development and were not given further consideration. Based on the Institute 
of Air Quality Management guidance, dust emissions associated with 
excavation, earthworks and trackout were assessed as large, with the 
sensitivity of the area and risk of dust impacts assessed as medium in respect 
of dust soiling and low in terms of impacts to human health and ecology.  
 
Likely significant effects associated with air quality during the operational 
phase were primarily associated with traffic emissions. The impact of 
development-generated road traffic on local air quality was assessed at 
identified existing receptor locations (R2-R9). Road traffic emissions were 
modelled and concentrations of NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 were predicted. In all 

Page 86



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    45 
11 January 2021 

instances, predicted NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 concentrations at 2020 (without 
development), 2020 (with development), 2030 (without development) and 
2030 (with development) fell below the relevant annual mean air quality 
objectives for all receptors and did not lead to any exceedances. Impacts were 
therefore considered to be ‘negligible’ which is ‘not significant’.  
 
Mitigation measures to reduce dust emissions during the construction phase 
are proposed. The ES states that no mitigation measures are required once 
operational, although it notes that mitigation is built into the design of the 
scheme as the proposed junction and link road could reduce congestion and 
reduce journey times in Derby. In conclusion, the ES states that there would 
be no residual effects to air quality as a result of the development. 
 
I am satisfied that the assessment has been undertaken using appropriate 
methodologies and that it covers all emissions to air likely to be associated 
with the development. The proposed implementation of best practice 
construction site management measures are noted and welcomed, as is the 
relative distance between the development site and receptors. Subject to the 
imposition of suitable conditions controlling this aspect of the development, 
which I am recommending should be included in a CMP, I am satisfied that 
there would be no adverse impacts associated with dust. With regard to 
emissions to air, whilst impacts associated with these are assessed as 
negligible, the assessment takes account of the consequential redistribution of 
traffic resulting from the construction of the link road and junction (though this 
is without any factoring in of potential future cumulative impacts from 
additional traffic associated with IGV. Therefore the development is likely to 
lead to net benefits, in terms of air quality, at least for the short term, as some 
traffic moves away from existing congested routes, particularly in the city. The 
potential air quality impacts relating to traffic using the link road and junction in 
the longer term, however, once IGV is more established  and traffic flows 
naturally increase, are hard to predict but could be less beneficial.  I would 
have preferred to have seen the inclusion of  an assessment of the wider 
impacts associated with IGV to allow  some more informed consideration of 
the longer term and wider aspects of air quality concerns relating to the entire 
IGV area (with an emphasis on sustainable transport modes and 
cycleway/pedestrian provision). There should, however, opportunities for such 
consideration in appropriate detail in relation to each new significant IGV 
development proposal, as and when it comes forward for assessment and 
determination in the planning system. Notwithstanding the above reservation, I 
acknowledge that the current proposals provide for cycleway and pedestrian 
links to the north of the new junction that would lead to both existing and 
proposed employment areas and the surrounding residential areas. These 
links, or the provision of infrastructure to support new links, appear to allow for 
north-south and east-west movement, which is welcomed. I note the 
comments of both SDDC and FSMP in respect of cycleway provision south of 
the A50 and agree that such provision would be essential to enable improved 

Page 87



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    46 
11 January 2021 

sustainable transport links between the city and the surrounding villages. Due 
to physical constraints associated with the Deep Dale Lane underbridge, the 
applicant states that it is not possible to incorporate similar links through the 
underbridge itself and I have no reason to doubt this.  
 
In light of the above, I am satisfied that there would be no adverse impact to 
air quality as a result of the development. In reaching this conclusion, I have 
taken into account the requirements of the policies of the SDLP and the 
NPPF. 
 
Noise and Vibration 
The application site is located on agricultural land close to densely populated 
urban environments, as well as several trunk roads including the A50. When 
considering the impact of noise from development proposals, PPG advises 
planning authorities to take account of the prevailing acoustic environment 
and, in doing so, to consider whether or not noise from the proposed 
operations would give rise to a significant adverse effect or an adverse effect 
or whether or not a good standard of amenity could be achieved. PPG refers 
to the Explanatory Note of the Noise Policy for England which requires 
applicants to identify whether the overall effect of the noise exposure is, or 
would be, above or below the “significant observed adverse effect level”.  
 
The ES includes an assessment of noise and background noise levels which 
have been monitored by the applicant’s acoustic consultant. Baseline 
measurements were taken at three locations around the site, chosen to be 
representative of the nearest residential properties.  Measured daytime noise 
levels are stated in the ES as ranging from 51-52 dB(A) to 66 db(A). For the 
purposes of the assessment, daytime hours were assumed to be (0700 hours 
to 2300 hours/0600 to 0000 hours) and night-time (2300 hours to 0700 
hours/0000 to 0600 hours) dependent on the location. As both the existing 
and future noise climate would continue to be dominated by traffic noise from 
the surrounding road network, modelled scenarios for 2020 and 2030 without 
the development were considered sufficiently representative of the future 
noise baseline. 
 
The ES identifies four residential noise sensitive receptors (NSR) predicting 
the likely noise levels that would be experienced at these properties during the 
construction and operational phases. Predicted noise levels experienced at 
the SMPLNR are also considered. Construction activities likely to generate 
noise impacts are excavation works, earthworks and regrading using heavy 
plant. Vehicle movements associated with the construction phase would also 
be noise generating. Whilst the ES notes that the demolition of the buildings at 
Ashlea Farm would result in increased noise levels, due to the relative 
distance of the nearest NSR (500m) and the short term, temporary nature of 
the demolition works, it does not consider that there would be any appreciable 
adverse impacts and is not considered further in the assessment. The ES 

Page 88



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    47 
11 January 2021 

anticipates that, in the worst case, the effects of construction noise would, in 
general, be moderate adverse when works happened to be taking place close 
to NSRs. Given likely setback distances and proposed construction 
techniques, impacts associated with vibration were considered to be 
temporary, minor adverse.  
 
Operational noise has been assessed in line with the Design Manual for 
Roads and Bridges, the DfT document ‘Calculation of Road Traffic Noise’ for 
human receptors and BS8233: 2014 Guidance on sound insulation and noise 
reduction for buildings for ecological receptors. Potential noise effects 
associated with the operation of the new road are therefore considered to be 
minor adverse through the daytime, during both the short and long term. For 
some receptors, there is also predicted to be a major beneficial effect in the 
short term and moderate beneficial in the long term. Impacts to the SMPLNR 
are assessed as being moderate adverse.  
 
Mitigation measures for the reduction of noise include restricting construction 
activities to daytime hours (0700 to 1900 hours), with working outside these, 
subject to prior agreement and, in the case of night-time working, only in 
exceptional circumstances. Once operational, as impacts to NSR were 
assessed as minor adverse, no mitigation measures are proposed. The 
exception to this is SMPLNR, where it is proposed to erect a 2.5m high 
acoustic fence to the west of the link road 
 
I note the conclusions of the ES with regard to noise and vibration, and am 
satisfied that the assessment has been undertaken in accordance with the 
appropriate guidance and British Standards. The proposed development 
would be located at least 0.5km from the nearest receptors and is unlikely to 
result in significant adverse effects. The ES suggests a suite of mitigation 
measures designed to reduce noise levels associated with the construction 
period and, in order to secure these, I have recommended the imposition of a 
condition requiring the submission of a detailed CMP. I further note the 
request of the SDDC EHO with regard to the need for a noise mitigation 
condition to deal with road noise, once the proposed junction and link road 
become operational, which I consider would be warranted, and have 
suggested an appropriate condition in the schedule below.  
 

In conclusion, I am satisfied that there would be no adverse noise impacts 
associated with the development and, subject to the conditions recommended 
above, consider it to be acceptable. In reaching this conclusion, I have taken 
into account the requirements of the policies of the SDDLP:P1 and the 
guidance in the PPG. 
 
Drainage and Flood Risk  
Paragraph 155 of the NPPF states that ‘Inappropriate development in areas at 
risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas 

Page 89



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    48 
11 January 2021 

at highest risk (whether existing or future). Paragraph 159 of the NPPF 
indicates that if it is not possible for development to be located in zones with a 
lower risk of flooding, the exception test may have to be applied. The need for 
the exception test being dependant on the potential vulnerability of the site 
and of the development proposed. NPPF Paragraph 160 states that for the 
exception test to be passed, it should be demonstrated that a) the 
development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the community that 
outweigh the flood risk; and b) the development will be safe for its lifetime 
taking into account the vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere and, where possible, will reduce flood risk overall. There is a 
requirement, under Paragraph 161, for both elements of the test to be 
satisfied for development to be allocated or permitted.  
 
Paragraph 163 of the NPPF states that ‘When determining any planning 
applications, local planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not 
increased elsewhere’. Development should only be allowed in areas at risk of 
flooding where it can be demonstrated that ‘a) within the site, the most 
vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk, unless there 
are overriding reasons to prefer a different location; b) the development is 
appropriately flood resistant and resilient; c) it incorporates sustainable 
drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that this would be 
inappropriate; d) any residual risk can be safely managed; and e) safe access 
and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an agreed 
emergency plan’. Paragraph 165 of the NPPF requires major developments to 
incorporate sustainable drainage systems which should, inter alia, include 
maintenance arrangements to ensure an acceptable standard of operation for 
the lifetime of the development and, where possible, provide multifunctional 
benefits.  
 
In its Flood Risk vulnerability classification, PPG categorises development of 
the type proposed here as ‘essential transport infrastructure (including mass 
evacuation routes) which has to cross the area at risk’ (Paragraph: 066 
Reference ID: 7-066-20140306).  
 
Policy SD2: Flood Risk of the SDLP:P1 prioritises the development of sites to 
those with the lowest risk of flooding and reiterates the requirements of NPPF 
Paragraph 160. Sites with a higher risk of flooding will only be considered 
where essential for regeneration or where development provides wider 
sustainability benefits to the community that outweigh flood risk. Development 
in such areas is expected to i) be resilient to flooding through design and 
layout; ii) incorporate appropriate mitigation measures, such as on-site flood 
defence works and/or a contribution towards or a commitment to undertake 
and/or maintain off-site measures; iii) not increase flood risk to other 
properties or surrounding areas; and iv) not affect the integrity or continuity of 
existing flood defences. Development that could lead to changes to surface 
water flows or increase flood risk are expected to be managed through the 

Page 90



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    49 
11 January 2021 

incorporation of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS). Proposals for flood 
management or other infrastructure offering improvements that lower the risk 
of flooding will be supported, subject to the proposal having no other adverse 
effects on local amenity and/or flood risk elsewhere. Where new flood related 
infrastructure is proposed, opportunities for delivering environmental 
improvements including biodiversity gain and GI delivery should be fully 
considered by those delivering the project. 
 
The ES considers the effects of the proposal on the water environment with 
specific reference to local flood risk and drainage, noting that road projects 
have the potential to affect water quality due to mobilisation of suspended 
solids, as well as risks from pollution. The ES is also supported by a full FRA 
and sustainable drainage strategy. Baseline conditions at the site are 
assessed. Watercourses in and around the site are considered typical of low-
lying agricultural areas, with very slight gradients and requiring regular 
maintenance (dredging) to aid conveyance and prevent blockage. One 
watercourse, Cuttle Brook, is classified in the Humber River Basin 
Management Plan, with the other local watercourses forming part of its 
catchment. Cuttle Brook is also classified as a heavily modified river with a 
‘moderate’ overall classification with particular sensitivity to pollution from 
‘transport drainage’. With regard to ground water bodies, the site overlays the 
Water Framework Directive ground water body defined as Lower Trent 
Erewash – Secondary Combined but is not located in a groundwater source 
protection zone. Underlying bedrock is designated as a Secondary B bedrock 
aquifer. Susceptibility to flooding from groundwater sources is therefore 
considered to be low (less than 25%).  
 
The site is identified as falling into a number of flood zones including the 
functional floodplain (flood zone 3b) which is at significant risk of flooding. 
Culverted sections of watercourses (primarily associated with informal farm 
crossing points and under highways) are also identified as a potential flood 
risk due to blockage. In general, the ES assesses the site to have a low risk of 
flooding from surface waters although notes isolated areas of ponding which 
could represent a risk. Existing highway drainage infrastructure, primarily 
associated with the A50, is also present within the site and the ES identifies 
drainage catchments associated with this. Run-off from both the westbound 
and eastbound carriageways of the A50 drain into ditches located either side 
of its embankment before being piped westwards for discharge into a local 
watercourse. Drainage from Deep Dale Lane is also discharged the same 
way. The ES estimates that run-off from a total catchment of 54,300m2 drains 
into the watercourse. 
 
Likely significant effects during the construction and operational phases are 
assessed with local receptors (environmental and human) identified and 
assigned a sensitivity. During construction, impacts associated with flood risk 
would include removal of part of the floodplain, as well obstructions to 

Page 91



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    50 
11 January 2021 

floodplain conveyance and flow routes. Without mitigation, this would 
potentially displace a large volume of floodplain towards properties to the west 
on Lomond Avenue, Coltsfoot Drive, Farmhouse Drive and surrounding areas 
which is assessed as having a high adverse magnitude effect and of major 
adverse significance. Risks to construction workers during this period were 
assessed as being of major adverse significance, although temporary and 
short term. Construction activities, such as soil stripping/earthworks, etc, were 
also identified as having the potential to generate sediment that could be 
washed/blown into local watercourses and highway drainage infrastructure, 
thereby reducing water quality and flow, and potentially increasing the risk of 
flooding. This was considered to be of medium adverse magnitude and, 
overall, of minor to moderate significance. Release of pollutants/contaminants 
into the local water environment was considered to be of medium adverse 
magnitude on a medium to low sensitivity receptor. Effects would be both 
direct and indirect potentially impacting over the medium term and of minor to 
moderate negative significance. Impacts to local watercourses (including the 
ditch which runs close to the farm) resulting from demolition works around 
Ashlea Farm was assessed, although the ES considered this to be of low 
likelihood with negligible effects.  
 
Once operational, due to its raised elevation, the proposed new road and 
junction were not considered to be at risk from flooding. The ES notes that 
significant flood alleviation measures are proposed that would store and 
convey flood waters from local watercourses. It considers that the measures 
would offer strategic management of fluvial flood risks and would have a high 
beneficial impact on medium to high sensitivity receptors and would therefore 
be of moderate to major positive significance. With regard to water quality, the 
ES notes that with the sustainable drainage strategy built into the design of 
the development, impacts associated with water pollution would be of 
negligible effect and therefore have negligible significance. Additional 
interceptors proposed for existing highway drainage from the A50 and Deep 
Dale Lane which would be of minor to moderate positive significance over the 
long term. Loss of agricultural land to flood alleviation and habitat creation, 
thereby reducing impacts associated with agrichemicals, was also considered 
to have minor to moderate positive significance.   
 
Mitigation/enhancement measures to reduce flood risk and pollution to 
watercourses/groundwater include: the creation of two strategic flood storage 
areas (north and west); designing diverted/improved sections of watercourse 
to accommodate the designed flood event (1 in 100 - year + 30%); and new 
culvert crossings designed with excess capacity to minimise the potential risk 
of blockage. Surface water drainage systems would also be designed to 
ensure future resilience. Flow rates from existing drainage infrastructure would 
be restricted as far as possible and new catchments would be limited to the 
greenfield rate to reduce surface water flooding. The ES considers that, with 
these measures, most flood risk impacts during the operational phase would 

Page 92



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    51 
11 January 2021 

be beneficial, offering a betterment to the current situation. Flood 
compensation areas would be constructed prior to works within the highway 
corridor being commenced, thereby reducing flood risk during the construction 
phase to minor adverse to negligible and that the CEMP would include a 
section on flood management and evacuation. With such measures in place, 
the ES considers that the significance of flood risk to construction workers 
would be reduced to minor adverse. With regard to water quality, the ES notes 
that there were no moderate to major adverse effects that were not mitigated 
by the design of the proposal. Nevertheless, in addition, it is also proposed 
that appropriate site management techniques (construction of haul roads, 
damping down soil stripping/earthworks to limit mobilisation of dust particles) 
be utilised to minimise dust generation. 
 
In conclusion, the ES states that with the proposed mitigation measures in 
place, the development would not result in any significant adverse effects to 
drainage and flood risk. It further notes that the strategic flood management 
solution provides improvements beyond what is required to support the 
proposed development.  
 
As set out above, and at the request of consultees, a number of amendments 
have been made to the original scheme in terms of flood alleviation measures. 
The revised design has required further assessment work to be undertaken 
which has been provided in an addendum to the original ES. The addendum 
states that, with the proposed revisions, there would be no change to the 
original conclusions of the ES in respect of likely significant effects during 
either the construction or operational phase of development. Primary 
mitigation from a flood risk perspective are the flood storage areas and the ES 
considers that these offer a significant reduction in flood risk to the local 
environment.  
 

The development would be partially located in the fluvial floodplain (flood zone 
3b), which is at the highest risk of flooding, as well as flood zones 2 and 3a 
(medium–high probability of flooding respectively) and would, by virtue of both 
its location and alignment, have the potential to remove existing floodplain, as 
well as interrupt the conveyance and flow of flood waters. This would conflict 
with the requirements of NPPF Paragraph 155 and SDLP:P1 Policy SD2. As 
set out above, the current proposal is an infrastructure only proposal which 
forms a key element of IGV, itself an essential part of the wider spatial vision 
for SDDC, delivering significant socio-economic benefit. Both the SDLP and 
the DCLP include allocations for new housing/employment land within the 
wider surrounding area, some of which are also located in flood zones 2 and 
3a/3b and the principle of developing this land has already been assessed, 
and found to be acceptable, in respect of flood risk at a strategic level. 
Relevant policies associated with IGV also accept the need for significant new 
highway infrastructure. In the context of IGV, therefore, I am satisfied that it 
would not be possible for the proposed new junction and link road to be 

Page 93



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    52 
11 January 2021 

located elsewhere. It is therefore necessary to assess the proposals against 
NPPF paragraphs 159-163 and the remainder of SDLP:P1 Policy SD2.  
 
As noted above, the proposed development is of a type defined as ‘essential 
infrastructure’ by PPG. It is intended to enable the development of IGV by 
unlocking previously inaccessible land and links the A50 in the south to 
existing highway infrastructure at iHUB roundabout in the north. It would also 
provide one of the main evacuation routes for residents and businesses within 
IGV during times of flood. It is therefore essential that the development is 
designed to ensure that such a means of escape is maintained. On the basis 
of the information submitted, I am satisfied that the revised scheme has been 
designed in such a manner so as to ensure that it would be appropriately flood 
resistant and resilient. The proposed incorporation of mitigation measures, 
including the two flood storage areas (which are now designed to 
accommodate flood events of a scale predicted for the 2080s and balance ); 
the restriction of existing run-off rates and proposed run-off rates to greenfield 
rates and the proposed management regime would be sufficient to ensure 
that, overall, the development would neither increase flood risk to other 
properties or surrounding areas, nor affect the integrity or continuity of existing 
flood defences and the EA has no objections in this respect. I further note that 
the revised scheme has also been amended to balance impacts associated 
with other nearby development.   
 
With regard to the proposed sustainable drainage strategy, I note that the 
LLFA is now satisfied that the revised scheme would represent an acceptable 
approach to sustainable management of drainage in the site and surrounding 
area. At the request of the LLFA, a condition has been imposed in order to 
secure the strategy. Diverted watercourses would include provision for the 
creation of new habitats and the applicant’s GIS seeks to provide for the 
delivery of new habitats including in and around the proposed flood alleviation 
where a network of linked permanent and marginal waterbodies would be 
created. Where they are located within Derbyshire, proposed future 
maintenance of the flood areas could be satisfactorily be secured via 
condition.  
 
I note the comments of the FSMP in respect of lack of proposed public access 
to the flood storage areas. Whilst this may be disappointing, I also consider 
that it would be inappropriate in this instance. Installation of recreational 
benches, etc, and significant levels of planting would have the potential to 
adversely affect the efficacy of these areas. Notwithstanding this, the scheme 
makes provision for enhancements to existing public access and recreation in 
the immediate area through the GIS which would be of benefit to the local 
community. Detailed information relating to planting scheme would be secured 
via condition for submission at a later date. 
 

Page 94



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    53 
11 January 2021 

In light of the above, I am satisfied that the development would accord with the 
requirements of the NPPF and policies SD2 and SD3 of the SDLP:P1 in 
respect of flood risk. 
 
Ground Conditions and Contamination  
Paragraph 170 of the NPPF requires planning decisions to contribute and 
enhance the natural and local environment by, inter alia, protecting and 
enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological interest and 
soils and preventing new and existing development from contributing to 
unacceptable levels of soil and water pollution or land instability. SDLP:P1 
Policy SD4 seeks to ensure that human health and the natural environment 
are protected through the provision of remedial measures where ground 
contamination is known or potentially known to exist. SDLP:P1 Policy BNE3 
seeks to contribute towards the protection, enhancement, management and 
restoration of geodiversity including local geological sites.  
 
The ES sets out baseline geological and soil conditions of the site and its 
surroundings. It highlights the predominant agricultural land use of the 
application site, noting the corresponding lack of potentially contaminative 
activities as a result. Exceptions are identified at Ashlea Farm (including 
tanks) and the A50 with the principal contaminants likely to be hydrocarbons, 
poly-aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), inorganics, heavy metals and 
asbestos/asbestos containing materials (ACMs). Adjacent land uses are also 
identified as predominantly agricultural, with residential development to the 
west at Stenson Fields and Sinfin. Industrial activity has historically been 
located to the north.  
 
The ES states that the majority of the site is underlain by superficial Lacustrine 
deposits of varying ages, the exception being along the route of the A50 and 
the land to the south junction where deposits of sand and gravel (Beeston 
member) between 1.90m and 2.25m below ground level were noted. All 
geology is identified as Secondary A aquifer, with underlying bedrock being a 
secondary B aquifer. The ES notes that the centre of the application site 
(north of the A50 and south of Sinfin) lies in the Sinfin Moor RIGS. There are 
no groundwater abstraction licences within the site, although historically three 
are known to have existed to the south. The site is not in an EA Source 
Protection Zone. Groundwater levels within the application site have been 
encountered between 0.2m and 3.91m below ground level. Topsoils have 
varying thicknesses of up to 0.45m with approximately 78.5% of the 
application site falling within agricultural land classification subgrade 3b due to 
slow permeability and seasonal waterlogging. The remainder of the 
application site is classified as non-agricultural.  
 
Likely significant effects during all phases of development are assessed. 
During construction, damage to soil structure (through poor handling and 
storage) and the potential for increased particulate run-off into local 

Page 95



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    54 
11 January 2021 

watercourses are identified, although not considered significant. Fuel/lubricant 
spillages would also potentially lead to the pollution of soil and groundwater, 
although the ES considers that such effects would be localised and, therefore, 
not significant. The ES notes that there would be potential for unknown 
contaminants to be present in the soils, although the risk of this is considered 
negligible. Inappropriate construction methods and earthworks would have the 
potential to affect the RIGS where it lies within the application site. Mitigation 
measures proposed include working in line with CIRIA C471 Good Practice on 
Site and the production of a CEMP to reduce topsoil damage and soil 
particulate run-off to negligible effect levels. Fuels would be stored in 
accordance with EA guidance which would mitigate the effect of spillages 
impacting local soils and groundwater quality to negligible levels. With regard 
to the RIGS, the ES recommends that, where possible, a piled foundation 
solution is utilised to minimise the impact on the sedimentary sequences. 
Further recommendations in respect of the RIGS include keeping cut and fill 
exercises as small as possible with a full watching brief during excavation 
works to record the sedimentary sequences. Based on the assessments 
undertaken, the ES concludes that, subject to the recommended mitigation 
measures being implemented, the potential ground condition and 
contamination effects associated with the development during the construction 
and operational phases would not be significant. 
 
The ES gives a commitment to the appropriate handling and storage of soils 
during the construction period, as well as the appropriate reuse of these 
stored soils during the landscaping of the current proposals and the wider IGV 
development. This is welcomed as an appropriate and sustainable use of the 
existing soil resource. The loss of agricultural land is always of concern, 
although in real terms the loss associated with the current proposals would be 
relatively small and the soils of only moderate quality. In this respect, I note 
that NE did not raise any objections regarding agricultural land or soils. I 
further note that the ES sets out a range of good practice site management 
measures to ensure that the site and its surroundings are not affected by 
pollution during the construction and operational phases of the development.  
 
The EHO has requested the imposition of conditions to account for any 
previously undetected contamination and I would agree that this is an 
appropriate response. I further note that the ES suggests that contamination 
(including asbestos) may be present within the Ashlea Farm buildings and I 
would therefore recommend that a further condition, requiring detailed 
information relating to the handling and disposal of such material, also be 
imposed.  
 
The proposal would result in the loss of a portion of the RIGS. Cumulatively, 
such losses would be even greater in the context of IGV as, when complete, 
this development would cover almost the entire designation. Whilst RIGS are 
non-statutory, they generally represent geological features of County level 

Page 96



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    55 
11 January 2021 

interest and are therefore a material consideration. The ES recommends 
mitigation measures, including a watching brief during excavation works to 
record the sedimentary sequences, as well as less intrusive construction 
methods, and I have recommended conditions to secure these. I do, however, 
have some concerns regarding the approach to the RIGS designation in the 
ES, which tends towards the geo-archaeological rather than the 
geomorphological, the latter being one of the reasons for the site’s 
designation. I also consider the ES to be lacking in respect of an assessment 
of the potential cumulative impacts associated with this development and, as a 
consequence, there does not appear to be any suggestion of any 
comprehensive approach to ensuring adequate coverage of the RIGS and its 
geomorphology, the recording and subsequent depositing of such information. 
I would therefore recommend an additional condition requiring that such work 
be undertaken to ensure that a permanent record of the RIGS be created.    
 
In conclusion, subject to the conditions set out above, I am satisfied that the 
proposal would not conflict with the relevant requirements of SDLP:P1 policies 
SD4 and BNE3 or Paragraph 170 of the NPPF.  
 
Cumulative and in Combination Effects 

The ES includes a chapter on cumulative and in combination effects. With 
regard to in combination effects, the ES notes other committed developments, 
particularly those that make up the wider IGV proposals. From a socio-
economic perspective, cumulative effects to population, construction 
employment, housing provision, employment generation and educational 
capacity, as a result of the wider IGV proposal, are considered to be major 
beneficial. Cumulative impacts in respect of deprivation were assessed to be 
moderate beneficial with the two schools and increased employment 
floorspace considered to address the higher deprivation levels in the vicinity of 
the site. Impacts to healthcare provision were assessed as negligible due to 
sufficient GPs, dentists and provision of other services existing in the 
surrounding area, whilst impacts to community facilities (retail/leisure facilities, 
as well as green and blue infrastructure) were considered to result in a minor 
beneficial effect.  
 
With regard to specific cumulative environmental impacts, the ES argues that 
there would be no overriding cumulative environmental constraints that would 
preclude the proposed development. 
 
Whilst there is no one universally accepted format for cumulative impact 
assessment, I concur with the ES that those appropriate to the consideration 
of the effects of the proposed link road and junction are the concurrent 
impacts associated with the development of the wider IGV and the in 
combination environmental effects of the development. One particularly 
important cumulative impact issue is the combined effect of the changes to the 
application site and its surroundings as a result of the development of IGV 

Page 97



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    56 
11 January 2021 

which, if and when fully developed would, in my view, result in almost total and 
inevitable losses of the Wet Pasture Meadows LCT and the landform 
associated with the RIGS. The broad issues of the effects from such losses, 
however, would have been very apparent anyhow during each stage in the 
statutory processes leading to adoption of both the SDLP and the DCLP. 
Therefore it has to be assumed that the obviously adverse landscape and 
geological effects from such inevitable losses were under those local plan 
processes found to be outweighed by beneficial factors, such as the 
substantial socio-economic benefits to the area that would be achieved 
through the delivery of IGV.  
 
In the assessment of individual topics above, I have concluded that there 
would be no substantive adverse impacts sufficient to warrant a 
recommendation of refusal. For this reason and the other reasons indicated 
above, I also consider that the proposal would not give rise to any cumulative 
adverse impacts sufficient to warrant refusal. 
 
Climate Change 
Paragraph 150 of the NPPF requires that new development should be 
planned for in ways that avoid increased vulnerability to the range of impacts 
arising from climate change. It says that when new development is brought 
forward in areas which are vulnerable, care should be taken to ensure that 
risks can be managed through suitable adaptation measures, including 
through the planning of green infrastructure.  
 
As an infrastructure only project, in itself the development would not result in 
an increase in vehicular traffic, although it may result in a redistribution of 
traffic flows in the surrounding area. As noted above, in respect of air quality, 
the proposal would not result in a worsening of existing air quality standards, 
the key conclusions of the ES being that any impacts would be ‘negligible’ and 
‘not significant’. As a built structure, the proposed junction and link road is 
likely to have a negligible effect on climate change or any impacts arising from 
it, given the effect of additional tree replacement and landscaping proposed in 
the GIS and the proposed flood mitigation measures (which are designed to 
accommodate flood events +50% which equates to the situation in the 2080s) 
which go beyond those required in respect of the proposals. Furthermore, the 
overall scheme has been designed to incorporate/facilitate pedestrian and 
cycle links that would lead to existing and proposed employment/residential 
areas allowing for north-south and east/west movement across the IGV area 
which would promote more sustainable modes of transport.  
 
It is acknowledged that the proposed junction/link road would not operate in 
isolation, its primary function being to support the delivery of IGV. Additional 
traffic generation associated with IGV, as well as the proposed new 
employment and residential development, are all likely to facilitate the 
generation of additional emissions to air into the atmosphere which could have 

Page 98



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    57 
11 January 2021 

the potential to lead to impacts on climate change, both singly and in 
cumulation. However, the consequence of increased emissions in terms of 
potential impacts in respect of climate change would need to be assessed, 
and mitigated for, at the time that any development proposals came forward 
for consideration to either SDDC or Derby City.  In light of the above, I am 
satisfied that the proposal would accord with the Paragraph 150 of the NPPF.  
 
Conclusion 
The Government places great weight on development. The development 
would have substantial socio-economic benefit to the area through the 
provision of essential highway infrastructure, thereby enabling the 
development of IGV to commence by unlocking currently inaccessible land. 
The proposal would accord with the strategic vision set out in the SDLP, both 
of which include policies that assume the provision of such infrastructure, as 
well as the wider aspirations of the NPPF in terms of the delivery of economic 
growth and the delivery of new homes.  
 
In general, I am satisfied that the proposal would not result in significant 
adverse environmental impacts and that it would bring environmental benefit 
in the form of substantial biodiversity gain through GIS, as well as providing 
flood capacity in excess of that required in respect of the current proposals. 
The development would, however, also result in some adverse landscape and 
visual impacts and impacts to geology, through the loss of part of the Wet 
Pasture Meadows LCT and the Sinfin Moor RIGS. Viewed in cumulation with 
the wider IGV development, such losses would be more significant leading to 
both being lost almost in their entirety. However, in light of the fact that such 
losses are already assumed by the allocation of the land in both the SDLP and 
the DCLP, and that such development would clearly result in substantial 
socio-economic benefit, I do not consider that these losses would be sufficient 
to outweigh that benefit or justify a recommendation of refusal. 
 
Planning Permission as sought by the application is therefore recommended 
to be authorised to be granted  subject a set of conditions corresponding to a 
scheme  of outline requirements for conditions below and Derby City Council 
authorising  a corresponding grant of permission for the corresponding 
application made to the City Council.  
 
(3) Financial Considerations No fee was payable to Derbyshire 
County Council in respect of this application although, as per the requirements 
of Paragraph 8(2)(b) to Schedule 1 of The Town and Country Planning (Fees 
for Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the applicant has paid a fee of one and a half times the 
normal fee (e.g. that which would have been payable were the site located 
within the area of one local planning authority) to Derby City Council.  
 

Page 99



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    58 
11 January 2021 

(4) Legal Considerations This is an application submitted under the 
Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 for development which 
the County Council itself proposes to carry out. 
 
I do not consider that there would be any disproportionate impacts on 
anyone's human rights under the European Convention on Human Rights as a 
result of this permission being granted subject to the conditions referred to in 
the Officer’s Recommendation. 
 
(5) Environmental and Health Considerations As indicated in the 
report.  
 
Other Considerations 
 
In preparing this report the relevance of the following factors has been 
considered: prevention of crime and disorder, equality and diversity, human 
resources, property, social value and transport considerations. 
 
(6) Background Papers File No.9.1600.3 
Application documents and correspondence received from Pegasus Group on 
behalf of the Director of Property received 24 April 2019, together with the 
letter and accompanying documents from Pegasus Group on behalf of the 
Director of Property received 17 July 2019, the addendum to the ES and 
accompanying documents received from Pegasus Group on 24 July 2020 and 
the Breach analysis assessment and flood risk technical note received from 
Pegasus Group on 14 December 2020. 
 
Letters from Historic England dated 23 April 2019 and 24 July 2019; emails 
from the Conservation, Heritage and Design section dated 24 April 2019, 16 
May, 21 May and 24 May 2019, 18 July , 22 July, 25 July and 31 July 2019, 9 
August, 12 August and 15 August 2019, and 13 August 2020; Letters and 
emails from Cadent Gas Ltd dated 26 April 2019, 3 May and 24 May 2019; 
letters from South Derbyshire District Council dated 30 April 2019, 5 June 
2019, 8 August 2019 and 7 September 2020; letters from Highways England 
dated 10 May 2019, 2 August 2019, 8 August 2020,  January and 27 January 
2021; letters from Natural England dated 17 May 2019 and 9 August 2019; 
letters from Public Health England dated 21 May 2019, 24 July 2019 and 8 
August 2020; email correspondence from East Midlands Airport dated 28 May 
2019, 23 August, 29 August 2019, 11 September 2020 and 2 January 2021; 
email from Councillor Neil Atkin dated 28 May 2019; correspondence from the 
lead Local Flood Authority dated 30 May 2019, 15 August 2019 and 28 August 
2020; email correspondence from Derbyshire Constabulary dated 31 May 
2019, 22 July 2019 and 31 July 2020; letters from Derbyshire Wildlife Trust 
dated 31 May 2019, 28 August 2019 and 25 September 2020; letters from the 
Environment Agency dated 3 June 2019, 29 August 2019, 16 September 
2020,11 December 2020 and 5 January 2021; letter from Friends of Sinfin 

Page 100



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    59 
11 January 2021 

Moor Local Nature Reserve dated 6 June 2019 and 14 August 2020; email 
from Derby Airfield dated 7 June 2019; correspondence from Health and 
Safety Executive dated 12 June 2019, 23 July 2019,12 August 2019 and 16 
August 2019; email correspondence from the Highways Authority dated 14 
June 2019, 29 July 2019, 27 September 2019 and 13 October 2020; email 
correspondence from Stenson Fields Parish Council dated 18 June 2019 and 
19 September 2019; email correspondence from Western Power Ltd dated 21 
August 2019; letters from the Canal and River Trust dated 18 October 2019,  
1 September 2020 and 13 January 2021; letter from the Department for 
Transport dated 7 January 2021; and email from Derbyshire County Council 
Emergency Planning team dated 27 January 2021. 
 
(7) OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION That the Committee resolves to 
authorise the Director to grant a County Council planning permission for the 
development described in the application in respect of the County Council’s 
administrative area subject to:  
 
7.1 Derby City Council resolving to authorise a corresponding grant of 

planning permission in respect of the corresponding application for the 
development in its administrative area; and 

 
7.2 conditions based on the following set of outline requirements: 
 
 Duration and Commencement 
 
1) Limit time for commencement to five years from the date of the 

permission. 
 

2) A corresponding planning permission to be in place, before 
commencement of development, for the connecting section of link road 
(to be granted by Derby City Council under application ref: 
19/00417/FUL. 
 

Approved Details  

3) Condition adherence to the full set of plans and documents. 
 

Highways  

4) The A50 junction and link road not to open until the off-site highway 
works and traffic calming scheme on Deep Dale Lane are provided in 
accordance with approved details. 
 

5) Improvements to be made to Deep Dale Lane, north of the A50. 
 

6) Pre-commencement and post-implementation monitoring programme 
for traffic on Stenson Road/Wragley Way, Deepdale Lane south of the 
A50, and the A5132/A514 junctions and Barrow Bridge.  If monitoring 

Page 101



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    60 
11 January 2021 

identifies highway improvement measures needed to mitigate any 
highway safety impacts, such measures to be secured by scheme 
submission and approval.   

7) Precise details for all lighting (including temporary and task lighting). 
 
Flood Risk/Drainage 

8) Detailed flood risk management/mitigation scheme, having regard to 
submitted Flood Risk Assessment. To include details of outfall design. 
Relevant construction to be supervised by a registered Reservoir Panel 
Engineer. 

 
9) Culverts, bridge crossings and open water features not to be 

constructed until detailed designs have been approved. 
 

10) Watercourse diversions not to be constructed or undertaken until 
detailed designs have been approved. 
 

11) Development not to take place until details of the method of disposal of 
surface water, including details of the outfall have been submitted and 
agreed. Surface water drainage to include sustainable drainage features 
in accordance with defined criteria. 
 

12) A Handover Environmental Management Plan (HEMP) for maintenance 
of flood alleviation areas including arrangements for long term 
maintenance and management. 
 

13) The development to be carried out in accordance with the submitted 
Flood Risk Assessment. 
 

14) A scheme to treat and remove suspended soils from surface water run-
off during construction. 
 

Highway Noise Mitigation 
15) A scheme of noise mitigation for the traffic noise generated once the 

development is operational. 
 

16) Design and siting details along with technical specification for acoustic 
fence and a precise timetable for its delivery. 
 

Ground Contamination/Pollution to Controlled Waters  
17) Comprehensive treatment of contamination not previously identified [in 

line with NPPF Paragraph 170]. 
 

Archaeology 

18) A detailed Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) for archaeological 
work. The development to be carried out in accordance with the agreed 

Page 102



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    61 
11 January 2021 

WSI and provision for analysis, publication, and dissemination of 
results. 
 

Ecology/Green Infrastructure/Geology 
19) A detailed hard and soft landscaping scheme, to be based on the 

principles set out in the Green Infrastructure Strategy.  To include 
precise details for layout, planting and access.  
 

20) A detailed Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP). Plan 
to include planting details, design objectives, management 
responsibilities and maintenance schedules. 
   

21) A pre-commencement badger survey and any consequential mitigation 
needed. 
 

22) A pre-commencement survey for water vole and any consequential 
mitigation needed. 
 

23) Provision of mammal underpass beneath the link road. 
 

24) A final Arboricultural Method Statement and a final Tree Protection Plan. 
 

25) Timing of ground and vegetation clearance works to avoid the bird 
nesting season. 
 

26) Geological reporting to provide a record of the Sinfin Moor RIGS to be 
lost. 
  

CEMPs 
27) A detailed Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) 

which shall include a detailed construction dust management plan. 
 

 
Statement of Compliance with Article 35 of the Town and Country 
Development Management Procedure Order 2015 
The Council, as County Planning Authority (the “Authority”), worked with the 
Council as applicant (the “applicant”) in a positive and pro-active manner 
based on seeking solutions to problems arising in the processing of planning 
applications in full accordance with this Article. The applicant has engaged in 
pre-application discussions with the Authority prior to the submission of the 
application. The applicant was given clear advice as to what information would 
be required. The Authority also responded to a formal Scoping Opinion 
request concerning the issues to be addressed in the Environment Statement 
that accompanied the application. 
 

Page 103



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    62 
11 January 2021 

The Environmental Statement, as submitted, covered all the necessary topics 
but did not fully address all the relevant aspects and issues of each topic and 
contained some assessments where the presentation was not satisfactory. In 
accordance with the EIA regulations, the applicant was given clear advice as 
to the form and content of the supplementary survey work required to enable 
an appropriate assessment of the proposed development to be made. 
 
The requested information related to the need to complete the range of survey 
work submitted with the application and the need for further assessment of the 
impacts on hydrology and flood risk, archaeology, noise and transport. These 
issues arose from the comments from the respective consultees to the original 
planning application documentation. The applicant also agreed to extend the 
timescale for the determination of the application. 
 
In accordance with Section 100ZA of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990, as amended and the Town and Country Planning (Pre-Commencement 

Conditions) Regulations 2018 (‘the Regulations’), the applicant has been 

provided with an initial draft schedule of conditions. However, to promote 

consistency with the conditions to any planning permission issued by Derby 

City Council, it is now proposed that a new draft schedule, reflecting the 

outline requirements' set out in the recommendation to this report, would be 

provided to the applicant before the issue of any permission.  

 
Draft footnotes to decision notice: 
 
Highways England 
1) The highway mitigation work associated with this consent involves 

works within the public highway, which is land over which you have no 
control. Highways England therefore requires you to enter into a 
suitable legal Section 278 agreement to cover the design check, 
construction and supervision of the works. Contact should be made with 
Highways England Section 278 Service Delivery Manager David 
Steventon to discuss these matters at 
david.steventon@highwaysengland.co.uk.   

 

2) The applicant should be made aware that any works undertaken to 
Highways England network are carried out under the Network 
Occupancy Management policy, in accordance with Highways England 
procedures, which currently requires notification/booking three months 
prior to the proposed start date. Exemptions to these bookings can be 
made, but only if valid reasons can be given to prove they will not affect 
journey time reliability and safety. The contact email for these matters is 
Area7networkoccupancy@highwaysengland.co.uk. 

 
Highway Authority 

Page 104

mailto:david.steventon@highwaysengland.co.uk
mailto:Area7networkoccupancy@highwaysengland.co.uk


Public 

RP02 2021.docx    63 
11 January 2021 

3) Pursuant to sections 149 and 151 of the Highways Act 1980, steps shall 
be taken to ensure that mud or other extraneous material is not carried 
out of the site and deposited on the public highway. Should such 
deposits occur, it is the applicant’s responsibility to ensure that all 
reasonable steps (e.g. street sweeping) are taken to maintain the roads 
in the vicinity of the site to a satisfactory level of cleanliness. 

 
4) Pursuant to Section 38 and the Advance Payments Code of the 

Highways Act 1980, the proposed new estate roads should be laid out 
and constructed to adoptable standards and financially secured.  Advice 
regarding the technical, financial, legal and administrative processes 
involved in achieving adoption of new residential roads may be obtained 
from the Department of Economy, Transport and Environment at 
County Hall, Matlock (tel: 01629 533190 and ask for the Development 
Control Implementation Team). 

  
5) Pursuant to Section 163 of the Highways Act 1980, where the site 

curtilage slopes down towards the public highway measures shall be 
taken to ensure that surface water run-off from within the site is not 
permitted to discharge across the footway margin. This usually takes 
the form of a dish channel or gulley laid across the access immediately 
behind the back edge of the highway, discharging to a drain or 
soakaway within the site. 

  
6) Pursuant to Section 184 of the Highways Act 1980 and Section 86(4) of 

the New Roads and Streetworks Act 1991 prior notification shall be 
given to the Department of Economy Transport & Environment at 
County Hall, Matlock regarding access works within the highway.  
Information, and relevant application forms, regarding the undertaking 
of access works within highway limits is available via the County 
Council’s website www.derbyshire.gov.uk, email 
highways.hub@derbyshire.gov.uk  or telephone Call Derbyshire on 
01629 533190. 

  
7) Pursuant to Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 and the provisions of 

the Traffic Management Act 2004, no works may commence within the 
limits of the public highway without the formal written Agreement of the 
County Council, as Highway Authority.  Advice regarding the technical, 
legal, administrative and financial processes involved in Section 278 
Agreements may be obtained from Development Control at County Hall, 
Matlock (tel: 01629 538658). The applicant is advised to allow 
approximately 12 weeks in any programme of works to obtain a Section 
278 Agreement. 

  
8) Pursuant to Section 50 (Schedule 3) of the New Roads and Streetworks 

Act 1991, before any excavation works are commenced within the limits 

Page 105

http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/
mailto:highways.hub@derbyshire.gov.uk


Public 

RP02 2021.docx    64 
11 January 2021 

of the public highway, at least 6 weeks prior notification should be given 
to the Department of Economy, Transport and Environment at County 
Hall, Matlock (tel: 01629 533190 and ask for the New Roads and 
Streetworks Section or e-mail highways.hub@derbyshire.gov.uk). 

 9) Construction works are likely to require Traffic Management and advice 
regarding procedures should be sought from Mr J Adams, Traffic 
Management, 01629 538628.  All road closure and temporary traffic 
signal applications will have to be submitted via the County Councils 
web-site; relevant forms are available via the following link 
www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport_roads/roads_traffic/roadworks/default.
asp  

 
Lead Local Flood Authority 

10) The County Council does not adopt any Sustainable Drainage System 
(SuDS) schemes at present (although may consider ones which are 
served by highway drainage only). As such, it should be confirmed prior 
to commencement of works who will be responsible for SuDS 
maintenance/management once the development is completed. 

 
11) Any works in or nearby an ordinary watercourse may require consent 

under the Land Drainage Act (1991) from the County Council. For 
further advice, or to make an application please contact 
Flood.Team@derbyshire.gov.uk. 

 
12) No part of the proposed development shall be constructed within 3m-8m 

of an ordinary watercourse and a minimum 3m for a culverted 
watercourse (increases with size of culvert). It should be noted that the 
County Council has an anti-culverting policy. 

 
13) The applicant should be mindful to obtain all the relevant information 

pertaining to proposed discharge in land that is not within their control, 
which is fundamental to allow the drainage of the proposed 
development site. 

 
14) The applicant should demonstrate, to the satisfaction of the County 

Planning Authority, the appropriate level of treatment stages from the 
resultant surface water discharge, in line with Table 4.3 of the CIRIA 
SuDS Manual C753. 

  
15) The County Council would prefer the applicant to utilise existing 

landform to manage surface water in mini/sub-catchments. The 
applicant is advised to contact the County Council’s Flood Risk 
Management team should any guidance on the drainage strategy for 
the proposed development be required. 

 
16) The applicant should provide a flood evacuation plan which outlines: 

Page 106

mailto:highways.hub@derbyshire.gov.uk
http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport_roads/roads_traffic/roadworks/default.asp
http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/transport_roads/roads_traffic/roadworks/default.asp
mailto:Flood.Team@derbyshire.gov.uk


Public 

RP02 2021.docx    65 
11 January 2021 

 

 The flood warning procedure 

 A safe point of extraction 

 How users can safely evacuate the site upon receipt of a flood 
warning 

 The areas of responsibility for those participating in the plan 

 The procedures for implementing the plan 

 How users will be made aware of flood risk 

 How users will be made aware of flood resilience 

 Who will be responsible for the update of the flood evacuation plan 
 
17) Flood resilience should be duly considered in the design of the new 

building/s or renovation. Guidance may be found in BRE Digest 532 
Parts 1 and 2, 2012 and BRE Good Building Guide 84. 

 
18) Surface water drainage plans should include the following: 
 

 Rainwater pipes, gullies and drainage channels including cover 
levels. 

 Inspection chambers, manholes and silt traps including cover and 
invert levels. 

 Pipe sizes, pipe materials, gradients and flow directions and pipe 
numbers. 

 Soakaways, including size and material. 

 Typical inspection chamber/soakaway/silt trap and surface water 
attenuation details. 

 Site ground levels and finished floor levels. 
 
19) On Site Surface Water Management: 

 

 The site is required to accommodate rainfall volumes up to 1 in 100 
year return period (plus climate change) whilst ensuring no flooding to 
buildings or adjacent land. 

 The applicant will need to provide details and calculations including 
any below ground storage, overflow paths (flood routes), surface 
detention and infiltration areas, etc, to demonstrate how the 100 year 
+ 30% Climate Change rainfall volumes will be controlled and 
accommodated, also incorporating a sensitivity test to 40% Climate 
change. In addition an appropriate allowance should be made for 
urban creep throughout the lifetime of the development as per ‘BS 
8582:2013 Code of Practice for Surface Water Management for 
Developed Sites’ (to be agreed with the LLFA). 

 Production of a plan showing above ground flood pathways (where 
relevant) for events in excess of 1 in 100 year rainfall, to ensure 
exceedance routes can be safely managed. 

Page 107



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    66 
11 January 2021 

 A plan detailing the impermeable area attributed to each drainage 
asset (pipes, swales, etc). 

 
 Peak Flow Control 

 For greenfield developments, the peak run-off rate from the 
development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body for 
the 1 in 1 year rainfall event and the 1 in 100 year rainfall event, 
should never exceed the peak greenfield run-off rate for the same 
event. 

 For developments which were previously developed, the peak run-off 
rate from the development to any drain, sewer or surface water body 
for the 1 in 1 year rainfall event and the 1 in 100 year rainfall event 
must be as close as reasonably practicable to the greenfield run-off 
rate from the development for the same rainfall event, but should 
never exceed the rate of discharge from the development, prior to 
redevelopment for that event. 

 
Volume Control 

 For greenfield developments, the run-off volume from the 
development to any highway drain, sewer or surface water body in 
the 1 in 100 year, 6 hour rainfall event must not exceed the greenfield 
run-off volume for the same event 

 For developments which have been previously developed, the run-off 
volume from the development to any highway drain, sewer or surface 
water body in the 1 in 100 year, 6 hour rainfall event must be 
constrained to a value as close as is reasonably practicable to the 
greenfield run-off volume for the same event, but must not exceed the 
run-off volume for the development site prior to redevelopment for 
that event. 

 
Note:- If the greenfield run-off for a site is calculated at less than 2 l/s, 
then a minimum of 2 l/s could be used (subject to approval from the 
LLFA). 

 

 Details of how the on-site surface water drainage systems shall be 
maintained and managed after completion and for the lifetime of the 
development to ensure the features remain functional. 

 Where cellular storage is proposed and is within areas where it may 
be susceptible to damage by excavation by other utility contractors, 
warning signage should be provided to inform of its presence. 
Cellular storage and infiltration systems should not be positioned 
within the highway. 

 Guidance on flood pathways can be found in BS EN 752. 

 The Greenfield run-off rate which is to be used for assessing the 
requirements for limiting discharge flow rates and attenuation storage 
for a site should be calculated for the whole development area (paved 

Page 108



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    67 
11 January 2021 

and pervious surfaces - houses, gardens, roads, and other open 
space) that is within the area served by the drainage network 
whatever size of the site and type of drainage system. Significant 
green areas such as recreation parks, general public open space 
etc., which are not served by the drainage system and do not play a 
part in the run-off management for the site, and which can be 
assumed to have a run-off response which is similar to that prior to 
the development taking place, may be excluded from the greenfield 
analysis. 

 
K. If infiltration systems are to be used for surface water disposal, the 
following information must be provided: 
 

 Ground percolation tests to BRE 365. 

 Ground water levels records. Minimum 1m clearance from maximum 
seasonal groundwater level to base of infiltration compound. This 
should include assessment of relevant groundwater borehole records, 
maps and on-site monitoring in wells. 

 Soil / rock descriptions in accordance with BS EN ISO 14688-1:2002 
or BS EN ISO 14689-1:2003. 

 Volume design calculations to 1 in 100 year rainfall + 30% climate 
change standard. An appropriate factor of safety should be applied to 
the design in accordance with CIRIA C753 – Table 25.2. 

 Location plans indicating position (soakaways serving more than one 
property must be located in an accessible position for maintenance). 
Soakaways should not be used within 5m of buildings or the highway 
or any other structure. 

 Drawing details including sizes and material. 

 Details of a sedimentation chamber (silt trap) upstream of the inlet 
should be included. 

 
Soakaway detailed design guidance is given in CIRIA Report 753, 
CIRIA Report 156 and BRE Digest 365. 

 
20) All Micro Drainage calculations and results must be submitted in .MDX 

format, to the Local Planning Authority. (Other methods of drainage 
calculations are acceptable.) 

 
21) The applicant should submit a comprehensive management plan 

detailing how surface water shall be managed on site during the 
construction phase of the development ensuring there is no increase in 
flood risk off site or to occupied buildings within the development. 

 
Cadent Gas 
22) The applicant is advised to contact Cadent Gas network protection team 

well in advance of the works commencing. The applicant’s attention is 

Page 109



Public 

RP02 2021.docx    68 
11 January 2021 

also drawn to the High Pressure Gas Pipelines Guidance ‘Specification 
for Safe Working in the Vicinity of Cadent and/or National Grid High 
Pressure Gas Pipelines and Associated Installations - Requirements for 
Third Parties' (SSW22).  

 
 This can be obtained from:  
 http://www2.nationalgrid.com/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=33968    
 
 Dial Before You Dig Pipelines Guidance:  

 http://www2.nationalgrid.com/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=33969  
 
Western Power 
23) The applicant is advised to contact Western Power Distribution on 

01332 276675 or 07710 155781 well in advance of the works 
commencing in order to obtain the necessary diversion/disconnection 
quotes.  

 
Environment Agency 
24) Compliance with the Reservoirs Act 1975 The applicant has 

confirmed that the two structures referred to as the Western Flood 
Storage Area (WFSA) and Southern Flood Storage Area (SFSA) will be 
classified as large raised reservoirs (i.e. with capacity to store greater 
than 25,000m3 above ground level) and will require compliance with the 
Reservoirs Act 1975. The Environment Agency are the enforcement 
authority for the Reservoirs Act 1975 and under this Act it is a 
requirement that the reservoir owner: 

 

 Appoint a qualified civil engineer ('construction engineer') under 
Section 6 of the Reservoirs Act to design and supervise the 
construction work.  Details of suitably qualified engineers can be 
found here https://www.gov.uk/reservoirs-a-guide-for-owners-and-
operators. 

 Provide the national reservoir safety team with a notice of their 
intention under Section 21 of the Reservoirs Act, not less than 28 
days before work on-site is due to start. 

 Appoint a supervising engineer and an inspecting engineer if the 
reservoirs are considered high risk. 

 
Responsibilities under The Reservoir Act 1975 
25) The Reservoir Act 1975 sets out the following responsibilities for the reservoir 

owner: 
  

 Appoint a qualified civil engineer ('construction engineer') under 
Section 6 of the Reservoirs Act to design and supervise the 
construction work.  

Page 110

http://www2.nationalgrid.com/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=33968
http://www2.nationalgrid.com/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=33969
https://www.gov.uk/reservoirs-a-guide-for-owners-and-operators
https://www.gov.uk/reservoirs-a-guide-for-owners-and-operators


Public 

RP02 2021.docx    69 
11 January 2021 

 Provide the national reservoir safety team with a notice of their 
intention under Section 21 of the Reservoirs Act, not less than 28 
days before work on-site is due to start. 

 Appoint a supervising engineer and an inspecting engineer if the 
reservoirs are considered high risk. 

 
 
 

Tim Gregory 
Director for Economy, Transport and Environment 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Public 

RP09 2021.docx 1 
15 February 2021 

Agenda Item No. 3.3  
DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
15 February 2021 

 
Report of the Director – Economy, Transport and Environment 

 
Item for the Committee’s Information 

 
  3 CURRENT ENFORCEMENT ACTION 

 
Site Breach Action Taken Comment 
Lindrick, Mansfield 
Road, Corbriggs 
(formerly MXG) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Unauthorised storage 
and processing of inert 
waste. 

Enforcement Notice issued 27 June 2013, requiring 
removal of all waste material before 1 August 2014.  A 
Notice of Relaxation of Enforcement Notice was 
issued on 23 March 2015. This extended the period of 
compliance for the processing and removal of waste to 
31 January 2016, and the seeding of the exposed 
perimeter banks to 31 July 2016. 
Planning Contravention Notice issued 1 November 
2016 (response received). 
Breach of Condition Notice (Mud on Road) issued 19 
December 2016. 
Notice of Relaxation of Enforcement Notice issued on 
10 July 2017 extended the period of compliance to 31 
December 2017. 

Site inactive.  
 

Stancliffe Quarry 
3.696R 

Condition 43 relating 
to stability of land 
adjacent to quarry 
face. Non–compliance 

Breach of Condition Notice served October 2013 
requiring submission of a relevant scheme by end of 
January 2014 (extended date). 
Temporary Stop Notice issued 17 February 2017. 

Site inactive. Two planning 
applications relating to the site 
under consideration 
CM3/0918/48 and CM3/0918/49). 

P
age 113

A
genda Item

 3(c)



Public 

RP09 2021.docx 2 
15 February 2021 

relating to requirement 
to provide appropriate 
remediation scheme. 
 
February 2017 
Breach involving the 
removal of stone via 
unauthorised access, 
creation of access 
track and damage to 
trees covered by Tree 
Preservation Order. 

Interim Injunction Order granted 31 March 2017. 

Land west of Park 
Farm, Woodland 
Road, Stanton 

Without planning 
permission, the 
change of use of the 
land from an 
agricultural use to a 
use comprising 
agriculture and the 
importation and 
storage of waste 
material.  

Enforcement Notice issued 14 December 2018 Date notice takes effect – 21 
January 2019. 
 
Ongoing monitoring of notice 
requirements.  

Land at Park Hills 
Farm, Mugginton 
Lane End, Weston 
Underwood 

Without planning 
permission, the 
deposit of waste 
materials onto land. 

Temporary Stop Notice issued 29 May 2019. 
Enforcement Notice issued 3 February 2020. 

Ongoing monitoring/review. 
Enforcement notice took effect 4 
March 2020. 
 

Land at Lady Lea 
Road, Horsley 

Importation and 
deposit of material 
onto land. 

Planning Contravention Notice issued 28 October 
2019. 
Temporary Stop Notice issued 29 May 2020. 
Enforcement Notice issued 16 July 2020 – Notice 
takes effect on 19 August 2020 unless an appeal is 
lodged before the effective date.   

Appeal against enforcement 
notice lodged with Planning 
Inspectorate.  Appeal start date -  
8 September 2020 

P
age 114



Public 

RP09 2021.docx 3 
15 February 2021 

Land at Barden 
Farm/Hirst Farm, 
Smalley 

Importation and 
deposit of waste 
material; treatment 
and processing of 
waste material; 
formation of an 
excavation and 
deposit of waste 
material within the 
excavation. 

Planning Contravention Notice issued 4 August 2020 – 
Response required by 25 August 2020.   

Planning Contravention Notice 
issued in consultation with Amber 
Valley Borough Council 

 
 
 
 
 

Tim Gregory 
Director – Economy, Transport and Environment 

P
age 115



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING SERVICES
Outstanding Items
Date: 03/02/21
EIA applications outstanding more than 16 weeks
MAJOR applications outstanding more than 13 weeks
MINOR applications outstanding more than 8 weeks

APP CODE PROPOSAL LOCATION STATUS WEEKS
EIA (8)
CM3/0817/40 Development of a lateral extension to the south 

west of the existing permitted operations to 
provide the winning and working of minerals, 
associated ancillary operations and amended 
restoration scheme through landfill at Slinter Top 
Quarry, Cromford.

Slinter Top Quarry, 
Cromford, Matlock,DE4 
3QS

Report being 
prepared

182

CM3/0906/91 Section 73 application for the amendment of 
condition 17 of planning permission 
WED/1284/836

Middleton Mine, 
Middleton by Wirksworth

Further Information 
Awaited

751

CM6/1110/112 Recovery of 400,000 tonnes of coal using surface 
mining and the development of two flood 
alliviation areas along the Bottle Brook at George 
Farm Reclamation Site, Denby.

George Farm, Denby, 
Derbyshire,DE5 8PP

Approved Pending 
Legal Agreement

522

CM9/0620/19 Extension to Willington Quarry to extract 1.1 
million tonnes of sand and gravel with restoration 
to wetland and grassland

Willington Quarry, 
Castleway Lane, 
Egginton,DE65 6BW

Further Information 
Awaited

34

CM9/0816/46 Application under Section 73 to vary condition 
specifically to commencing extraction in the 
Western Extension prior to completing 
restorationof Phases 8/9 of Planning Permission 
CM9/0211/163 and allowing increased stocking of 
waste materials in the landfill transfer station

Shardlow Quarry, Acre 
Lane, Shardlow,DE72 
2SP

Discusions with 
Applicant Pending

156

CD9/0319/110 Demolition of Ashlea Farm and related buildings 
off Deep Dale Lane and the development of a 
new all movement junction on the A50 and 
connecting link road to Infinity Park Way, with 
associated works including: street lighting

Land between Deep Dale 
Lane and Infinity Park 
Way, Sinfin, Derby

Report being 
prepared

92

CM9/0620/20 Section 73 planning application to vary conditions 
2, 3, 51 & 52 of permission CM9/0715/63 in order 
to extend the duration of permission and enable 
the processing of mineral extraction from the 
Trent South Extension and minor amendments to 
the approved restoration scheme.

Willington Quarry, 
Castleway Lane, 
Egginton,DE65 6BW

Further Information 
Awaited

34

CW9/0420/7 Construction and operation of an 18MW 
Renewable Energy Centre and associated 
infrastructure

Former Drakelow C 
Power Station, Walton 
Road, Drakelow

Approved Pending 
Legal Agreement

37

MAJOR (9)
CM1/1017/58 10.68 hectare site extension into land to the south-

east of the quarry
Dowlow Quarry, 
Sterndale Moor, 
Buxton,SK17 9QF

Approved Pending 
Legal Agreement

169

CM5/0818/42 Reclamation, cut of and fill site, of the former 
Whitwell Colliery site to facilitate mixed use 
redevelopment of the site together with 
landscaping, ecology and drainage.

Former Whitwell Colliery, 
Station Road, 
Whitwell,S80 4TS

Approved Pending 
Legal Agreement

116

CM1/1017/57 S73 Application to vary condition 16 of permission 
R1/0498/5, to regularise the extraction limit so 
that it conforms the 1947 limit , not the 1951 limit.

Dowlow Quarry, 
Sterndale Moor, 
Buxton,SK17 9QF

Report being 
prepared

169

CM3/0918/48 Amendment to condition 7, 10 & 11 of determined 
conditions approval R3/0699/17 (LET 7276). 
Relating to quarry permit 1390/9/2 (7 March 1952)

Stancliffe Quarry, Dale 
Road North, Matlock

Further Information 
Awaited

111

CM3/0918/49 Formation of new access and road to existing 
quarry

Stancliffe Quarry, Dale 
Road North, Darley 
Dale,DE4 2GY

Further Information 
Awaited

111

Public Agenda Item 3(4)

Page 117

Agenda Item 3(d)



CW9/1119/61 Under Section 73 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to not comply with Condition 2 
of planning permission CW9/0816/45 in order to 
remove the 10 year time limit set out in the 
condition and to make this permission compatible 
with the existing planning permission 
CW9/1018/63 at Cadley Hill Park, Burton Road, 
Swadlincote.

Willshee's Skip Hire Ltd, 
Cadley Hill Park, Burton 
Road, Swadlincote,DE11 
9GE

Report being 
prepared

61

CW8/0620/23 Variation of Conditions 7 and 18 of Planning Ref. 
CW8/0819/41

The Old Ironworks, 
Stanton Recycling Ltd, 
Crompton Road, 
Ilkeston,DE7 4BG

Report being 
prepared

31

CW8/0818/45 Section 73 application seeking permission to 
amend condition 24 of planning permission 
CW8/0811/61 to extend the hours of working on 
the established Ward Waste Recycling Facility on 
land at the Quarry Hill Industrial Estate, Hallam 
Fields Road, Ilkeston, Derbyshire

Donald Ward Limited, 
Quarry Hill Industrial 
Estate, Ilkeston,DE7 4AZ

Approved Pending 
Issue of Decision

126

CW2/1020/35 Change of use to include an asbestos waste 
transfer station comprising of a fenced compound 
where a container (enclosed, lockable asbestos 
skip) will be sited on an impermeable concrete 
base with directional fall and a sealed drainage 
system in accordance with environmental permit, 
standard rules SR2008 No9 - Asbestos Waste 
Transfer Station. To accept and store asbestos 
waste which has been securely double bagged or 
wrapped prior to onward consignment to a 
licensed waste landfill site.

Riverside Works, 
Storforth Lane, 
Chesterfield, Derbyshire, 
S40 2TU

Further Information 
Awaited

17

Page 118



Public 

RP08 2021.docx     1 
15 February 2021 

Agenda Item No. 3.5 
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

15 February 2021 
 

Report of the Director – Economy, Transport and Environment 
 

 Item for the Committee’s Information 
 

5 CURRENT APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 
 
 
The following appeal has been lodged with the Planning Inspectorate.  
 
Appeal Reference APP/U1050/C/20/3257919 
Land at Lady Lea Road, Horsley, Ilkeston 
Appeal against Enforcement Notice Issues on 16 July 2020 
Appeal Start Date – 8 September 2020 
Decision pending 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Tim Gregory 

Director – Economy, Transport and Environment 

Page 119

Agenda Item 3(e)



This page is intentionally left blank



Public 

RP07 2021.docx    1 
11 January 2021 

Agenda Item No. 3.6 
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

15 February 2021 
 

Report of the Director – Economy, Transport and Environment 
 

Item for the Committee’s Information 
 

6 MATTERS DETERMINED BY THE DIRECTOR – ECONOMY, 
 TRANSPORT AND ENVIRONMENT UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

 
Date Reports 

14/01/2021 Applicant: Derbyshire County Council 
Planning Application Code No: CD6/1020/39 
Replacement of Existing Playground Chain Link Fencing with 
Securifor Fencing and Renewal of Main Timber Entrance 
Gate at Crich Carr CE Voluntary Controlled Primary School, 
Hindersich Lane, Whatstandwell, Matlock DE4 5EF 

20/01/2021 Delegation Decisions on Schemes Required by Planning 
Conditions: 
CHA/1156/23 ROMP Hindlow Quarry, Buxton: 
SM3503: Archaeological Observation and Recording 
SM3504: Soil Stripping and Storage 
CM1/0618/23 Mouselow Quarry, Glossop 
SM3500: Stabilise South-East Quarry Faces 
CD3/1219/65 Highfields School, Matlock 
SD3488: Construction Management Plan and Construction 
Method Statement 
CW9/1028/63 Willshee’s Skip Hire Ltd 
SW3501: External Lighting Scheme 

27/01/2021 Applicant: Chapel-en-le-Frith Primary School 
Planning Application Code No: CD1/0720/27 
Proposed Two Classroom Extension with Associated WC 
Facilities and Remedial Landscaping Works at Chapel-en-le-
Frith C of E Primary School, Warmbrook Road, Chapel-en-le-
Frith, Derbyshire, SK23 0NI 

27/01/2021 Applicant: The Federation of Penny Acres and Wigley 
Primary School 
Planning Application Code No: CD4/1220/43 
Erection of a Timber-Framed Classroom Building at Wigley 
Primary School, Main Road, Wigley, Derbyshire S42 7JJ 

 
Tim Gregory 

Director – Economy, Transport and Environment 

Page 121

Agenda Item 3(f)



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1(d) Petitions
	2 Minutes
	3(a) Application Under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act for Planning Permission for Development at Stanton Recycling Ltd, the Old Ironworks, Crompton Road, Ilkeston, Derbyshire, DE7 4BG, without Complying with Conditions 7 (Hours of Operation) and 18 (Noise Management) to which Planning Permission Number CW8/0819/41 was Granted Applicant: Stanton Recycling Ltd  Code No: CW8/0620/23
	3(b) Demolition of Ashlea Farm and Related Buildings off Deep Dale Lane and the Development of a New All Movement Junction on the A50 and Connecting Link Road to Infinity Park Way, with Associated Works including: Street Lighting Columns, Footways/Cycleways, Construction of Earth Mounds, Flood Compensation Areas, Acoustic Fencing and Landscaping at Land between Deep Dale Lane and Infinity Park Way, Sinfin, Derby. Applicant: Derbyshire County Council.  Code No: CD9/0319/110
	3(c) Current Enforcement Action
	3(d) Outstanding Application List
	Report

	3(e) Current Appeals/Called in Applications
	3(f) Matters Determined by the Executive Director - Economy, Transport and Environment under Delegated Powers
	DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE


